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DAY 04 – 16 March 2016 

 

  [9.32 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you everyone, I will get a copy of the transcript of 5 

Professor Clarke printed off, given the circumstances of the electronic 

communication, I think it would be important for counsel to read it and 

let me know if they have any difficulties with it. 

 

 So far as I know, it came through fine, but I think it would be good for 10 

counsel involved with that, and Mr Lawry, to read it through. 

 

 Mr Lawry, are you ready to go in terms of your evidence; is there 

anything you wanted to ask me about first? 

 15 

MR LAWRY:   One issue, sir, that you will probably need to know about.  We 

have a late filed, unfortunately (INDISTINCT 0.50) - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just go to the microphone, if you would not mind. 

 20 

MR LAWRY:   I have late filed two documents this morning which you will 

not have had a chance to look at directly, I think. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So has that been copied so counsel can look at it just in 

terms of my earlier indication. 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   It is being done by the Secretariat as we speak. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so counsel can have a chance to look at that as a 

first step and then you can – in light of what counsel and you discuss at 30 

that point, you can ask me about that later in the day. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Certainly, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Mr Lawry, if you come forward and be sworn in, I see 35 

you have got printed off highlights package, so you come forward 

please. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Just take a seat, Mr Lawry, and get yourself set.  And your 

full name is David Michael Lawry and you are a retired commissioned 

Police Officer and you and your wife own a property at 500 Yaldhurst 

Road, where you have a lifestyle? 

 5 

MR LAWRY:   That is correct, yes. 

 

  [9.35 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have described in your introduction background, and 10 

accompanying your statement is a series of indexed appendices over 

the two volume set.  Is that correct? 

 

MR LAWRY:   That is correct. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In addition to that you have prepared a highlights package 

to speak to this morning? 

 

MR LAWRY:   That is correct. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are there any matters in your evidence you wanted to 

correct? 

 

MR LAWRY:   There is one alteration at 9.16, page 40 of my evidence, where 

I have indicated- - - 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just wait until we get there, 9.16. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Page 40 of my initial evidence. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   9.16 which begins one of the two major variables. 

 

MR LAWRY:   The issue there is I made a comment that the B777 300 has 

long since left our skies; I am not sure positively, but there may be the 

odd one still flying around I am advised, so if that is correct, then I 35 

stand corrected. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you want to take out everything after the word “fleet”? 

 

MR LAWRY:   Yes, there is a change- - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that correct, just so that I understand? 

 

MR LAWRY:   Yes, that is correct. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, I mean the rest of it can be matters of 

detail if it comes up in questioning – anything else? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so you confirm your statement is true and correct to 

the best of your belief? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I do. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, now Mr Laing, are you cross-examining? 

 

 Sorry, sorry, Mr Lawry you are one of many, you know that I am not 

picking on you because I have done it to everyone else. 

 15 

MR LAWRY:   I don’t feel threatened. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So away you go with your highlights package, thanks for 

being patient. 

 20 

MR LAWRY:   I have made it clear that I own land that is impacted by the 

50 dBA avoidance policy.  I have no problem standing aside for 

strategic needs based on fact, but when the voidance of desired 

activities is dishonest, then it is likely to get my investigative side 

motivated. 25 

 

 In 2013 when this journey commenced in my PC84 submissions, I was 

faced with blatant arrogance from both CIAL and the Christchurch City 

Council which surprised me.  From my world of criminal and 

corruption investigations in international capacity building, such 30 

arrogance is a real indicator of foul play.  It also presents an 

opportunity as those parties tend to be overconfident and under 

researched relying on their contacts and bullying to achieve 

unreasonable outcomes that when placed under the microscope 

aggregates up to expose them. 35 

 

 The offending parties by way of their arrogance believe they are 

untouchable.  To the trained investigator this attitude assists in 

providing they are not.  One goal is to subject to these parties to the 

same rules and laws as everyone else and to strengthen the bedrock of 40 

that fundamental pillar of our society. 

 

 CIALs requirement of you to give them an exemption at 2 dBA, 

60 percent for their industrial noise pollution before they even try to 

mitigate it at source, is indicative of the arrogance I speak of. 45 
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 Their assertion that their engine testing is broadly the same as aircraft 

noise of take offs and landings and therefore not industrial is another.  

And I refer to Day’s evidence 29 October, page 533. 

 

 A further example is CIAL assertion that their development needs 5 

should be put before the CBDs development needs, and I have 

explained the background to that. 

 

 CCC refusal to seek out alternative expert acoustical advice, is another.  

The lack of objective testing on CIAL land planning control proposals 10 

over many years is another.  Again, I produce other examples to that. 

 

 PC84 was a review of what activities could occur in the Special Airport 

Zone and came into life as some in Council had concerns that resource 

consents had inappropriately been approved for non-airport related 15 

activities in the SPAZ 

 

 I was simply trying to have input into that plan.  I was surprised that a 

Council planner had intentionally removed from the scope of PC84 

verbally to discuss engine testing, an activity that takes place in the 20 

SPAZ. 

 

 PC84 findings now made operative by the Council form part of this 

replacement Plan and are therefore absolutely on scope. 

 25 

  [9.40 am] 

 

 That Commissioner’s direction to Council to address the dual spans and 

designation bad practice is therefore not out of scope, relevant and 

required.  A direction on the RDP that Council action has currently 30 

ignored PC84 direction is requested. 

 

 It is simply wrong that CIAL – a property development company – can 

compulsory take land for airport purposes, but refuses to define what 

airport purposes means.  This matter is to be addressed in yet another 35 

chapter.  I raise it to the Panel as another credibility and intent matter 

for the overall consideration and decision making. 

 

 As time has gone on I believe there has been a considerable ethical 

growth within the Council, the Council’s CO initiated review of the 40 

Council’s performance in generating proposals for the Hearing Panel’s 

consideration for the Replacement Plan was a good sign of this, as was 

the reported online of his dismal failure and the overall conclusion that 

as of 8 August 2015, that Council had not produced an effective plan 

for the IHP to consider – I have given a reference point there without 45 

going right into it. 
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 The latest Council position that it would welcome a run-up enclosure is 

as an outcome to this Hearing is a revelation to our submitter group.  

CIAL, however, I believe have some way to go. 

 5 

 All the above related data I supplied to you are simply background into 

the motivations, behaviours, and intentions of the parties over many 

years that I submit the Panel can reasonably take into consideration 

when assessing the credibility, motivations and waiting to be assigned 

to witnesses and evidence before them.  I condensed those pages to the 10 

points you can actually do something about. 

 

 Engine testing; one PC84 finding was the aviation bylaw still be relied 

on by CIAL was inappropriate.  Some two years later for the first time 

we have heard from Mr Boswell that this is now accepted by CIAL.  If 15 

he does not know how to retire it and ceased the proposed airport 

contours as the way forward. 

 

 Council has already accepted finding by making it operative.  The 

decision is therefore made and binding on the Panel.  The bylaw is 20 

inappropriate and the Replacement Plan needs to reflect that firmly and 

possibly provide guidance to CIAL on how it can be retired. 

 

 I do not see replacing an inappropriate engine testing enabler with 

another even more inappropriate one, as progress.  At source mitigation 25 

of the noise pollution is the best practice, and an ordinance it is strict 

enough to drive that outcome – one that actually reduces the pollution – 

Is sought. 

 

 Both Chiles’ and Clark’s evidence is that engine testing should be 30 

classified as industrial and unreasonable.  Day is yet to reach the basic 

conclusion that it is even industrial noise.  My non-expert evidence in 

our submitter groups is that it is unreasonable.  The decision as to 

whether Chiles’ and Clark’s evidence is preferred to Day’s, is entirely 

the Panel’s to make. 35 

 

 If you find for Chiles’ and Clark, and therefore our submitter group, in 

Section 16 of the RMA imposes a duty on CIAL as the occupier of the 

land generating the unreasonable industrial noise to ensure that noise 

levels are kept at a reasonable level by adopting the best practicable 40 

option. 

 

 Clark has told you that ground run-up enclosures are the best practical 

option and the norm worldwide.  There are other mitigation options but 

none offer the level of practicable mitigation.  Not only practical in 45 

terms of actual noise reductions to the receivers but also in the context 
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of CIAL’s wealth and that of its tenant, Air New Zealand, one that is 

cheap to implement. 

 

 The body for the local authority and therefore this Panel’s ability to set 

noise emission standards in the Plan is made clear in Section 16, as is 5 

your ability to require the best practicable option for mitigation. 

 

 It became obvious to our submitter group that the Panel is looking for 

guidance on the measure to use in the ordinance.  At our cost, we now 

provide that guidance as we also desirous of a timely practical solution 10 

– one that we think even CIAL should reasonably seek as enabling, if 

any ethical growth have occurred at all. 

 

  [9.45 am] 

 15 

 Clark’s guidance is to set an ordinance in the Replacement Plan 

requiring the use of a one hour Leq metric, set at 60 dBA for day time 

and 55 dBA for night, with a peak noise level of 80 dBA during the day 

and a 75 dBA at night.  This would be strict enough to drive onsite 

mitigation, but achievable enough to ensure no harm to the strategic 20 

infrastructure. 

 

 This noise level acceptance of our submitter group is based on the 

inclusion into the Replacement District Plan of the requirement brought 

on by Section 16 of the RMA to build a run-up enclosure designed to 25 

ensure that noise limit or better is achieved.  There is a scope issue 

where the Panel ability to change the metric.  It is our belief that it is 

very clear what submitter Payne said and seek an indication of further 

evidence on that issue is required. 

 30 

 As Clark has indicated, such an enclosure is simply the norm 

internationally and any serious mitigation proposal would have 

included the building of one as accepted best practice.  The noise 

reduction requirement will enable the designers to build and to achieve 

that outcome.  The lenient noise acceptable levels will reduce cost and 35 

provide real noise relief to noise receivers. 

 

 It is submitter Day’s assertion that ground run-up enclosures are 

ineffective and simply lacks credibility.  This outcome will only be 

achieved if the Panel takes the above action.  Mr Laing for Council in 40 

his opening written submissions to you of 14 March indicates the 

Council position is that it would welcome a run-up enclosure being an 

outcome of the Hearing. 

 

 I submit a major indicator to the Panel.  Our submitter group welcomes 45 

it, and in time, so will CIAL and Air New Zealand as they reap the 
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benefits of being a better neighbour.  Requiring a run-up enclosure and 

setting the ordinance in accordance with the guidance offered by Clark, 

in order to drive the improved behaviours is needed in the replacement 

plan.  CIAL will not mitigate their industrial unreasonable noise unless 

required to do so. 5 

 

 An independent ground measurement process is requested.  Noise 

complaints cannot be solely the job of CIAL.  Now, CIAL fronted 

community inclusive committee, a model exhibited by the Auckland’s 

airport gets international supported best practice guidance; do not 10 

recreate the wheel.  Require such a committee to be funded and 

established as a way to promote a more collaborative way forward and 

to address the conflicted complaints process.  The entire city will have 

the pollution removed and the recovery goal of a vibrant city will be 

one step closer to being achieved. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Lawry, you are not quite at 10 minutes but you 

are about at nine so I will give you another five minutes, you may have 

to summarise some of these things, bearing in mind we have read your 

submission and we will read this summary; so you have got another 20 

five minutes. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you very much. 

 

 The continuous support for bird strike proposal is a direct breach of the 25 

(INDISTINCT 3.38) directions and presented in the absence of onsite 

mitigations such as avian radar is simply sad. 

 

 I will just give the bit about the bird strike and I will just go to the 

middle of it. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly. 

 

MR LAWRY:   If CIAL expert risk opinions were to be accepted, how then is 

it that CIAL justified McDonalds and a new (INDISTINCT 4.11) of 35 

food outlets opening out to open spaces that has just opened.  Gull 

loves chips, a matter of common knowledge I think.  No doubt they 

will arrive if they have not already done so. 

 

 The consenting process for those outlets, that bird risk increase 40 

assessments yet CIAL desires the rest of Canterbury to be required to 

create consents for their approval and here is a major point. 

 

 That proposal delivers power, control over development to CIAL, a 

major property development company itself.  This is a theme repeated 45 
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in the noise sensitive activity avoidance issues in the 50 dBA contoured 

policy intent issue and a noise complaint issue. 

 

  [9.50 am] 

 5 

 CIAL by obtaining that power and control is placed in an inappropriate 

position to control property development and has reduced its risk of 

curfew to zero.  Such power and control is open to abuse.  Now, we 

will not oppose your application, but for CIAL approach is open, and I 

submit has already been used under the 50 dBA contours. 10 

 

 That CIAL and CCC cannot see the conflict of interest in these matters 

is of real concern.  The point is that any consultative approach needs to 

ensure sharing of decision making.  It is for this reason the Auckland 

proposal has merit. 15 

 

 The Airport funds the committee, as it is the cause of the problem, but 

cannot control it due to its makeup.  Therefore contrary to Days 

assertion that I have accepted the Auckland way I accept his way and 

his noise generator enabling seven day average metric, I simply see 20 

overall merit in that internationally recognised airport-funded 

consultative approach. 

 

 I will cut through to contours. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAWRY:   On the subject of reasonableness; it is for the Panel to decide if 

they really believe that on some fixed day, CIAL and the Council were 

going to unveil the experts agreement for its varied, promised re-30 

evaluation. 

 

 Dixon’s comment that it is an essential region, is again disingenuous.  

It is a standalone Environment Court agreement.  It is the promise to 

the people that live around the airport that the adverse conditions 35 

imposed on them for the greater good for the strategic infrastructure, 

will be revisited every 10 years, and checked for accuracy. 

 

 The parties in the interests on earthquake recovery can simply agree 

that the freeing up of the safe land for recovery is a priority, and 40 

carrying it out now.  Again, unless the Panel directs this re-evaluation 

be immediately carried out, or at least as promised in 2017, that it will 

not be done.  The motivations to not do so are too compelling.  It is 

only before you, because I located it and brought it into the light of day. 

 45 

 Noise sensitive avoidance – jumping forward. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you 

 

MR LAWRY:   Again, it is for the Panel to decide the credibility of experts.  If 

you prefer Chiles and Clarke you conclude that the new rule avoidance 5 

new noise sensitive activities under the 50 dBA contour is exposed as 

bad policy based on flawed policy assumptions.  The desired outcomes 

of policy will not be achieved and unnecessary regulation breaching the 

required effective and efficiency tests will result. 

 10 

 I refer the Panel to the OIC strategic decisions one, page 62.245.  The 

existent note against this objective relating to the interpretation of 

policies 6.3.5(4), which states, “we record that we have the capacity to 

revisit this position in terms of the OIC if this is called for at Stage 2 of 

our enquiry”. 15 

 

 I outlined this at my evidence at .1.1.8.  Strategic directions matter can 

be revisited, and I submit if you find for Clarke and Chiles evidence 

then it should be.  A noise sensitive rule contrary to CIAL’s beliefs is 

not a done deal in the previous Chapter 2 hearings.  It is entirely 20 

appropriate for the Panel to seek further strategic direction.  If obvious 

policy errors could not be rectified, what is the point?  It is my 

understanding the Chair contemplates this issue arising and that the 

evidence would trigger the response to my earlier request.  Again, this 

is a matter for the Panel, Chair, but the impact on the quality of the 25 

resulting plan, is obvious. 

 

 Lastly, the very late assertion that the proposed change for minimise to 

manage noise is a not a change, it is a minor effect, is wrong.  Dixon 

asserted also that in her planning expert opinion that manages a 30 

significantly different to the clear limit requirement.  The same goes for 

“manage” to “minimise”.  This proposed change is motivated by CIAL 

and liquor industry lobbying. 

 

 It is a large, not minor, change effect; has not been included in the 35 

original proposals; is very contentious in that it motivates polarised 

public interest, and has not been consulted at all.  In the context of all 

the conflict of interest failures it has been sneaked in late in the process 

and is out of scope. 

 40 

 I think I will leave it there for you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the essence of that last point is effectively you want 

language to ensure that policies seek directions that are clear in terms 

of limits. 45 
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MR LAWRY:   Absolutely, and “manage” is not clear, “minimise” is very 

clear – as the Council planner herself asserts to. 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR LAWRY:   There are the two issues I relayed to you earlier on, which are 

those documents, and I seek direction; do you want me to tell you 

roughly what they are or leave it at that? 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, if you leave that for representations later.  As I say it 

is very important for you to confer with counsel before you ask me 

anything, because it is important to try to manage this process 

appropriately. 15 

 

MR LAWRY:   Absolutely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 20 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   I thought Mr Lawry summarised his evidence very well.  I have 

no further questions. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, thanks Mr Laing.  Ms Appleyard? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [9.55 am] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, good morning Mr Lawry.  Could we have 30 

Dr Chiles exhibit, or whatever version we are using at the moment – So 

Mr Lawry I am just going to ask you to indicate where your property 

is? 

 

MR LAWRY:   It is down near the engine testing words, next to - - -  35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Is it similar to where Mr Campbell, I think it was, is it - - 

-  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We are just going to bring you that A3 extract from 40 

Chiles, and if you could indicate where your property is on that with 

the initials DL. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know how many - - - 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Hold, Ms Appleyard – should we try to do that on the 

screen as well, just so that everyone is orientated? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   My eyesight is getting worse as this hearing has gone on. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so can you see your property there Mr Lawry?   

 

MR LAWRY:   Go down to the “N” on the second row of “testing noise”.  

Second row, testing noise. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Second row, so the big “N”, or the “N” in the - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   That one right there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That one there. 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Are you pretty close to Mr Campbell I think it was? 

 

MR LAWRY:   An apple throw away. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Campbell was, yes. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Close. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So your neighbour was it, effectively are you? 

 

MR LAWRY:   We have got a deer farm between us. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, thank you.  And how many kilometres are you 

from the engine testing? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I think the evidence from your side was 4.5. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, thank you – and this does not show the operational 

contours, but where does your property sit in terms of the operational 

contours? 

 

MR LAWRY:   When I first purchased it, there was no effect at all.  It is now 40 

under the 50 dBA. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, and how big is your property? 

 

MR LAWRY:   5.7 hectares I think it is  45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, now bottom of your page of your evidential 

highlights you talk about the lack of objective testing of CIAL land 

planning control proposals over many years, and you have provided the 

Panel with examples. 

 5 

 Is PC84 and this hearing, the only two hearings that you have 

participated in relation to Airport contour matters? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, it is not, I was involved in decision No. 2. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Can you explain to the Panel what decision No. 2 is? 

 

MR LAWRY:   After decision No. 5 effectively - - -  

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, when was decision No. 2? 15 

 

MR LAWRY:   When?  If I can refer to the documents, quite a few years ago. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I am not asking precisely. 

 20 

MR LAWRY:   It is a decision that actually created the contours under 

Commissioner Collins. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, it is the original decision in the operative Plan back 

in the 1990s; is that what you are talking about? 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   That is what I am talking about. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, I was not actually aware of that.  So what was your 

role at that hearing, and what did you say to Commissioner Collins? 30 

 

MR LAWRY:   I was a submitter, but basically from our point of view the 

view was that we have just had the feet taken from under us, we had 

not been listened to. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you were, back in the operative Plan stage, concerned 

about your property being affected by the 50 Ldn contours, as it was 

then? 

 

MR LAWRY:   Yes, when I first purchased my property it was not affect.  My 40 

wife is a teacher and we had considered building a reading recovery – 

It is a resource to help young children grow from reading.  We are also 

involved in McKenzie Residential School across the road.  At that stage 

there was actually no issues with doing that. 

 45 



 Page 578 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

 However, the sad thing is the money we were going to use to invest we 

have put somewhere else.  I have got no problem or no bitterness over 

that, because it was just an opportunity, but what became annoying to 

me over time is that when I looked into the rationale behind the 

50 dBA, there just appeared to be absolutely no rationale of any sense. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay.  I understand your involvement in decision No. 2 – 

and I was not aware of that back in the 1990s – but have you had any 

involvement through the large number of cases that have been to 

various levels of Council and Court since then in relation to the 50 Ldn 10 

contour, in the last 15 years? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I have had a wee involvement that came out of some 

information when researching into this with ECan’s hearing recently, 

looking at engine odour that emits from the Airport.  It is interesting, I - 15 

- - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, do not divert from the question. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, I am just wondering about Airport noise; so you have 20 

not been involved in the Environment Court cases or the RPS hearings 

or any of those issues which - - -  

 

  [10.00 am] 

 25 

MR LAWRY:   No, I try and have a separate life. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, thank you, so when you say there is a lack of 

objective testing of CIAL land planning controls, are you ignoring 

those series of cases – a couple of Environment Court cases, another 30 

Panel chaired by David Sheppard – that made decision about the 50 

Ldn? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No – the real key word there is “objective”. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   And are you saying the Environment Court and Chair, 

David Sheppard, are not objective? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, I am saying that the amount of work for a layperson to try 

and actually present the evidence – for example, Mr Day will not even 40 

accept that it is industrial noise when very clearly it is – It is so high the 

people walk away from it and really for people developing around the 

50 decibel the kiss of death is the Airport saying they are going to 

oppose you because the pockets of the Airport are so deep, and the 

ability to continue dragging you through Court – which they do 45 

regularly – has actually put people off even trying or even complaining. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know how many opposing acoustic experts have 

appeared before hearings panels, Courts, RPS panels, over the last 

15 years to test Mr Day’s evidence? 

 5 

MR LAWRY:   No, I do not but I do know the size of your expert becomes the 

issue. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know how many acoustic experts that oppose the 

50 Ldn Hearing before the Environment Court, some of them 10 

internationally recognised? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, but I do know that when JP  Clarke was used to oppose 

Mr Day’s, view it actually resulted in Rolleston being built. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, and since - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   Or big parts of Rolleston, sorry, I categorise that; it was not the 

whole of Rolleston.  I do not want to mislead.  It was a large amount of 

land that was being opposed under the 50 decibel which Mr Day at that 20 

time was saying could not be built under for health reason, I think it 

was. 

 

 The three day session and agreement that actually resulted in that being 

discarded and, in fact, the property was developed so that size of that 25 

expert resulted in that outcome. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and it resulted on Mr Day’s process that he was 

going through at the time, a remodelling of the contours? 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   Well, no I do not believe he was but that is fine if he says he 

was.  I was not there.  What I know from Clarke is that he ran up what 

he calls the “bullshit flag” and as soon as he - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry - - - 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:    You were not there at the time. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Try not to quote something like that, if you would not 

mind. 40 

 

MR LAWRY:   Fair enough. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   A lawyer did it once and I told him off as well. 

 45 

MR LAWRY:   Well I probably deserve being told off then. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, so is the simple answer that you do not know 

anything about the history of the various cases, between the one you 

are involved in with Commissioner Collins and PC84, and now? 

 5 

MR LAWRY:  I am not saying I am knowledgeable of all those cases, no, I am 

not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You were not involved, yes. 

 10 

 Now, you say on page 2 of your summary, second paragraph, a 

direction in the RDP that Council action, this currently ignored PC84 

direction is requested.  So can you explain to the Panel how 

Commissioner Thomas’ decision in PC84, is a direction to them to do 

something? 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that a legal submission, Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, a lot of Mr Lawry’s evidence is legal submission. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I appreciate that. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Well, I will try and answer it from a layman’s point of view 

but my understanding – and there was an adjournment of PC84 to have 

this checked out - and the, I think it was a Simpson Grierson opinion 25 

indicated that the entire process in terms of PC84 was in a legal 

situation that it would roll and become part of the Replacement Plan 

and was unable to be changed by the Panel except for matters of minor 

issues. 

 30 

 The decisions and findings and points made by the PC84 were several, 

one of them being that it was inappropriate, the bylaw.  Another one 

that, in fact, the engine testing should have been included in PC84 as it 

was an activity so he could not understand why it wasn’t 

 35 

 And another one was that there was a poor policy process allowing 

both the designation and the zoning to compete together, because it 

gave a real advantage to the processes that the airport could use in its 

property development. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   I think the Panel can read the PC84 decision, so I do not a 

precis of that, but can you explain to me how the comments in that are 

binding on this Panel in the decision. 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, I am not saying they are binding.  The decision, I think, is 45 

binding but I am saying that the point that has been ignored by Council 
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is that direction – there is a very clear direction in PC84 that, in fact, 

that bad practice issue – that is how strong it was – should be 

addressed. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Right, well, I will let the Panel read PC84 for themselves.  5 

I do not think you are able to answer the question, so thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or hence my original enquiry, Ms Appleyard. 

 

  [10.05 am] 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Yes.  Now, you say at the bottom of page 2: “the latest 

Council position that it would welcome a run-up enclosure as an 

outcome to this Hearing is a revelation to your submitter group” – has 

Professor Clarke given you advice as to how much difference a run-up 15 

enclosure would make to what you experience on your property? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No directly to my property and I have to, can I - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, that is the answer, is it not? 20 

 

MR LAWRY:   No. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  You say in page 3 at the middle of the paragraph that 

starts: “I do not see at source mitigation of noise pollution is best 25 

practice”; would you accept that one of the at-source mitigations is the 

work done by the airline industry over the last 20 years to reduce the 

noise of aircraft engines? 

 

MR LAWRY:   It is one, but it is not the best. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Would you accept that management decisions made on 

airport by Air New Zealand to shift locations, restrict times or any sort 

of management actions are all forms of mitigation? 

 35 

MR LAWRY:   I do, but I am suspect of their motive. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So physical capital expenditure is not necessarily the only 

way of mitigating effects of engine testing noise? 

 40 

MR LAWRY:   But it is the best way. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And whose evidence do you rely on for that statement? 

 

MR LAWRY:   John-Paul Clarke’s. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know how many other engine testing enclosures 

there are in Australasia? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I think Paul Clarke gave a graph – I personally do not, I am not 

an expert on the issue. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Australasia is the question I am asking you about. 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, and I do not. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   What about New Zealand? 

 

MR LAWRY:    I am aware that there is a very effective one in Nelson that 

would - - - 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   This is the hay bales? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I have never seen it, so I do not know. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know whether that is effective, in terms of 20 

jet engines? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I understand it is used for prop engines, it is very effective.  I 

do not know about jet engines. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   So do you know whether there is any other sound 

enclosure in New Zealand? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, I have not enquired.  I am seeking one here for the noise 

problem we have. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I understand that.  I am asking you if you know if there is 

– is there one in Auckland? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, he answered that he did not know. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, what about Australasia, do you know about 

Australasia? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, I am sorry, I do not know. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You say that Dr Chiles and Dr Clarke talk about 

unreasonable noise.  Can you tell me what the level of noise that they 

have said is unreasonable at your property? 

 45 
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MR LAWRY:   At my property?  I have not discussed – just so we understand 

this, this is no longer about my property.  This has grown from - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   But I am asking about your property; have they told you 

that the level of noise from engine testing is unreasonable at your 5 

property? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, and I have not asked him. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You say in the middle of page 4 there is a sentence that 10 

starts “Clarke’s guidance”. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Page 4 of what? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Your document – you have not got pages numbers. 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Your summary, it is in the middle and it says “Clarke’s 

guidance is to set an ordinance in the Replacement Plan requiring the 

use of one metric 60 dBA” et cetera, that sentence. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you got that in front of you? 

 

MR LAWRY:   Got it, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Putting aside – and I heard him say that as well – just 25 

putting aside the issue of scope, you say: “this would be strict enough 

to drive onsite mitigation but achievable enough to ensure no harm to 

the strategic infrastructure” – whose evidence do you rely on for that 

statement? 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   Entirely Paul Clarke’s. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So where does Dr Clarke use the words: “this would be 

strict enough to drive onsite mitigation but achievable enough to ensure 

no harm to the strategic infrastructure”.  Where does he say that in his 35 

evidence? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I do not know if he does, but that is my interpretation. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Okay, I understand he said the first bit up to the words “at 40 

night” – but do you accept that those words are not in his evidence? 

 

MR LAWRY:   Yes, I think so.  My point with this issue is that the difficulty I 

have had is communicating with an overseas expert who has given me 

advice.  I am not an expert.  It became clear to me - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, just at that point I will stop you because it was 

not invited by the question.  Your earlier answer was that it was an 

interpretation you made on his evidence and you accepted it was not in 

his evidence and I do not want this to become a long debate.  It is 

important for us to be informed on your evidence.  Thank you. 5 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You say it is submitted that Day’s assertion that ground 

run-up enclosures are ineffective simply lacks credibility; have you 10 

seen the outcome of Mr Day’s modelling work as to what would be 

achieved by a ground run-up enclosure? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I have had advice from Clarke about that. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   No I asked you if you have seen Mr Day’s - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, just answer the question first.  The question was - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   I have firstly not seen it.  I am not a noise expert.  I sought a 20 

noise expert’s advice for those issues. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  And where in Professor Clarke’s evidence does he 

disagree with Mr Day’s modelling? 

 25 

MR LAWRY:   All the knowledge I have is not from Mr Clarke’s evidence – 

but it is not in his evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  That is the answer. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   The issue – I am nearly there, I have only got a couple 

more.  Second to last page in your heading “’Minimise’ to ‘Manage’ 

Noise Issue”, you say the very late assertion that the proposed change 

from minimise to manage noise is not a change of minor effect.  

Change from what?  I could not find that in the notified version. 35 

 

MR LAWRY:   Well that is my point.  It was not in the notified version. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so the words are a submission from CIAL, and 

CIAL use the word “manage” do they not? 40 

 

MR LAWRY:   The Council position is “minimise” – Ms Dixon has asserted 

that that does not represent a minor effect change.  I have got a Masters 

- - - 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, the question was a change to what?  It is a CIAL 

submission, so what are we changing?  CIAL’s put its submission up. 

 

MR LAWRY:   My understanding is there is an intention of CIAL to change 

the wording from “minimise” to “manage”. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So where does the word minimise come from?  Change 

what? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I do not – the way that noise is addressed. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Where? 

 

MR LAWRY:   I think my answer is best saying that there are so many 

changes of words like you do not want to have sleep; you do not want 15 

to have values and amenity.  Trying to keep up with what CIAL wants 

Council to do for it is actually quite a lifetime job. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   At the end of the day, Mr Lawry, you will not be the 

arbiter of scope; we will be.  It is a matter of submission and we do 20 

understand the basis of your concern. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   If the words were “manage to a limit set in the Plan”; 25 

would that go some way towards dealing with your concerns? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, it would be “achieve the limit”. 

 

 What I am trying to achieve is to tie down quantitatively, not 30 

qualitatively, a level that the Airport must achieve so that the noise 

receivers understand what is going to happen to them.  And if you are 

required to do, put in place the best mitigation because the noise is 

industrial, is unreasonable and section 16 of the Act requires you to do 

that. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I, I understand - - - 

 

MR LAWRY:   What you are requiring CIAL to do - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well Ms Appleyard, he has got to finish his answer.  

Carry on. 

 

MR LAWRY:   I am merely requiring CIAL to lawfully do what any other 

industrial organisation, has to do with its pollution. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Yes so you are seeking exactly the same limits and 

exactly the same rules that apply to Industrial Zones is that what you 

are saying? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, I am not.  Our group is being far more lenient, as you 5 

know.  If we sought those levels, you have indicated that you could not 

achieve it and it would damage you – we have no intention of it 

damaging the airport.  We seek reasonableness which we have not been 

given. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay.  I have no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Appleyard.  Mr Hudspith, are you cross-

examining? 

 15 

MR HUDSPITH:   No, your Honour, I think my questions have been answered. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much.  So we will now go to 

Panel questions.  Mr Daysh? 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   No, I have no further questions, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I do not either, thank you.  I think your summary has 

covered all the things I wanted to ask, thank you. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one question, Mr Lawry.  On that last matter that 

Ms Appleyard questioned you on about what you were seeking.  Do I 

take from the fact that you called Professor John-Paul Clarke that you 

accept his recommendation to the Panel? 35 

 

MR LAWRY:   I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 40 

MS HURIA:   Actually I am sorry, sir, I do have a question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So there is another question from the Panel.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   I am sorry.  Good morning, Mr Lawry.  You mentioned you 45 

have referred to our submitter group.  How did you come together? 
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MR LAWRY:   It was really in an attempt to try and help the Panel, so that we 

did not keep crossing over evidence.  There is a lot of stuff here. 

 

  [10.15 am] 5 

 

 I set the scene that there was under-bowling going on in the cricket 

game.  The other panel members brought to skills, are pilots, evidence 

of how a pilot sees it, an engineer – so we thought that that was an 

approach – we have a whole background of other submitters - - - 10 

 

MS HURIA:   How did you – sorry to interrupt but how did you come 

together? 

 

MR LAWRY:   We networked. 15 

 

MS HURIA:   But how did you know, did you see each other’s names on the 

submission? 

 

MR LAWRY:   There was a part of that.  Some of it came out of, in my 20 

investigation, I mean what you have before you is a very small block of 

what is available and what has been going on.  I have spoken to all 

sorts of people - - -  

 

MS HURIA:   But, sorry, no, so how did you actually link together? 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   Well we have had meetings - - - 

 

MS HURIA:   No, no, sorry how did you come to link together? 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   Rang each other up seeing our submitter numbers. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  And do you receive funding from anyone else? 

 

MR LAWRY:   No. 35 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you. 

 

MR LAWRY:   That is not – sorry, that is strictly speaking not true.  As we 

have become engaged in our discussions we have sought funding from 40 

people who have become interested in what we are doing.  We have not 

necessarily received those funds but because we have been careful 

where the funders are coming from there is one individual in Australia 

who has provided some funding merely for Clarke’s input, nothing 

else. 45 
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MS HURIA:   And what is the purpose – am I allowed to ask that, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   What is the purpose of that person assisting with funding? 5 

 

MR LAWRY:   The costs are high and I think he thought that it was fair that he 

would put in.  There is no – he is not a developer or anything like that. 

 

MS HURIA:   So it is philanthropy? 10 

 

MR LAWRY:   I think more so, yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   And you received no money from property developers? 

 15 

MR LAWRY:   No. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard, any questions arising? 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, just one on the last point.  In relation to engine 

testing in the Bishopdale area there was also a Facebook page raising 

issues about engine testing and inviting people to lodge late 

submissions was there not? 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   That is correct, Vanessa actually put that up. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, thank you. 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   The reason, oh - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, complete your answer. 

 

MR LAWRY:   The reason we did that is it became clear to us that people were 35 

not aware of what was going on and one point we have raised is that 

the consultation process which we believe should have been special 

consultation given the adverse effects on the properties, did not occur. 

 

 People just simply do not know what is going on and in the bigger 40 

picture, people get upset with councils when things happen to land 

owners that do not know it has happen.  Simple consultation, especially 

when the impacts are so severe on their property, i.e. they cannot do a 

whole range of activities, is what destroys democracy, and in the bigger 

picture of this, reasonableness would expect that if you are going to be 45 

adversely affected by the Council – who has your address by its rate 
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numbers, it rates you, it knows where you are – then you should at least 

be told of those significant impact and special consultation requires it.  

So we did not have that; that was an issue we raised. 

 

 So we thought it appropriate through the site to get the word out.  We 5 

have had a lot of people come to us but we thought, I mean we could 

have had 100 people giving submissions but again you have asked us to 

be succinct, and we tried to be that.  We are not; we are just lay people 

trying to do our best basically. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Mr Lawry and be assured that lay 

peoples’ concerns are very much a part of what the Panel focuses on.  

At the end of the day we are delivering a Plan for and on behalf of the 

community.  So I think that completes our questioning. 

 15 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are now free to go from the witness box. 

 

MR LAWRY:   I think from our point of view too - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you do not need to debate that with me, you can do 

that in your representation later on. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you very much. 25 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.17 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you could gather your papers up and thank you very 

much, you are free to go and resume your role over there. 30 

 

 Now, Ms Appleyard, I think we have got Mr Munro next? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, thank you. 

35 
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<IAIN MUNRO, affirmed [10.18 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [10.18 am] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  Do you confirm that your full name is Iain Robert 

Murdoch Munro? 

 5 

MR MUNRO:   Yes I do. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you are the general manager New Zealand Pacific 

for Airbiz Aviation Strategies Limited? 

 10 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  You have the qualifications and experience set out in 

paragraph 2 to 7 of your statement of evidence dated the 17th of 

February 2016? 15 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you have provided to the Panel that statement of 

evidence and a statement of rebuttal evidence dated 25 February 2016? 20 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes I have. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now I understand you have one correction you wish to 

make to your evidence-in-chief? 25 

 

MR MUNRO:   In the evidence-in-chief at paragraph 42, the first sentence 

should be a sub-bullet of paragraph 41, it should be 41.4. 

 

  [10.20 am] 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR MUNRO:   And then paragraph 42 should start from reviewing the YHC.  

I am sorry about that. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  With that amendment do you confirm your 

evidence-in-chief and your rebuttal evidence as true and correct to the 

best of your knowledge? 

 40 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  You have a summary to provide to the Panel. 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes. 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Now you have not appeared previously, so you just read 

that out and then you will answer questions, thank you. 

 

MR MUNRO:   My evidence has covered a review of some of the key inputs 

that went into modelling for the 2007 expert panel noise contours.  I 5 

have considered the traffic growth projections, adoption of an ultimate 

capacity level of 175,000 movements per annum, and the fleet mix 

projections which we used in 2007 as an input for the modelling. 

 

 My conclusion was that none of the base assumptions that underpinned 10 

these inputs have changed since 2007, such that remodelling of the 

expert panel contours is warranted. 

 

 I also commented in my evidence on the runway end protection areas.  

I explained why land use controls are appropriate in order to control 15 

activities which are allowed to occur in these REPAs – which is the 

acronym for it – so that large numbers of people are not allowed to 

assemble.  These land use controls protect the areas beyond each end of 

a main runway within which statistically there are greater chances of 

aircraft related accidents. 20 

 

 Now in the summary, I will focus on the matter which remains most 

contentious, and that is whether or not there should be a rule allowing 

for the increase in height of Transpower’s National Grid structures 

within the airport protection surfaces.  I do not consider that it is 25 

appropriate as a matter of aviation safety to allow for any existing 

structures which penetrate the aircraft protection surfaces to increase in 

height. 

 

 In that respect, I understand that there has been some confusion as to 30 

the appropriate gradient for the protection surfaces.  I have explained in 

my evidence, and I think it is the rebuttal evidence, why the Plan 

should provide for a 1.6 percent gradient for the protection surface 

applying to the take-off climb slopes. 

 35 

 The 1.6 percent gradient is directed by the Civil Aviation Authority 

Advisory circular AC1396, and it is my view that the clear intent of 

AC1396 is that no new objects or an extension of existing objects, 

should be permitted to penetrate a 1.6 percent gradient. 

 40 

 Thank you, I am happy to answer questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Mr Beatson, before you start, just in the interests of 

transparency, I made disclosure of the fact that prior to my appointment 

to the bench I acted for Transpower.  And the matters that are about to 45 

be tested relate to the relative interests of Transpower and the Airport, 
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and in regard to that matter the interpretation of the National 

Environmental Standard on electricity transmission, a document I am 

familiar with, in the fact that I have had a role in advising Transpower 

on those matters prior to my appointment in my former role as a partner 

of Chapman Tripp. 5 

 

 Through the Secretariat I enquired of counsel as to whether there were 

any issues with my chairing this Panel in the absence of Sir John 

Hansen, who has recused from this Panel for this Chapter of the 

inquiry, but I want to just double check that with counsel now, and we 10 

will ask each of them whether or not there is any issue. 

 

 If there is any issue I will recuse also.  Mr Laing? 

 

MR LAING:   No issue, your Honour. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sir, I confirm there is no issue. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Beatson? 

 

MR BEATSON:   No issue, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Hudspith, I should ask you as well? 25 

 

MR HUDSPITH:   No issue, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Lawry? 

 30 

MR LAWRY:   No issue, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Beatson? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR BEATSON [10.24 am] 35 

 

MR BEATSON:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning Mr Munro. 

 

MR MUNRO:   Good morning. 

 40 

MR BEATSON:   Now you are aware that Transpower is not seeking 

provisions that would enable it to establish new transmission 

infrastructure which would impinge on the take-off surfaces? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is my understanding. 45 
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MR BEATSON:   So it is only concerned about providing for activities that 

may be necessary to continue to operate, including upgrading the 

existing lines, that is correct, is it not? 

 

MR MUNRO:   That is my understanding. 5 

 

MR BEATSON:   Do you accept Mr Renton’s evidence that when the lines that 

are located near the Airport were constructed they complied with the 

CAA requirements for approach and departure angles? 

 10 

  [10.25 am] 

 

MR MUNRO:   No, I do not have enough clarity to answer that question as it 

is.  I understand the heights of the towers with respect to a 2 percent 

gradient and a 1.6 percent gradient, but I do not know the timing of 15 

compliance as such. 

 

MR BEATSON:   All right.  Well Mr Renton’s evidence says that at the time 

that the lines were constructed they did comply.  There has been no 

rebuttal evidence filed addressing this point has there? 20 

 

MR MUNRO:   No, not to my knowledge, no. 

 

MR BEATSON:   No, and Ms Appleyard has not sought to cross-examine on 

this point, has she? 25 

 

MR MUNRO:   I haven’t been present, so I am not able to answer that. 

 

MR BEATSON:   All right.  And none of Transpower’s existing lines penetrate 

the existing CAA protection surface do they?   30 

 

MR MUNRO:   To my knowledge none of the existing towers penetrate a slope 

at 2 percent, but a number of them penetrate a slope of 1.6 percent. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Is that 1.6 percent calculated on the basis of the existing 35 

CAA protection surface, or the protection surface as proposed under 

the Plan? 

 

MR MUNRO:   The 1.6 is what I understand is certainly what is proposed in 

the Plan. 40 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes. 

 

MR MUNRO:   The status of what the existing surface is, I am not completely 

clear on as to whether that is the same surface or another surface. 45 
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MR BEATSON:   All right, well Mr Renton is clear in his evidence that none 

of Transpower’s existing line penetrate the existing CAA protection 

surface, and I will refer to paragraph 21 of his evidence, and I think 

Mr Bonis’ rebuttal also indicates he understands “the obstruction 

survey and revised circular based on protection surfaces as they 5 

correspond to the existing infrastructure.” 

 

 Again, you did not file any rebuttal addressing this point in 

Mr Renton’s evidence, did you? 

 10 

MR MUNRO:   No, I did not on that point, the direction of my rebuttal was in 

respect of clarifying the Civil Aviation Authority’s application and 

distinction between a 2 percent slope and a 1.6 percent slope, and how 

that should be interpreted. 

 15 

MR BEATSON:   All right.  Well I will just put the question to you again.  If 

you do not know the answer that is fine.  Do you accept that none of 

Transpower’s existing lines penetrate the existing CAA protection 

surface? 

 20 

MR MUNRO:   And the reason I cannot answer that question clearly is, is the 

status of what the existing surface is.  I apologise about that. 

 

MR BEATSON:   What, you cannot answer? 

 25 

MR MUNRO:   No, I cannot answer that question. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Okay.  The Plan provides a restriction to a 1.6 percent take-

off surface, calculated from the end of a runway that does not presently 

exist, doesn’t it? 30 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And four of Transpower’s existing towers breach that 1.6 

percent surface, don’t they? 35 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And you rely upon the CAA Advisory Circular AC1396 to 

support the restrictions that have been sought by the Airport, don’t 40 

you? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR BEATSON:   At paragraph 17 of your rebuttal evidence, you acknowledge 45 

that an extension of an existing object to a height which penetrates a 
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1.6 percent slope could be acceptable if an aeronautical study 

determines the object would not adversely affect the safety or 

significantly affect the regularity of operation of aeroplanes, don’t you? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct, that is directly from the Advisory Circular. 5 

 

MR BEATSON:   And the CAA Advisory Circular applies a real world 

assessment of the risk posed by existing objects, doesn’t it? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Could you clarify that please? 10 

 

MR BEATSON:   Well it is called an “Advisory Circular” isn’t it, and on its 

first page it states: “it is not intended to be the only means of 

compliance with the rule, and consideration will be given to other 

methods that may be presented to the director.” 15 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct, it sets out sets of acceptable means of 

compliance and then explains how alternative methods could be tested, 

and it is nearly always through an aeronautical study or safety case. 

 20 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, so other methods than those specified maybe found to 

be acceptable in the real world. 

 

MR MUNRO:   May be found. 

 25 

MR BEATSON:   Is that correct? 

 

MR MUNRO:   It’s the terminology - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just help with what you mean “the real world”; do you 30 

mean practically looking at the context - - - 

 

MR BEATSON:   Following an aeronautical survey - - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - advising on that - - - 35 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, and what mitigation measures may be suggested, for 

example marking or lights. 

 

  [10.30 am] 40 

 

MR MUNRO:   The circumstances are that the proponents of such an 

aeronautical study would assemble the facts, mitigation’s risks, risk in 

mitigations, and then if that was presented and was deemed successful, 

the director of civil aviation could direct an alternative means of 45 

compliance. 



 Page 597 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

 

MR BEATSON:   Now the airport protection surfaces in the Replacement Plan 

do not provide any margin for undertaking maintenance activities on 

Transpower’s assets, do they? 

 5 

MR MUNRO:   That is my understanding. 

 

MR BEATSON:   So if a crane needed to penetrate the airport protection 

surface to undertake maintenance, this would be a prohibited activity 

under the revised proposal? 10 

 

MR MUNRO:   And that is also my understanding. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Do you accept this type of maintenance should be allowed, 

or at least provided for.  in the Replacement Plan? 15 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, I believe that that should be a reasonable provision, it is 

equivalent to other works in and around the airports for which interim 

provisions could be provided for and the airport has mechanisms to 

assess those on a case by case basis and provide advice to aviators of 20 

temporary penetrations. 

 

MR BEATSON:   All right, now paragraph 10 of your rebuttal, you refer to 

allowing an increase in heights protruding within the protection 

surfaces, as presenting an aviation safety risk that is unacceptable, do 25 

you not? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is what I have stated. 

 

MR BEATSON:   All right, well in light of our earlier discussion about the fact 30 

that the advisory circular takes a real world approach and may, in 

certain circumstances, permit departures from what is set out in the 

circular. 

 

 Would you like to revise that paragraph, or do you still stand by it. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which paragraph again? 

 

MR BEATSON:   Paragraph 10 of his rebuttal, sir. 

 40 

MR MUNRO:   I guess in a prima facie situation where the acceptable means 

of compliance has been provided for in the advisory circular, then until  

in the current, such as an aeronautical study, demonstrated it otherwise, 

then I would regard that just to breach the requirement would be 

unacceptable. 45 
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 Is it an unacceptable risk to aviation safety; I believe it would be 

reasonable to soften the intent of paragraph 10, in that respect. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Right, so it would be unacceptable unless a study had been 

undertaken that - - - 5 

 

MR MUNRO:   To demonstrate that. 

 

MR BEATSON:   - - - that is safe and to the satisfaction of the director? 

 10 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is fair. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Something along those lines? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes. 15 

 

MR BEATSON:   Do you accept that by undertaking its runway extension, it is 

the airport that will be causing the intrusion of these towers into the 

protection surface rather than Transpower who at this stage is not doing 

anything in particular? 20 

 

MR MUNRO:   In terms of causing effect, I guess that is the circumstance, yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   So it is pretty hard to maintain that any intrusion into the 1.6 

percent surfaces unsafe and unacceptable when the airport itself by 25 

extending the runway, is giving rise to that consequence, is it not? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, however, my understanding was – the consideration here 

was in respect of provision to extend the height of the towers, and in 

my rebuttal, has primarily focused on that circumstance. 30 

 

MR BEATSON:   All right but do you accept that if the airport does elect to go 

ahead with its extension, it will be doing so on the basis that it assesses 

the penetration by the existing towers into the 1.6 percent protection 

surface, is acceptable from an airport safety perspective? 35 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that would be certainly part of the process the Airport has 

to go through. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, and do you accept that those towers will intrude by 40 

varying amount – they will not all protrude to the same extent, will 

they? 

 

MR MUNRO:   No, they do not, no. 

 45 
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MR BEATSON:   There is no magic point at which we have got a problem or 

we haven’t got a problem, it just requires a real world assessment, does 

it not? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct. 5 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR MUNRO:   In the real world of aviation there are, in the case of the AC, 

the advisory circular, what it has done is it has endeavoured to, I guess, 10 

provide margins between 1.6 and 2 percent, and it said that if it is at all 

possible they should be limited to beneath 1.6 percent on take-off 

runways. 

 

MR BEATSON:   There would be some, obviously some flexibility in there 15 

and do you accept there may be a range of methods which could 

overcome these safety difficulties including standard obstacle marking 

or lighting or both?  

 

MR MUNRO:   I am not an expert in what the mitigations might be.  The 20 

surfaces are really applying in the event that an aircraft is taking off 

and has had a loss of power and so I am not sure then whether the 

marking of the towers is specifically the mitigation. 

 

 But there would be mitigations and some of those might be in respect 25 

of aircraft performance as well. 

 

MR BEATSON:   All right, thank you, no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Beatson.  Mr Daysh. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, Mr Beatson has asked all my questions thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria. 

 35 

MS HURIA:   No, no questions thanks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Munro.  I just want to make sure, well, if you 40 

can help me to understand, the difference between the proposed airport 

protection surfaces in the new Plan versus, the old Plan. 

 

 Now do you enough about what is the current operative airport 

protection surfaces represent versus what is in the Replacement Plan, 45 

are you able to answer my questions about that? 
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MR MUNRO:   No, that was the problem answering to counsel, is that I am not 

sufficiently clear on what the current status is in terms of that, what I 

do know is the distinction between 2 percent and 1.6. 

 5 

 So if it was confirmed to me that the current plan has a surface – there 

are two variables, one is the slope of the surface and what is the origin 

of it, is it on the existing runway or is it on the allowance for the 

extended runway. 

 10 

 The missing piece of information for me is just what the current surface 

actually – when you say the current Plan, what is actually that surface. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so I mean, that was my question.  It is whether there 

are two changes that have happened, whether there is a change in the 15 

slope of the surface between the operative Plan and the new Plan, and 

also a change in the origin or one or the other- - - 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   - - - so if you are not able to answer- - - 

 

MR MUNRO:   No, I apologise, I focused on the as proposed, and not on the- - 

- 

 25 

MS DAWON:   And I think you answered to Mr Beatson that the proposed 

Plan uses the 2 percent slope from originating at a point which takes 

into account a possible extension to the runway? 

 

MR MUNRO:   No, my understanding is the proposed Plan is a gradient of 1.6 30 

percent from an origin that takes into account - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, sorry, I got that the wrong way round, yes. 

 

MR MUNRO:   1.6 on an extension. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   1.6, in other words, the lowest low, but from an extended. 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   So it would therefore mean that there is more a chance that 

something might intrude into it from both- - -  

 

MR MUNRO:   There are two variables - - - 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Two variables and they both work in the same direction in 

terms of increasing the level of protection? 

 

MR MUNRO:   That is correct. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, well I am sure someone else will be able 

to help me with the other part of it.  Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Munro, just probably just a couple of 

matters for me as well.  So just in answering to Mr Beatson, if I could 10 

just test something with you. 

 

 In terms of the regime you were discussing around a real world 

situation where say an aeronautical study is undertaken, so I took from  

 your answer that if there was to be a modification to the proposals 15 

being advanced in this area around, for instance, activity classifications, 

in other words, consent categories or whether somebody can be 

consented or not, that you would say from your point of view, any 

regime would be deficient if it did not allow for the director of civil 

aviation to fulfil that responsibility you described around the 20 

aeronautical study?   

 

MR MUNRO:   Sir, I think I am interpreting there that you are saying that can 

the District Plan overrule what the director might do. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, perhaps I will help you a little bit further.  So one of 

the matters in issue – and I know you are not a resource management 

specialist, but if you could just understand for the minute – choices 

need to be made around how activities such as modifications to 

transmission lines or whatever in the vicinity of the airport, are 30 

classified in terms of the different range of activity classes can include 

ones which deny ability to seek consent, remove the need for consent 

or somewhere in between. 

 

  [10.40 am] 35 

 

 And somewhere in between can include a regime which can specify 

standards and specify expectations including around the involvement of 

relevant entities such as the Director of Civil Aviation.  So thinking 

around that, am I right to understand that you would say, if a regime is 40 

allowed for, for instance to allow for the application of consent, that 

you would say it would be deficient unless that process ensured that the 

Director of Civil Aviation  could be involved in the role you described 

in regard to aeronautical studies? 

 45 
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MR MUNRO:   Yes, that is correct.  It would be deficient.  He would need to 

have an opportunity to make a direction, in my opinion if the new 

penetrations were to occur above 1.6 percent or if there was proposals 

to extend the height of existing ones that were already penetrating. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR MUNRO:   It would need to involve him. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now I appreciate you are giving evidence as 10 

an independent consultant? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are not giving evidence for and on behalf of the 15 

Director.  That is not what your evidence says and I do not take it that 

way, but nevertheless find it helpful. 

 

 Just as a matter of interest, can you help me just with this question; in a 

situation where say an airport decides to extend its runway and in doing 20 

so intrudes into these lines of safety by way of approach paths and so 

forth, what consequence does that give rise to under the Civil Aviation 

Act, for that airport’s operation? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Well in broadly simple terms an airport is required to maintain, 25 

probably to the satisfaction I think of the Director, an exposition which 

explains its infrastructure and how it is operated. 

 

 If there is a substantial change such as an extension to a runway I 

would expect it would certainly involve a change to the exposition, and 30 

so there would effectively be a process of it being reaccepted by the 

Civil Aviation Authority through the office of the Director.  And for 

something such as a runway extension and particularly if it involved 

effectively worsening a situation with potential penetrations that would 

involve aeronautical studies probably a number of them in different 35 

aspects to demonstrate that the proposed changes of infrastructure and 

operations were a means of compliance with the civil aviation rules. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Again back in that real world circumstance that you 

discussed with Mr Beatson? 40 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Mr Beatson, any questions arising? 

 45 

MR BEATSON:   No, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Appleyard, any questions arising or re-

examination? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No questions arising but just while I have got Mr Munro 5 

there, Mr Bonis is going to be able to answer Ms Dawson’s questions 

but I would just draw the Panel’s attention to the fact that in 

Mr Boswell’s evidence, which he was not cross-examined on, he 

confirmed that the provisions are a rollover from the Operative Plan.  

So it does contemplate the runway extension and the heights but you 10 

can ask Mr Bonis about that. 

 

 The other matter is, and I have not done an opening, an agreement has 

been reached between Transpower and the Airport as to the provisions 

that would go in if the legal submissions for CIAL are accepted about 15 

the role of other documents.  So there is wording that would go in if my 

legal submissions are accepted and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I read your submissions too, Mr Beatson, so you do not 

need to shake your head. 20 

 

MR BEATSON:   No, I take that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I take from that there are matters to be argued? 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   There are legal matters to be sorted out but what the 

provisions would look like if they are not resolved to Mr Beatson’s 

satisfaction, that is the position, I think. 

 

MR BEATSON:   I think it is the opposite of that, sir.  I think it is there is an 30 

agreement about which provisions should apply if the - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Oh, sorry. 

 

MR BEATSON:  - - - (INDISTINCT 4.27) prevails and Transpower’s position 35 

is upheld. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, sorry, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   The other matter is that there has also been discussion 

between Mr Bonis who we will tell you about shortly, and Ms McLeod 

about activity status.  I have not done an opening but what you are 

about to hear from Mr Bonis, I think, is that in light of particularly the 45 

answers Mr Munro has given about exceptional circumstances where 
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you might need a crane et cetera, that prohibited activity status 

probably is inappropriate and he is going to suggest non-complying. 

 

 I think Ms McLeod wants restricted discretionary but that is something 

that will come out shortly and I just have not done an opening to 5 

convey to you that that is the position at the moment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So that will be dealt with shortly. 10 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right well no doubt all experts will also live in the real 

world.  Okay, thank you.  Mr Bonis. 15 

 

 Thank you very much, Mr Munro. 

 

MR MUNRO:   Thank you, sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you got all your papers, by the way? 

 

MR MUNRO:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have got all your papers?  All right, you are free to 25 

go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.45 am] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So just if I explain on this last point, what Mr Beatson has 30 

asked Mr Bonis to do, and it is just really for convenience, is to 

produce what they have agreed will go in should - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that can go in by consent if there is no dispute, just 

whoever wishes to put it forward can. 35 
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<MATTHEW BONIS, affirmed [10.45 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bonis, do you have a copy of the Regional Policy 

Statement there somewhere? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I do, sir.  Just chapter 6 of that, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Ms Appleyard, we may as well give this an Exhibit 6, 

this matter that is going in by consent. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 10 

EXHIBIT #6 – 6.7 AIRCRAFT PROTECTION AND THE NATIONAL 

ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARDS FOR ELECTRICITY 

TRANSMISSION ACTIVITIES 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [10.45 am] 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Are you ready to go?  You confirm that your full name is 

Matthew William Bonis? 

 

MR BONIS:   I do. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You are an associate at Planz Consultants, in 

Christchurch? 

 

MR BONIS:   I am. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

paragraphs 3 and 4 of your statement of evidence dated 17 February 

2016? 

 30 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you have provided the statement of evidence and a 

statement of rebuttal evidence dated 25 February 2016? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   And the 17th, yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  I understand that you have a minor amendment you 

wish to make in particular to the reference to the New Zealand 

Standard? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR BONIS:   Apologies for this.  I have incorrectly referenced on a number of 

occasions NZS6805, as NZS6803 which is the construction noise 

standard.  So that - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   We probably do not want that one. 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes.  That can be found at paragraph 28 - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You did not mean 6802? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   I have referenced that - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Definitely not that one. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, 28, table 1 page 13 paragraph 47 and paragraph 191 and I 15 

apologise for that.  Apart from that and perhaps some polishing. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You confirm it is true and correct, yes. 

 

MR BONIS:   It is true and correct. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now I am conscious that Mr Bonis’ evidence covers a 

number of topics so he is about to present a summary on each topic.  So 

we will go through the whole summary, and then obviously deal with 

each of the topics but he is going to present it topic by topic. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR BONIS:   In terms of an overview the infrastructure, operations, statutory 

context and effects for the Airport are broad, recognising its complexity 30 

and strategic importance. 

 

 That importance is provided by the Regional Policy Statement and the 

proposed District Plan through recognising the Airport as strategic 

infrastructure.  That statutory recognition has importance in terms of 35 

providing for the role and function of such infrastructure given broader 

communal benefits.  It also recognises the inability for the Airport to 

internalise all adverse effects on the environment and that the Airport 

will influence the quality and use of the environment surrounding it. 

 40 

 There are also reciprocal obligations that fall on CIAL as to the 

management of Airport operations.  Within this proposal these relate to 

the noise generated from operational and engine testing, operational 

criteria such as the REPA and approach slopes, as associated with 

CIAL implementing its strategic planning, and matters associated with 45 

off-airfield management of bird strike risk. 
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  [10.50 am] 

 

 In terms of bird strike, the policy foundation for bird strike provisions 

can be found at objective 3.3.12B4 and policy 6.7.1.1.2.  The 5 

Canterbury Regional Policy Statement through policy 9.3.4 method 3 

also seeks to ensure the compatibility of natural habitat with airport 

operations. 

 

 The operative Plan also contained numerous provisions aimed at 10 

managing the creation of water bodies and these provisions were not 

always consistent. 

 

 Mr Shaw’s respective risk profile at table 1 of his evidence has been 

substantially filtered in my evidence.  That filtering is based on my 15 

consideration of the requirements of Section 32AA the statement of 

expectations in objective 3.3.2 – and I have identified at paragraph 142 

the filtering process that I have applied to Mr Shaw’s risk profiles. 

 

 My expectations from the Residential Hearing was that the Panel would 20 

clearly not be anticipating a heavy handed regulatory burden for this 

issue without considerable evidence as to both causation and risk.  I 

have acknowledged that Mr Shaw’s approach had the potential to 

create potentially burdensome regulation.  Attachment J of my 

evidence identifies how I accounted for Mr Shaw’s table 1. 25 

 

 The provisions now recommended are largely set as permitted activities 

subject to activity standards.  I took this to be the direction the Panel 

was seeking to go after discussion at Strategic Directions and 

Residential Hearings.  I do not consider the performance standards to 30 

be overly onerous or uncertain. 

 

 I prefer that approach to the Council’s revised proposal.  The Council’s 

preferred approach seeks to implement a greater regulatory burden on a 

more narrowed risk range of risk activities and apart from landfills as 35 

limited to bird management area 1 – that is the three kilometre radius. 

 

 In terms of excavation works creating ponding, I am reliant on the risk 

profile identified by Mr Shaw.  I also note the land and water plan does 

not extend discretion to bird strike management associated with 40 

excavation over the unconfined aquifer at rule 5.1.7.5.  I have also 

identified that this matter is finely balanced. 

 

 Now, yesterday, Commissioner Dawson raised concerns regarding 

controls on storm water management systems; I have recommended 45 

that such activities are permitted subject to certain standards at rule P2 
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and I understand from Mr Brough (ph 2.33) that they largely replicate 

the existing practice and largely roll over the operative provisions. 

 

 Attachment F of my evidence identifies the limited number of 

greenfield areas likely to be subject to those recommended controls.  5 

Ms Seaton has raised the prospect of bespoke provisions for 

Peacock Springs.  I am reliant on the evidence of Mr Shaw as to why 

specific exemption should not be provided. 

 

 In terms of the REPA; issues associated with REPA controls I 10 

understand are largely agreed.  There is an outstanding issue as to the 

recognition of limits associated with hazardous substances at PR3.  I 

accept the wording in the rebuttal evidence of Ms Dixon at her 

paragraph 6.2 within the rule framework at attachment H of my 

evidence. 15 

 

 In terms of the protection surfaces, paragraph 184 identifies the legal 

question as to whether rule 6.7.2.2.1.6 conflicts with regulations 14 to 

16 of the Resource Management Natural Environmental Standards for 

Electricity Transmission Activities Regulations and Section 44A of the 20 

RMA applies and that is in relation to the exhibit that was identified 

this morning. 

 

 The concern is that clause 14.3B requiring compliance with height 

restrictions for airport purposes but appears to default in clause 16.4 to 25 

a discretion to consider essentially Section RMA matters.  In my view, 

this would leave a void to consider the health and safety matters arising 

from the purpose of the protection surfaces. 

 

 I have met with both Ms McLeod from Transpower and Ms Dixon for 30 

the City Council on this issue, and whilst there is no consensus as to an 

overall agreed approach we have agreed the respective clauses of the 

rule for an outcome where the NS prevails – and that is the exhibit that 

was tabled this morning. 

 35 

 In the alternative, that is the District Plan can impose a rule relating to 

height restrictions for airport purposes; I recommend the insertion of 

rule 6.7.2.2.1.5 non-complying 1 which would render the alteration, 

relocation for replacement of a tower of national grid transmission line 

existing on 14 January 2010 that penetrates the protection surfaces as 40 

non-complying activity.  That has changed from my original evidence 

where I recommended prohibited activity status and would seem to 

align with the evidence provided by Mr Munro to the Panel this 

morning. 

 45 
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 This would provide a potential consenting path for those existing 

towers penetrating the protection surfaces as identified in Mr Renton’s 

evidence. 

 

  [10.55 am] 5 

 

 Just to clarify the matter that was also discussed with Mr Munro this 

morning; my understanding is that the protection surfaces within the 

operative District Plan and those in the proposed Plan are based on the 

extension of runway 29 to the west by 250 metres.  That was identified 10 

in the Airport master plan in 1985 and also 2006 and also relates to 

both the REPA outline associated with that runway and also the 

protection surfaces. 

 

 And also I understand, in terms of the INM modelling as to projected 15 

operational noise contours, essentially all the things are wrapped 

together.  There is not the ability to sort of fragment one from the other.  

All the pieces were put together in terms of the operative Plan and it 

has been rolled over into the proposed Plan, including that 250 metre 

extension which affects the Transpower infrastructure. 20 

 

 In terms of helicopter noise, I support the drafting of the rule as 

contained in the 4 March revised proposal.  That is in relation to 

measurements at the notional boundaries for rural areas. 

 25 

 In terms of operational noise, paragraph 43 sets out the basis of the 

management response to operational noise in terms of the dual 

responsibility set out at NZS6805.  I have outlined at table 1 of my 

evidence how the principles of 6805 are implemented in the proposed 

Plan.  Attachment C sets out the statutory policy context associated 30 

with matters associated with recognition of strategic infrastructure, 

reverse sensitivity considerations including the avoidance approach at 

Regional Policy Statement policy 6.3.5.4 and objective 3.3.12. 

 

 Now, it is the application of those directive provisions which, in my 35 

view, create a statutory hurdle to the effective development and 

recovery of University facilities via this process. 

 

 Without an alternative interpretation I have suggested at paragraph 18 

of my rebuttal evidence a restricted discretionary activity status for 40 

sensitive activities within the contours of the University.  I understand 

that CIAL’s position is that with written approval that status could be 

either permitted or controlled. 

 

 Now, the evidence of Mr Chiles and Mr Trevathan for the City Council 45 

and the University respectively, is that to date there has not been any 
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evidence in terms of complaints, reduced amenity or reverse sensitivity 

effects associated with activities at the University. 

 

 I understand from the cross-examination of Mr Day yesterday that he 

concurs with those conclusions.  I know that currently the University 5 

will not be receiving levels of noise near that, provided by the 50 dBA 

Ldn contour. 

 

 I have also taken pains in my evidence to articulate the clear benefits of 

such facilities; that they are not transferable and that by their very 10 

nature they require intensification over time. 

 

 Regarding policy 6.1.1.4 which is the “managed” versus “limit” 

dispute.  In my view, a management response is essentially what is 

codified in the provisions.  I accept that the policy could be reworded in 15 

a way as to manage noise to acceptable limits or something along that 

basis but it is a management response, it is not a limitation response in 

relation to aircraft movements.  That management approach is also 

consistent with CIAL’s submission seeking the insertion of that 

restraining policy. 20 

 

 And lastly – and thank you for your patience – I n terms of engine 

testing, in terms of first principles, I understand that there is agreement 

between the Council and CIAL as to the basis for the engine testing 

contours.  Essentially, this replaces the application of the engine testing 25 

bylaw which I think all parties appear to agree was at best uncertain as 

to application and effects. 

 

 The engine testing contours provide certainty as to the extent of effects, 

provide for the key operational aspect of the strategic infrastructure 30 

represented by the Airport and impose a compliance regime on the 

Airport. 

 

 I am reliant on the evidence of Mr Day as to whether the appropriate 

metric for recording sound is utilised and whether the extent of those 35 

effects is reasonable.  I acknowledge there is a dispute but I am 

unaware from Mr Chiles and Dr Clarke as to what the alternative 

metric would look like in terms of planning application and the 

corresponding section 5 implications. 

 40 

 Of the options considered for reducing noise exposure I consider that 

the regulatory imposition of the constrained 50 dBA Ldn engine testing 

contours are subsumed within the equivalent operational contours.  

Hence, there is no additional regulatory burden.  There is a small 

increase in the extent of properties within a 55 Ldn contour - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bonis, just pause.  What do you mean by “regulatory 

burden”, sorry, I just want to understand those words. 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 5 

MR BONIS:   Certainly, sir, the operation or the regulatory burden imposed by 

the 50 dBA operational contours around a site density and also the 

avoidance of sensitive activities. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, right, it is on the land use constraints side? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   The land use constraint – there is no difference that and the 

engine testing contour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 15 

 

MR BONIS:   there is a small increase in the extended properties within a 

55 dBA Ldn contour, these areas are zoned rural urban fringe, industrial 

park or industrial general. 

 20 

 My understanding of the respective rural urban fringe areas is that the 

residential capacity of these areas is already in place. 

 

 Lastly, in terms of the “carve-out” for engine testing.  I have identified 

in my paragraphs 31 to 33 of my rebuttal, that Mr Morgan has advised 25 

that Air New Zealand Limited considers that it can operate within the 

Council’s parameters within its rule 614287 dated 4 March. 

 

 The wording included in my evidence originated based on discussions 

with Mr Boswell as to the likely range of exemptions that maybe 30 

required. 

 

 The Council’s deletion of the exceedance exemptions in clause F of 

that rule, and also clause E, which provides a requirement for 

transparency as to how such exemptions are to be used. 35 

 

 There is also in Mr Day’s evidence that a 2 dBA exceedance is unlikely 

to be discernible.  I accept that the wording in my evidence can be 

improved. 

 40 

 A more appropriate approach in my view rests on the Panel considering 

firstly, whether a greater range of exemptions are indeed appropriate, 

and if so, what if any exceedance level should be provided for. 

 

 So in this matter, clause D would remain as contained in the Council’s 45 

revised proposal dated 4 March.  It related to safety directives and also 
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natural hazards including volcanic eruption, and consideration could 

then be given to whether additional matters, as raised by Mr Boswell in 

cross-examination, were appropriate in terms of the 2 dBA exemption 

within a reinstated clause F as coupled with associated monitoring 

responsibilities. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think it is probably more appropriate we take the 

morning adjournment now before cross-examination. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.02 am] 10 

 

RESUMED [11.11 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Laing, when you are ready. 

 15 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [11.11 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Mr Bonis, good morning.  Thank you for your very succinct 

summary of the issues, and I just want to take you through a few areas 

where there is some disagreement between the Council and the Airport 20 

Company.  But I will just go through them one-by-one. 

 

 Firstly policy 6.1.1.1.4, which is page 2 of the revised Proposal. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sir. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Just by way of background, that was a policy sought by the 

Airport Company, I think that is correct, is that right? 

 

MR BONIS:   It would be instead of “limit” as in “manage”, that is correct. 30 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and Ms Dixon changed that, put the word “limit” in the 

revised version? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is my understanding , yes. 35 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and I am not going to go through the debate again between 

you and Ms Dixon about it, but were you here the other day when 

Ms Dixon was being cross-examined about those words – do you think 

there is room now for some agreement about the rewording of B there? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   That was my understanding of the discourse between 

Ms Appleyard and Ms Dixon, that if it was manageable around the 

limits then that would be appropriate, yes, and I agree with that. 

 45 
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MR LAING:   So the intention would be that, either the word “manage” is used 

– but that it did reflect that noise was to be limited, is that correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   As a consequence on the management regime, and that was the 

point that I made in evidence, that the rules around the codified regime 5 

around management not limiting noise by aircraft movements in and of 

itself. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and in fact if you look at A, there is already reference to 

noise effects on residents there, isn’t there? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, which sort of raises the question then, is B actually 

necessary. 

 

MR LAING:   I suppose I should ask you that question now.  Is it necessary? 15 

 

MR BONIS:   B also extends beyond just residents, to other sensitive activities 

as well so I think there is a place for B. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   Or else otherwise, A was amended in relation to nearby residents 

and also noise sensitive activities. 

 

MR LAING:   So is it useful for you and Ms Dixon to get together and see if 25 

you can come up with agreed wording to put before the Panel? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I believe there is. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you.  My next topic really relates to the Special Purpose 30 

Airport Zone and I think it was you in your evidence that identified 

there was a gap in no noise standards in that zone at the moment.  Is 

that correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it was more the eleventh hour when I sort of was drafting 35 

evidence that I noticed that. 

 

MR LAING:   And thank you for drawing that to or attention.  But go to page 7 

of the revised proposal please.  Right at the top there you will see there 

is an “M”, can you see that, it is very small? 40 
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  [11.15 am] 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, painted blue. 

 

MR LAING:   And that is what Ms Dixon has inserted.  Now, leaving aside 5 

scope issues, and it is not a matter for you at the moment, it is a matter 

for the Panel, but do you think that that is an appropriate insertion 

there, if leaving aside scope issues? 

 

MR BONIS:   I think it probably extends beyond just scope issues as well.  I 10 

have had a look at the evidence of both Dr Chiles and Mr Day and 

there does not seem to be any discussion around the merits as to the 

applicability of those standards around the Special Purpose Airport 

Zone.  But they may well be quite appropriate, but I think it is an issue 

of scope and merit, and I have not seen any evidence at moment. 15 

 

MR LAING:   But you defer to the experts on that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Absolutely. 

 20 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you. 

 

 If I can just now take you to the noise contour rules, and really my 

focus is going to be on the carve-outs.  But if can look firstly at the 

revised proposal, page 20.  And that is rule 6.1.4.2.6.  And that version 25 

there, that is a standard noise rule, is it not, 65 dBA? 

 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, could you elaborate - - - 

 

MR LAING:   At 6.1.4.2.6, aircraft noise - - -  30 

 

MR BONIS:   Is the compliance rule around the 65 dBA Ldn, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   That is correct, yes.  And so that is the Council’s revised 

proposal there, is it not? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   That is my understanding. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and by way of contrast your version, which is in the 

appendices to your evidence, if we can go there, page 57.  The 40 

differences there are that you are seeking a – well the Airport Company 

is seeking a 2 dBA exceedance? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR LAING:   Yes, and can I just ask you where the words “atypical event, 

including uncharacteristic weather patterns, acts of God” – does that 

come from Mr Boswell, that you say in your summary? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it does. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and so you really have got no expertise to comment on 

whether those are matters that should be or should not be in the carve-

out, is that correct? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   No, I am reliant on the specific exemptions based on the 

evidence of Mr Boswell, and I am reliant on the 2 dBA exceedance 

reliant on the evidence of Mr Day. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, okay. 15 

 

 So if we come to the engine noise testing provisions, and that is at 

page 21 going onto page 22 of the revised proposal.  If I ask you to 

look at page 22. 

 20 

 Now, “D” there; that is the Council’s wording, the revised proposal.  

So it carve-out very specific matters relating to airworthiness 

directives, safety requirements and other unplanned testing arising from 

the aircraft operators identification safety issue, and natural disaster 

including volcanic eruption. 25 

 

 Now, they are fairly narrowly defined carve-outs, are they not? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I would agree. 

 30 

MR LAING:   Yes, and if we go to your version, which is at page 58 of your 

evidence.  So again, those words there, if you can just confirm for me 

that that wording relating to atypical events is from Mr Boswell, is that 

correct? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And you really cannot help me any further with that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Unhelpfully not, but I guess the point that I have raised in my 40 

summary this morning is that I think it is obviously an exercise for the 

Panel to go through and see whether or not those exemptions are firstly 

necessary, and secondly if they are it may be more specific to put a 

2 dBA exceedance or an exceedance of some description around those 

rather than having them in D in and of itself which is just a complete 45 

carve-out with no limitations to it. 
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  [11.20 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  But just in terms of things such as a natural disaster, that 

exceedance is going to be the last thing if there is another earthquake is 5 

it not?  What you are saying though, your view is that there should be 

some form of specific exceedance to 2 dBA inserted if that rule is to 

remain.  Is that correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   Only in terms of those additional matters that is sought by CIAL.  10 

In terms of the unplanned testing arising from aircraft operation, 

identification and safety issues and the natural hazard issues I think 

quite rightly that is appropriately placed and remains within D within a 

general carve-out. 

 15 

MR LAING:   So you accept the Council’s drafting on that point, is that 

correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes I have and that was within my summary this morning. 

 20 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you very much.  I would now like to turn to 

bird strike rules and can I just say by way of introduction to my 

questions that this is a topic where the Council really is trying to 

balance matters of safety against matters of regulation and I think you 

probably accept that is a key issue? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, there is a balance there. 

 

MR LAING:   So we will just start with the Council’s version of the proposal 

which is at page 102, thank you, the revised proposal.  So I just want to 30 

go very briefly through the structure here.  So the Council’s, the main 

engine room of the proposal is controlled activity status is it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 

 35 

MR LAING:   So and that relates to C1, three kilometres from the thresholds of 

the runways and then over on page 103 it specifies various activities, 

does it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 40 

 

MR LAING:   And the matter of control is mitigation and management of 

bird strike risk, that is correct, is it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it is. 45 
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MR LAING:   Then you come onto restricted discretionary activities and that is 

over on page 104, the latest wording. 

 

 And so RD1 there again relates to within three kilometres of the 

thresholds and RD2 again relates to waterbodies of a size of 1,000 5 

square metres within three kilometres.  And the only discretionary rule, 

just to complete the picture, Mr Bonis, we look at page 105, is relating 

to landfills? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LAING:   So if we could go over to your wording and I think that is 

page 60.  Now as you have explained, really if I can call the engine 

room of your proposal is permitted activity status, subject to certain 

standards. 15 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 

 

MR LAING:   This is not a loaded question but I just want to ask you some 

questions relating to those standards.  And if you look at P2 on page 60, 20 

the requirement there is for a storm water management system to be 

designed by a suitably qualified person. 

 

 Now in terms of how this would be enforced there would be no official 

record of that design proposal would there, it is a permitted activity 25 

standard. 

 

MR BONIS:   It would be my understanding, that there would also be consents 

in relation to both excavation and also requirements around the global 

consent for setting up a storm water system in the first instance.  So 30 

there is a recording mechanism for how those designs would go 

through Council  

 

MR LAING:   Are you saying that the whole proposal for a storm water system 

would require resource consent therefore these matters would be 35 

checked? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Is that what your position is – Is that always going to be the 40 

case? 

 

MR BONIS:  There may be the odd instance where it is not but my 

understanding is it would still have to go through the Council’s global 

consent and there is a process associated with that. 45 
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  [11.25 am] 

 

MR LAING:   If it was not the case, there would not be any way the Council 

could determine whether that design had been met?  It would not have 

any record of it would it? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes I would agree with that. 

 

MR LAING:   So would that not suggest that it would be more prudent to have 

controlled activity status? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   It could be but as I indicated in my summary, my understanding 

of the current operative provisions are along these lines as well and the 

intent is to essentially extend those, roll them over and provide some 

more clarify in terms of their implication. 15 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, so thank you for that.  If we come to restricted 

discretionary status, the matter there for assessment, bird strike risk 

associated with the design, operation and management of proposed 

facility.  And you were here yesterday and you heard Mr Shaw give 20 

evidence? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I was. 

 

MR LAING:   And basically he was saying that the onus should be on the 25 

applicant to effectively disprove that there was any bird strike risk.  Is 

that your understanding as well or do you have a different view on that 

topic? 

 

MR BONIS:   From my perspective it really goes down to how that assessment 30 

matter would be used in the associated conditions of consent. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So answer the question please. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I believe that that assessment matter can provide some 35 

useful guidance in terms of how bird risk can be managed but not 

necessarily removed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Who bears the onus? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   The applicant. 

 

MR LAING:   So Mr Bonis do I take it, do you agree that that form of 

formulation leaves wide open the degree of risk that has got to be 

assessed?  There is no – is it low risk, is it a mathematical formulation 45 
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– there is nothing in there, is there, to tell an applicant what that degree 

of risk is and how it is going to be mitigated?  It is an open question. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I would agree, yes. 

 5 

MR LAING:   So do you think that the drafting could be improved there to try 

to put more rigour in around that topic? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I am just looking at the Council’s proposed version - - - 

 10 

MR LAING:   The Council’s one suffers the same problem. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it does, so yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  So in terms of your appendix F, let us come to that, 15 

attachment F rather.  I would like to ask you a few questions about that.  

Could we bring that up please?   

 

 Now you have helpfully got two parameters there, one is three 

kilometres and the other one is eight, is that correct? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   That is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   So the purple areas, the business areas; is that undeveloped 

land? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes they are the priority greenfield business areas. 

 

MR LAING:   And the sort of beige colours, are they ODP areas, what are 

they? 30 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes they are. 

 

MR LAING:   So in those areas and as in the case of most ODP areas, it is 

correct that you will need to have waterbodies, swales, retention 35 

facilities, is that correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   So just tell me though, how do you deal with that issue, these 40 

ODPs already in the proposed Plan; what happens if there is a tension 

between building swales, building retention dams and risk mitigation, 

how does that work? 

 

MR BONIS:  The controls or the activity requirements that I have 45 

recommended do not incorporate location at all in terms, so they will 
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not have any implication for the outline development plans in terms of 

the location, other than the blue network within them, it is simply 

around the design parameters of how those things are put in place. 

 

MR LAING:   But in your rules – and I have to say the Council has got other 5 

rules at the moment so I am not being critical – we do not have any 

design parameters do we, in your proposed drafting? 

 

MR BONIS:   Around the storm water?  We do, that was the whole point of 

trying to put those in as permitted activity standards.  So essentially 10 

there is management around extent of inundation after storm events, 

side slopes and also planting.  And the idea was to put in a permitted 

range of activity standards that could be easily followed and adhered to 

that would provide certainty in terms of how bird strike risk could be 

managed for those particular activities. 15 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR LAING:   So are you saying that those, that only in storms – bird strike 

management area 1, is it not, P2? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, so it only affects a very limited area of the residential 

greenfield priority area and along Russley Road, sort of the north-west 

area, review areas, in terms of the business areas. 

 25 

MR LAING:   Well my question to you is really relating to the area between 

three and eight kilometres which contains quite substantial areas of new 

residential development, does it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   It does, but deliberately do not have a storm water management 30 

control for that area based on what I understand the risk profiles to be 

from Mr Shaw’s evidence. 

 

MR LAING:   So are you saying there will not be additional control or there 

will be? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   There will not be under the provisions that I have put forward, 

for storm water management there are no controls between three and 

eight kilometres. 

 40 

MR LAING:   What about RD2? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is in relation to any permanent water feature with surface 

areas, so it has to have a permanent surface water feature. 

 45 
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MR LAING:   So you are saying that provided it drains within 48 hours or 

whatever, and meets those other standards, there is no further control? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 5 

MR LAING:   Okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Laing.  Now, Mr Chapman, I think we 

have you, or is it Ms Ball? 

 10 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, it is me, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [11.31 am] 15 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good morning, Mr Bonis.  I am just going to take you 

through a number of practical scenarios that might happen at the 

University and just work out with you as to whether they constitute 

new development which would be subject to control in your view. 20 

 

 Firstly, if there was a rebuilding of the engineering department, do you 

regard that as new development? 

 

MR BONIS:   On its face that I see those words to mean, yes. 25 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And that would need to trigger, in the words of your 

submission, a non-complying consent by the University, is that correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   In terms of the Airport’s submission, yes. 30 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And if within an existing building, a new faculty, say a 

school of avionics was developed, would that require a consent in your 

view, that being a new activity? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   A new activity or a new development? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well I think it is the activity status that triggers consent, is 

it not? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   It is – under the CIAL submission, I would suggest that it would. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And if the arts department wanted to establish an outdoor 

drama facility; would that be a new activity, notwithstanding that it did 

not need any other resource consent? 45 
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MR BONIS:   I think it would be hard to enforce or monitor or even understand 

when that came into operation. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Pardon me? 

 5 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, I am not answering that very well.  I doubt that the airport 

would, or the Council would even pick up that that was a prospect. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   But it would be a new activity, would it not? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   It would be a new activity. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Which the airport seeks to control by way of consent? 

 

MR BONIS:   In terms of its submission, yes. 15 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   What a new café, existing café relocated from an old 

building to a new building? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So just in the range of things that you have outlined, can 

you just explain to us what the mischief is to your existing 

infrastructure, your existing strategic infrastructure of doing any of 

those developments please? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   I cannot, and I have tried to be relatively clear in my evidence 

that I do not have that view.  The concern that I am raising is a policy 

hurdle and nothing else. 

 30 

  [11.35 am] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would you agree that the Airport is in, at least in resource 

management circles, relatively litigious?  

 35 

MR BONIS:   I think it is a pretty unfair question; I am not sure how I would 

answer that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is a loaded one, Mr Chapman. 

 40 

MR CHAPMAN:   Pardon me? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is a bit of a loaded question, is it not, think of another 

way of perhaps asking that? 

 45 
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MR CHAPMAN:   Do you accept on the evidence of Dr Trevathan that all of 

the buildings that the University builds, are to a very high acoustical 

standard? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, and I think that was also agreed by Dr Chiles and also by 5 

Mr Day in cross-examination yesterday. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And so is your issue with the University about the 

transitory nature of students or staff experience noise when they move 

from one building to another? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Perhaps my evidence is not clear on this matter and I apologise 

if that is the case.  The matter, and the only matter that I have raised, is 

the one around policy interpretation for - - - 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   He made that point to you before, Mr Chapman.  He made 

that point to you before, so he said before, what he said now, which is 

his only concern is a policy one. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, well let’s turn to the policy of new development under 20 

6.3.5, shall we.  Firstly, I am going to take you to sub-paragraph 4 of 

that policy. 

 

 In terms of the first words of that policy where it is prescribed by only 

providing for new development which affects existing strategic 25 

infrastructure, at least on that east-west axis, am I correct to say that the 

development could not move any closer to the University on the airport 

side of things, that the existing infrastructure is there right now? 

 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, could you bring that question up for me, I am struggling- 30 

- - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Chapman, I am very sorry to interrupt your cross-

examination and what I should have done was to indicate to you that 

we are going to have to take an adjournment for another Hearing that is 35 

commencing in five minutes, so I want you to hold that question and I 

will give you the benefit of your cross-examination time after we 

resume. 

 

 So on that basis you are still under cross-examination, Mr Bonis. 40 

 

MR BONIS:   Certainly, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I am sorry to everyone but it is just the way it is, we 

have got two Hearings scheduled today and we have to go to the other 45 

one by quarter to. 
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ADJOURNED [11.37 am] 

 

RESUMED [1.18 pm] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, Mr Bonis, you are still under cross-

examination, your former oath, and Mr Chapman, do you need a little 

bit more time given the interruption to your cross-examination? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Look, I think I will work within my existing time line, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes okay, all right.  Well just pick up where you were. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I will take you back, Mr Bonis, to policy 6.3.5, 

subparagraph 4 that we were discussing before the adjournment. 15 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you agree that under that subparagraph you have firstly 

got to find an effect on your strategic infrastructure? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   In the general in relation to existing strategic infrastructure I 

would agree, but in terms of the specific, around the Christchurch 

International Airport, there is a more narrow, including by avoiding 

noise sensitive activities. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Bonis, is that your interpretation or is it based 

on legal advice? 

 

MR BONIS:   It is my interpretation., 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So if you look for an effect, what is the mischief that you 

are seeking to cure from the University’s perspective? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   As I have indicated, I do not think that there is any mischief.  

The only hurdle I have from a policy planning point of view is this 

particular policy 

 40 

 I have been very clear in my evidence, and I think all the acoustic 

experts appear to agree that there is not mischief that the University’s 

development and recovery post-earthquake, could occur in terms of the 

strategic infrastructure identified by the Airport.  It is the policy that is 

causing me the issue. 45 

 



 Page 626 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

MR CHAPMAN:   Turning to that policy again, if we go up to subparagraph 2 

of that policy.  Do you agree that that policy is all about getting the 

infrastructure in place before a new development can proceed? 

 

  [1.20 pm] 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   What is the new infrastructure, in relation to the 

University? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   So I do not understand the question – do you mean? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well is it not saying effectively that for new development 

you have got to get your timing right.  You have got to have your 15 

infrastructure in place before the new development can proceed.  Is that 

what subparagraph 2 is dealing with? 

 

MR BONIS:   Clause 2 as I see it is around the primarily greenfield 

development in terms of ensuring that the assets, the storm water 20 

networks, the roading infrastructure and so forth are in place and 

integrated with that development. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Only relating to greenfield development? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   No it talks about new development but it is specific about 

infrastructure and not strategic infrastructure.  It is a broader use of that 

term. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Just in terms of rules that you are seeking to introduce; I 30 

want you to now look at the various policies and objectives which 

support the introduction of your rule.  Firstly if I turn you to the 

Specific Purpose Tertiary Education Zone, under 21.7, do you have that 

to hand? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   I do not but I have covered it in my evidence-in-chief from 

memory and also in my rebuttal evidence.  I am aware of what they are. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So you would agree that in relation to the specific chapter 

on tertiary education, there are no policies or objectives that support the 40 

rule that you are seeking? 

 

MR BONIS:   I would agree. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So then you need to turn presumably to the general rules, is 45 

that correct? 
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MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And specifically the rules round noise under 6.1, is that 

correct? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes and also Strategic Directions objective 3.3.12. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   If I could ask for 6.1 of the revised Plan to be put up on the 

board please.  Right so just going through these, under 6.1.1, having 10 

heard the evidence of Mr Day and read the evidence of Mr Trevathan, 

do you agree that noise is being managed to a level and with the 

anticipated outcome of the receiving environment? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes but with the caveat and I think it was identified by Mr Day, 15 

that the levels of noise up to the 50 dBA are not being experienced yet 

at the University, but on its face, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   But you agree with the evidence that the noise attenuation 

applied at the University is primarily to deal with localised noise 20 

interference?  That is effectively the critical standard to which acoustic 

design is managed? 

 

MR BONIS:   I do not know that Mr Trevathan was that specific, but he 

indicated that the acoustic attenuation of the buildings was sufficient to 25 

deal with the noise from the Airport. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So then you go down to 6.1.1.1 and either sub (i) and (ii) 

are not applicable to the University site, is that correct?  Well I will 

take you through it, if you look at (ii) - - - 30 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, sorry, if you could - - - 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   - - - you do not need any sound insulation at the University 

within the 50 dBA. 35 

 

MR BONIS:   No, no. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Right, okay – and the subparagraph (i) is not applicable? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So then you go to (iii) which is limitation the location of 

sensitive activities.  Is that the policy that you are relying on for your 

rule? 45 
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MR BONIS:   No, I am relying on 3.3.12 and RPS 3.6.5. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You mean 6.3.5? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   6.3.5. 5 

 

MR BONIS:   3.5 sorry, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So you are not relying on anything in the general rules there 

in terms of supporting your rule? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   All right.  Lastly I want to take the case where the 

University has got what it has submitted on; you have got non-15 

complying status, the University is in the position of making an 

application for a non-complying activity.  It is going to have 

Mr Trevathan do a report, is that correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   What are you going to do with it? 

 

MR BONIS:   I think I raised that matter in my rebuttal evidence as well in 

terms of it going to the integrity of what that provision would actually 25 

be able to achieve.  I am quite conscious of the fact that there is a 

limited amount that such a rule would be able to achieve. 

 

  [1.25 pm] 

 30 

MR CHAPMAN:   You are going to require the University to turn their 

building round? 

 

MR BONIS:   It may require or may provide the ability for some location 

specific activities in relation to being within the contours but it would 35 

only extend that far.  Issues around accommodation and preschools 

perchance, depending on the acoustic evidence that went with those. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Are we not just developing a paper war here?  A consenting 

paper war? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   I think the proposition probably conflicts with 3.3.2 in terms of 

prescription but the issue that I have as a planner is that I have a policy 

that I have interpreted that I believe based on that interpretation creates 

a hurdle.  I cannot just exclude it, I have to raise it. 45 
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 What we then do with it is a matter of interpretation in the Panel’s 

decision.  I cannot simply just ignore it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I ask a question at this point, Mr Chapman? 

 5 

MR CHAPMAN:   Of course. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on the basis of those answers, Mr Bonis, is it your 

view that you cannot conceive of a relevant resource management 

purpose for regulation? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Based on the evidence of Mr Trevathan, Mr Day, and Dr Chiles 

it would be very, very limited and I think it would be at the margins in 

terms of accommodation and preschools, from what I understand. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   No further questions from me, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now is it Ms Limmer or – yes, thank you 

Ms Limmer. 

 20 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [1.26 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Bonis. 

 

MR BONIS:   Good afternoon. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   I would like to ask you some questions first about engine 

testing.  And if I can take you to paragraph 30 of your rebuttal evidence 

please. 

 30 

 Now putting aside whether or not that is a correct interpretation of 

Ms Seaton’s evidence, you were here yesterday for Mr Day’s evidence 

I understand? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes I was. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you heard him confirm that the contours proposed would 

not prevent single events exceeding 80 dB?  The average noise 

constraints would not control maximum noise? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So in the context of Dr Dowding’s concern that any increase 

in noise levels, that is not just average noise, would be a concern; an 

Lmax limit could serve a purpose in that sense could it not? 45 
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MR BONIS:   I think if there was an affect that addressed, then yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:  So where you said in your paragraph 30 that a further 

compliance requirement would be unnecessary, you said that because 

you believed the contours would be effective in ensuring compliance 5 

with that maximum level, is that still your view? 

 

MR BONIS:   That was my understanding of what Mr Day has said, that it 

would be unlikely that we would end up with a maximum, an Lmax 

extending beyond that, but I understood that he was a little more, he 10 

has softened that view a little bit in terms of the discussion yesterday. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  So later in paragraph 30 you say you are unclear as to 

how compliance there, monitoring would be undertaken of the Lmax.  

Now in your recommended provisions and the Council’s also, there is a 15 

requirement to monitor and comply with the 65 contours is there not? 

 

MR BONIS:   There is through the predictive modelling, the ETMS I think. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, with the engine testing? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  And they would require gathering and reporting of data 

and calculations? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   My understanding and again this is perhaps a question for 

Mr Day, it was more a predictive model and there was validation in 

terms of how those predictive levels were set. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  So there is some gathering of data to inform that. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You heard Mr Day confirm yesterday that Lmax levels for 35 

Peacock Springs could be calculated in the same way he had done that 

for the residential areas to the east.  Do you recall that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 40 

MS LIMMER:   In fact he said that could be done quite easily, did he not? 

 

MR BONIS:   Two to three weeks I think was his answer. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well no, in fact in answers to Mr Caldwell on the question of 45 

could he do that from the engine testing data he said he could provide 
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that very easily.  I think it was in response to Ms Appleyard’s question 

about logging noise that he said he required two weeks. 

 

MR BONIS:   If that is the case, I apologise. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   Do you know – and if you do not know simply say so – 

whether the same information that would be used to calculate 

compliance with the 65 contours could also be used for a Lmax limit at 

Peacock Springs? 

 10 

  [1.30 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:    I do not know, I cannot answer that question. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And finally on that Lmax level; you have read Dr Dowding’s 15 

evidence? 

 

MR BONIS:   I have. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you understand he is concerned that higher noise levels 20 

may affect the birds, particularly the endangered birds at Peacock 

Springs? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I think he referred to it as a sort of startling effect. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   But it is your understanding that he has identified a concern 

with increased noise levels, and that concern is adverse effects? 

 

MR BONIS:   I do not know whether or not he put the nexus together between 

a level and the startling effect so succinctly within his evidence. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you do not know whether Dr Dowding is concerned about 

increased noise levels? 

 

MR BONIS:   He is, but I thought your question was did he then link that to an 35 

80 Lmax, and I did not get that through his evidence. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well, if I just perhaps carry on.  You would accept though that 

he has said he cannot say for certain whether increased levels are 

current, or bring about adverse effects.  You would agree with that? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   I am not an expert.  I cannot disagree with it. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well, just in terms of what he has said in his evidence. 

 45 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 
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MS LIMMER:   And you would identify that as an area of uncertainty? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 5 

MS LIMMER:   And in terms of Section 32 of the Act, Dr Dowding has 

discussed the risk of not imposing a cap on noise levels.  What do you 

identify as the risk of imposing a cap? 

 

MR BONIS:   I have simply looked at, I guess, the effectiveness and efficiency 10 

of whether a rule is necessary.  I have identified that it may be effective 

in terms of the startling effect, but whether or not a rule is necessary 

goes down to efficiency, and I have identified that it may be more 

appropriate under a memorandum of understanding between the 

parties, in terms of resolving that issue, rather than an additional rule 15 

within the Plan. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So Section 32 requires us where there is uncertainty to 

consider the risk of acting and not acting, and I am asking you to help 

us understand what you say the risk of acting, the risk of imposing the 20 

Lmax is? 

 

MR BONIS:   The risk is imposing an atLmax when I was not of the 

understanding that Mr Day, nor Mr Dowding actually identified that 

that figure was the trigger for startle effects.  So in terms of 25 

effectiveness of just prescribing an Lmax of 80, I am not sure whether or 

not that goes to, I guess, the nub of the issue raised by your client. 

 

MS LIMMER:   That was not quite my question, sorry Mr Bonis, if I can 

interrupt you there.  I am asking you to tell me what the risk is to the 30 

Airport of an ATLmax at Peacock Springs? 

 

MR BONIS:   I cannot answer it.  The issue may be whether or not there are 

operational uncertainties in terms of the way the engine testing is 

undertaken. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Is there any evidence that we have that tells us what an 

ATLmax would mean the Airport cannot do? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, not from my understanding. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Can I take you now to consider the bird strike provisions.  

Ms Seaton’s suggested rules are in two parts effectively, and I would 

like to ask you first about the permitted activity rule. 

 45 
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 One of the key differences between that rule and the rules you have 

recommended is that it would allow an additional 1000 square metres 

of water bodies at Peacock Springs.  Is that your understanding of the 

key difference? 

 5 

MR BONIS:   In terms of the permitted activity status, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  And you understand that under your proposed regime 

the Trust could not do anything without resource consent? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And that would include water bodies covered by aviaries? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   And do you think that is reasonable given Mr Shore’s answers 

in questions yesterday? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I do not, and I understand that Ms Dixon has also raised that 20 

issue in private correspondence that we have had in terms of an 

exclusion around aviaries.  I think that is entirely appropriate. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Right.  And that exclusion does not appear near the rules at the 

moment, apart from Ms Seaton’s, is that right? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   That is correct.  Although I have got an RD rule around wetland 

conservation areas that have an enclosure component, that is excluded.  

So it would be consistent with that.  I do not disagree with the principle 

at all. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   So the other implication of your proposal would be that the 

Trust would have to get restricted discretionary consent for just 

temporary diversions – to construct aviaries, for example? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

  [1.35 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   And it would have to get restricted discretionary consent to 40 

reconfigure its waterways, even if there was no overall increase in 

surface area covered.  That is correct, is it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   I would have to look at it, but on its face, yes 

 45 

MS LIMMER:   Well, the rule would not allow for any increase? 
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MR BONIS:   That is correct. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Or any new water bodies because there is already 22 hectares 

of water bodies, that is right, is it not? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And your opinion on the reasonableness of that regime relies 

on that of Mr Shore’s, that is correct, is it not? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   It does, and I have specifically asked Mr Shore that question in 

terms of whether or not a permitted activity status and a set of controls 

for Peacock Springs can be put in place specifically to deal with the 

issues that you are raising.  You know, consent would be required to do 15 

anything.  And I am very much, as I have indicated in my summary, 

reliant on his evidence in that particular case for an issue of 

reasonableness and efficiency. 

 

 I understand entirely where Peacock Springs are coming, that there 20 

may be some ability to have a limited amount of permitted activity 

increased to allow diversions, some transfers subject to sort of the 

conditions that I have already specified within the P2, and as subject to 

the existing Peacock Springs management plan. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 

MR BONIS:   So from a planning perspective I fully understand where you are 

coming from.  That question has been directly relayed to Mr Shore, and 

he has informed me that due to risk he is uncomfortable with that 30 

approach.  From a planning perspective I can certainly see the merits, 

perhaps not in 1000, but certainly in a limited capacity. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So Mr Bonis, you were here for Mr Shore’s evidence 

yesterday? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   Mostly, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would accept that his starting point was 

fundamentally incorrect in terms of what Peacock Springs actually is? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   That may have been a bit that I missed. 

 

MS LIMMER:   If you were to rely on the evidence of Dr Dowding instead, 

would your view about what is reasonable in that permitted rule be 45 

different? 
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MR BONIS:   I think the issue comes down to a balance between allowing 

some reasonable activities to occur at Peacock Springs, in terms of their 

existing habitat and habitat protection, and the risk profile that I 

identified by Mr Shore. 5 

 

 Mr Shore has indicated or identified within his evidence that because of 

the location and the sheer scale of activities at Peacock Springs, the 

bird risk activities, that he is taking a sort of a no increase without 

consenting reliance, which was also the consenting mechanism under 10 

the operative Plan. 

 

 As I have just indicated to you, from a planning point of view I think 

there is some efficiency in having not 1000, but 500 square metres 

subject to the conditions in P2, and subject to the existing management 15 

plan, in terms of pre-conditions as to what would be acceptable. 

 

 But I cannot assist in terms of what is an acceptable risk between the 

two experts. 

 20 

MS LIMMER:   No, but my question Mr Bonis, and you have referred again in 

your answer there to what Mr Shore has said.  My question is, as a 

planner, if you chose to rely on Dr Dowding’s evidence instead would 

your conclusion about the reasonableness of Ms Seaton’s permitted 

activity rule be different? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it would have to be. 

 

MS LIMMER:   If I can turn briefly to the controlled activity rule that MS 

Seaton has also put forward for Peacock Springs.  You accept as a 30 

starting point that that particular status is only available to Peacock 

Springs if there is an approved bird hazard management plan in place? 

 

MR BONIS:   Could I please have a copy of that rule placed up on the screen? 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Certainly.  That is Ms Seaton’s rebuttal evidence.  Just find 

the page number for you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Limmer, just while you are there, have you got many 

more questions? 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sorry sir, I have two or three more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, well we give you another five minutes. 

 45 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  So that is pages 6 and 7, yes. 
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MR BONIS:   Yes, yes I have read it. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So my first question is, that rule is restricted in its application 

to only where there is an approved bird hazard management plan in 5 

place? 

 

MR BONIS:   It is. 

 

MS LIMMER:   In paragraph 152 of your evidence-in-chief you support 10 

restricted discretionary status.  And you say there “generally because”, 

generally rather than at Peacock Springs, “because previous 

assessments for the development of large water bodies have concluded 

that the risk cannot be managed”.  That is correct, is it not, paragraph 

152 is the key reasoning that you have employed? 15 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

  [1.40 pm] 

 20 

MS LIMMER:    Now the reference that you have provided there is to 

Mr Shaw’s evidence and he in turn has referenced the 2004 report of 

the Lake Isaac proposal, but you have used the plural terms there; so 

what other assessments in waterbodies are you referring to? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   To be correct; no, it is only that assessment. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And have you or any of the Airport’s witnesses, compared the 

particular circumstances at Peacock Springs with those in the 2004 

Report? 30 

 

MR BONIS:   No, but neither is the rule limited to a water conservation area, it 

is talking about a permanent water feature; it is not narrowed to 

specifically water conservation. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   No, but it is defined to a particular area, isn’t it?  In the Lake 

Isaac proposal was a 66 hectare lake and we are talking here about a 

73 hectare area, it already has a large amount of development, does it 

not? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir, I have no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bonis, just one question arising from that.  Mr Shaw 45 

was questioned yesterday on his familiarity with Peacock Springs and 
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indicated a degree of lack of familiarity with it in his answers.  Were 

you aware of that when you took account of his evidence? 

 

MR BONIS:   I was aware that he had not been to the site, yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, all right.  Mr Beatson? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR BEATSON [1.41 pm] 

 

MR BEATSON:   Mr Bonis, I think you have suggested a change from 10 

prohibited to non-complying activity status for those four towers that 

presently penetrate the protection surface. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 15 

MR BEATSON:   But any other changes to the other lines in the vicinity of the 

airport that penetrate that surface would be prohibited under your 

proposal? 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 20 

 

MR BEATSON:   And you rely on Mr Munro’s evidence as it relates to 

aviation safety matters? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I do. 25 

 

MR BEATSON:   Are you aware his rebuttal evidence says that – paragraph 17 

– that an extension of an existing object which penetrates a site at 

1.6 percent, could be acceptable if an aeronautical study determines 

that the object would not adversely affect the safety or significantly 30 

affect the regularity of operations of aeroplanes? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I am. 

 

MR BEATSON:   In your evidence at paragraph 24, that is your evidence-in-35 

chief, you refer to the objectives and policies that support the airport, 

and you referred to the corresponding Higher Order provisions that 

relate to the national grid? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I have not (INDISTINCT 2.56). 40 

 

MR BEATSON:   Where in your evidence have you acknowledged the policies 

contained in the National Policy Statement for electricity transmission? 

 

MR BONIS:   I haven’t. 45 
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MR BEATSON:   Are you aware of these? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I am. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Is there a reason you did not mention them? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   No there is not. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Do you have any reason or basis to contest Transpower’s 

evidence that the tower do not intrude into the protection surface when 10 

calculated from the existing runway? 

 

MR BONIS:   When calculated from the existing runway, that is also my 

understanding from the airport surveys, yes. 

 15 

MR BEATSON:   They do not breach, do they? 

 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Do you acknowledge that by extending the runway, the 20 

airport will effectively be introducing structures into that 1.6 percent 

surface? 

 

MR BONIS:   With the airport? 

 25 

MR BEATSON:   Yes. 

 

MR BONIS:   No, not that I am aware of. 

 

MR BEATSON:   By extent that at the moment these towers do not breach the 30 

protection surface, do they? 

 

MR BONIS:   Are you talking about your infrastructure, the Transpower 

infrastructure? 

 35 

MR BEATSON:   Yes. 

 

MR BONIS:   But that is already – they already breached the protection 

surfaces within the operative Plan. 

 40 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, well that is right in terms of the Plan, but in terms of 

reality, if the airport extends the runway, it is introducing structures 

into the 1.6 percent surface, is it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   It is, yes. 45 
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MR BEATSON:   Yes, and these will intrude by varying amounts? 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And it will presumably only go ahead with the upgrade if it 5 

assesses the risk of collision with these structures is acceptable, won’t 

it? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, and we will have to undertake alternative discussions with 

Transpower as to what could be done with those structures and the 10 

level of penetration. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Do you accept that in these circumstances, it will be heavy-

handed to heavily restrict or prohibit Transpower’s upgrade of its 

existing facilities? 15 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, and that is one of the key reasons why I indicated this 

morning in my summary that the prohibited activity status was not 

appropriate. 

 20 

MR BEATSON:   Wasn’t? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, so that is why I recommended a non-complying activity - - - 

 

MR BEATSON:   In relation to those four towers, but not the other ones? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   Not the other ones, no. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Okay, so what if Transpower wants to do some work on its 

other facilities and they breach the 1.6, but let’s say they do not go into 30 

it to any greater extent than those existing towers do, are you still 

contending that that should be prohibited? 

 

  [1.45 pm] 

 35 

MR BONIS:   No, on its face and based on Mr Munro’s answers this morning, 

non-complying activity status would be appropriate for those as well. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Okay.  At para 185 of your evidence-in-chief, you raise a 

concern about the limited matters of discretion under the NESETA and 40 

I think you have agreed an MoU could be a way of addressing this 

issue, if the Panel accepts that the NESETA prevails? 

 

MR BONIS:   I think it is the only way that the matter could be addressed. 

 45 
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MR BEATSON:   Are you aware that if Transpower wish to impinge upon the 

runway protection surface, it would require a separate approval from 

the director of CAA under part 77? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 5 

 

MR BEATSON:   You are? 

 

MR BONIS:   Based on the discussions that Mr Munro had this morning, that 

was my understanding of his answers. 10 

 

MR BEATSON:   I was not aware that the need for a separate approval from 

the CAA was discussed, I know that there was discussion about the 

need for an aeronautical survey? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, my understanding of what Mr Munro said was that there 

was a sign-off that was required if that is not – it might be my 

misunderstanding of what Mr Munro responded. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Well that is my understanding now.  Are you aware that the 20 

Director of CAA has an authority to authorise or to decline any 

proposal to intrude into the airport surface protection? 

 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 25 

MR BEATSON:   You are not aware of that? 

 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Okay, well I was not either until the lunchbreak, and I am 30 

surprised that it was not brought to our attention by Mr Munro, but will 

you take it from me that that is the case under the rules? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, on that proposition. 

 35 

MR BEATSON:   And do you agree that the existence of a separate, an extra 

regime, could be a reason why the matter is not addressed in the 

NESETA? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is an option, yes. 40 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, and if we go back to para 185 of your evidence-in-

chief, you say it is your view from a planning perspective, it is 

appropriate for a rule to be created outside of the NESETA that pushes 

the permitted or restricted discretionary activity into a different status, 45 

don’t you? 
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MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And you say at 186 that therefore you consider section 43A 

allows a prohibited activity status for the grid, where protection 5 

surfaces are breached? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And obviously now, non-complying for those towers where 10 

they already breach the surface and maybe beyond that, I think, and 

(INDISTINCT 2.22) response, but that is the extent of your planning 

analysis regarding whether or not the NESETA should prevail and that 

you have brought to bear a justified prohibited activity status that you 

are proposing for upgrading the transmission lines, is it not? 15 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And where do we find your Section 32 analysis regarding 

the costs and benefits of the prohibited activity non-complying activity 20 

status for the alteration, relocation or replacement that increases the 

height or external envelope of these structures as compared to the 

restricted discretionary activity status that is provided for in the 

NESETA?  

 25 

MR BONIS:   It is not present. 

 

MR BEATSON:   You have not done one.  Do you accept that prohibited 

activity status should only be used where there is no way under any 

circumstances, an activity should proceed? 30 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And I think now you will accept you cannot reconcile that 

position with Mr Munro’s evidence, can you? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   No, and that is why I recommended a non-complying activity 

status. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Right, no further questions, sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Beatson.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, good afternoon, Mr Bonis.  I have got a 

number of questions so let’s just get going. 45 
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 Your paragraph 12 of your evidence-in-chief, you talk about the 

Airport Company’s relief, seeking to both protect existing and planned 

operations from reverse sensitivity for the airport, and managing land 

use surrounding the airport with regard to adverse effects. 

 5 

 So I take it from that evidence that that’s really looking after the 

Airport Company’s interests. 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 10 

MR BONIS:   In terms of that particular paragraph it does but then I have 

identified at other paragraphs specifically the tables around obligations 

under the New Zealand Standard that there are dual obligations both in 

terms of what the Airport has to do to manage its effects on others the 

corresponding community actions as well. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Can you just take to those paragraphs? 

 

MR BONIS:   Sure.  So the primary one is 41 through to 43 which is the basis 

for the land use controls and 43 identifies the management of noise 20 

effects and this is in relation to 6805 and the operational noise controls, 

that there is a dual responsibility.  And I have identified at table 1 on 

page 13 the requirement in terms of obligations on CIAL and 

obligations on land use, and I have repeated that for engine testing in 

terms of paragraph 70 and also table 2. 25 

 

 So I have tried to, within my evidence, sort of outline the parallel 

process between NZS6805 and how there is that dual responsibility and 

then as identified by Mr Day, the sort of parallel process with that for 

engine testing.  So there is a dual responsibility.  I have not hidden 30 

away from that within my evidence. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I think to be fair you recognise and have read evidence from 

both the Airport Company and other experts and as a planner you 

looked at both sides of each argument very carefully? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes I have to, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  Can I now take you to 23.3 of your evidence on 

page 6.  About three paragraphs down you are looking at the objectives 40 

and policies starting with the word however. 

 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, what is the reference number? 

 

MR DAYSH:   23.3 page 6. 45 
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MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So there are three paragraphs there. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you talk about these policies specifying avoidance of noise 

sensitive uses within the engine testing corridors; do those policies 

actually say that they are associated with engine testing contours? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   No, and that is the specific reason for that paragraph 23.3, it 

makes it clear in the very last point saying, however there are no 

explicit provisions comparable to 3.3.12B, 3 or 6.3.5.4 in relation to 

operational noise that relate to engine testing.  There are simply no 

specific provisions around engine testing and the need to avoid 15 

activities within the 50 dBA engine testing contour. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, that is right. 

 

 Now at your paragraph 24.7 and it is probably useful I think to bring up 20 

policy 6.1.1.1 or that page starting with the objective of the 4 March 

revised provisions. 

 

 Now when I asked some questions of Ms Dixon about this word 

“manage”, I think she gave us evidence that she saw that as being 25 

perhaps appropriate for objectives but when you get down to specific 

policies about doing things and achieving things she did not think it 

was really appropriate.  Do you have the same view? 

 

MR BONIS:   I have the same view if it is only word that is used, you should 30 

move from the general through to the specific.  I certainly agree with 

Ms Dixon on that front.  The concern that I have with limit within that 

particular policy is that it is not recognising the sort of codified 

regulatory response in terms of - - - 

 35 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Perhaps I will stop you there.  So I was talking about the 

objective first so do you agree that it is appropriate in an objective to 

use a word like manage? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, so let us go to the policy then, so we are looking at 

6.1.1, let us have a look.  The relevant one is 6.1.1.4 is it not? 45 
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MR BONIS:   It is. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So further down.  So I think you have already said in cross-

examination that that really needs some work to talk about managing to 

a limit. 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And when we look up to the other policies on this page, the 

word manage appears also does it not, in policies? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Repeatedly, yes, in fact - - - 

 

MR DAYSH:   Repeatedly. 

 15 

MR BONIS:   - - - it is the only one that uses something else. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so have you turned your mind, given the question I asked 

Ms Dixon about whether that broad term “manage” is really 

appropriate in a policy sense, throughout this set of policies? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   My view is that it can be providing that the actions that then 

come on from it are the more specific so you are managing these things 

by doing these things, and if you look at 6.1.1.1 that is essentially how 

that one works through; we are managing adverse noise effects by, and 25 

we are doing it by this, this and this. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MR BONIS:   And in my view that is going from the general to the specific 30 

and it is quite appropriate. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So it works in that context do you think? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  Shall we look at the next place that it is used and I think it 

is the next policy?  6.1.1.1.2, so this is the policy where through 

agreement I think with the Council planners, is that right?  We have 

changed the word “lower” to “manage”? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   That is my understanding but I also note that the notified version 

just talked about lower night time noise levels and it did not allow any 

nuance between whether or not there were actually people living in 

those particular areas or whether or not they were indeed sensitive, so I 45 

understand that that is where the qualifier “manage” was utilised there. 
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MR DAYSH:   So I understood this was a tracked version from a notified 

version, are you saying it is not? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, it is. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   So can you just explain then what you just said? 

 

MR BONIS:   So my understanding of it was that the notified version was 

lower noise level shall be achieved during night hours where noise has 10 

the potential to interfere with sleep which is very directive across the 

city, essentially requiring a night-time noise standard but there are 

areas of the city where noise levels do not have to be at that level so 

that is where I understand the qualifiers have come into it. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   So where the need to manage noise to avoid interference with 

sleep is relevant, where in this policy regime does that now sit? 

 

MR BONIS:   I have not looked at this one specifically but it certainly could be 

improved in terms of that. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just answer the question, please. 

 

MR BONIS:   Could I get you to repeat the question please, sir? 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where does the policy on, where – well sorry Mr Daysh, I 

should leave it to you. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  So where I think you answered to me that this was 

changed probably because it was a city-wide policy, and that is the 30 

reason that the sleep interference aspect was taken out but I am asking 

you where the adverse effect does relate to sleep interference and 

health issues, where has that been, is there anywhere that has been 

refocused or put in this general provisions? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   That is not my understanding of – I do not know where those 

provisions have gone. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You do not know, you cannot help us to see where they have 

perhaps gone? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   I have not redrafted those provisions so I am not sure where they 

have gone. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think they have just gone completely? 45 
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MR BONIS:   That may be a better question for the Council planner. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well should they be there? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, they should be, providing that they are nuanced to the 5 

receiving environments, yes. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  Thank you.  Right, shall we carry on with your 10 

evidence?  Paragraph 27 of your evidence-in-chief , this is where the 

Airport Company sought reference to air noise contours throughout the 

Plan and also specified terminology for the engine testing contours, 

now were you involved in preparing the submission for the CIAL? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   In part, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes and when that was proposed and promoted and through the 

whole process of mediation and coming to the hearing, were you 

involved at all in looking at a range of alternatives and options to meet 20 

that with the Airport Company? 

 

MR BONIS:   In terms of the descriptors?  No, I wasn’t; they were specifically 

from Mr Day. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, so was Mr Day driving that? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  Your paragraph 50 of your evidence-in-chief, this 30 

is where you talk about preferring “manage” to “limit” back to that 

same policy. 

 

 You say a management response is what is codified in the rule regime 

but that rule regime has not been decided yet, has it, there is some 35 

discussion about that? 

 

MR BONIS:   I would agree, but the regime in the notified Plan and also that is 

submitted on by the airport and again it goes down to that sort of dual 

function. 40 

 

 My view is that it is a management regime that is set up through the 

New Zealand Standard and that is all I was trying to imply there, that I 

see the rules of the New Zealand Standard being consistent in terms of 

the process and the respective provisions.  I see that as a management 45 
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response in relation to airport noise and that is the only point I was 

trying to make. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, that is helpful, thank you. 

 5 

 In that same paragraph you say “limiting the noise generated by aircraft 

movements at the airport may not be possible or appropriate” so do you 

think that, with those words, may not be possible or appropriate?  Are 

you saying to us that there is some uncertainty about that? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   It is just the language in the policies are loose when it is around 

limiting the noise generated by aircraft movements is it talking about 

the aircraft themselves, is it talking about the frequency or number, or 

is it simply talking about the management regime by which noise is 

addressed and my understanding of that policy is it should be the latter. 15 

 

 So I am probably not explaining it particularly well but I see that policy 

acting as the management regime around noise coming from the airport 

and the need to manage and limit that noise, not necessarily the aircraft 

operations that go with it. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right. 

 

MR BONIS:   And that is the only point that I am trying to make.  I am sorry if 

I am labouring it. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:  No, that is good, thank you.  Now, I wonder if we could look at 

attachment K of your evidence on the screen and this is your 

paragraph 60 you discuss this and it is around the 65 Ldn air noise 

contour. 30 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So there are some residential units within the 65 Ldn contour so 

what are you actually saying, that those are caught by the contour or 35 

what is really the context?  Can you explain, I could not really 

understand it? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, and I have not explained it particularly well.  There was a 

submission from Mr Lawry as to the require for the airport to 40 

contribute or pay for acoustic attenuation within the 65 and it was not 

expressed as to whether or not it was the 65 Ldn compliance contour or 

the 65/95 LAE contour itself. 

 

 The purpose of this and Ms Dixon’s evidence was on the former when 45 

she identified that the number of zone actually affected by the 65 Ldn 
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compliance is very limited.  The purpose of this was to simply say 

look, there is actually a number of properties, because I thought 

Mr Lawry was extending his view to the 65/95 LAE and its related to 

these particular properties as well, which is identified there. 

 5 

 And then that relates to what Mr Boswell has in his rebuttal evidence 

and also myself by saying that the actual monitored 2014 extent of the 

65 being felt is only at two houses.  So you kind of have to put this 

diagram together with the diagram that is in Mr Boswell’s rebuttal 

evidence. 10 

 

  [2.05 pm]  

 

 It actually shows where the existing 65 receiving environment currently 

is and it is only two properties compared to all of these which is a 15 

significant number. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so are you familiar with the Auckland Unitary Plan, their 

noise provisions? 

 20 

MR BONIS:   No, not to a point where I can provide expert evidence on it. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you. 

 

 Now looking at paragraph 70.1 of your evidence-in-chief, page 17, so 25 

can you read that 70.1 out to me? 

 

MR BONIS:   CIAL has a duty to manage its engine testing operations and 

measure compliance within the 65 Ldn engine testing compliance 

contour. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   So that duty is how you read notified provisions or the revised 

provisions or something else? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, there is a particular rule in there in relation to compliance 35 

with the 65 Ldn engine testing contour. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so do you agree that the company also has a general duty 

to manage unreasonable noise? 

 40 

MR BONISH:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Section 16. 

 

MR BONISH:   Yes, and it applies to anyone, yes. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   And I think you already answered this question but you agree 

that in terms of the reasonable noise issue around engine testing we do 

have a contest between experts? 

 

MR BONISH:   Yes, I know there is. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   And as a planner it is not your job to decide in terms of 

preference - - - 

 

MR BONISH:   It would be unhelpful if I tried to. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you.  Your paragraph 80 of your evidence-in-chief, 

this is where you are relying on the evidence of Mr Day and 

Mr Morgan and Mr Copeland about engine testing enclosures which we 

have heard quite a lot of evidence about, haven’t we? 15 

 

MR BONISH:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so you make a comment that it will be very costly to 

implement.  Is that your opinion after analysis or is that just a general 20 

statement? 

 

MR BONISH:   That is a statement based on the evidence of Mr Copeland. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And we have seen evidence that, I think at Spirit of St Louis 25 

Airport there is a US$3.4m cost that is in a brochure that, I think, was 

attached with Mr Sugrue’s evidence? 

 

MR BONISH:   I did see that and again, the 8 to 10 million reliance on 

Mr Copeland’s evidence is the basis of the costing. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, that is your judgement, that it is costly in the scheme of 

things for the size and scale of the airport? 

 

MR BONISH:   In a relative sense, yes, that is a matter of my view.  I guess I 35 

would not read too much into that. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You are giving us evidence that it will be very costly to 

implement.  Those words “very costly” imply to me that it is very 

difficult for the company or Air New Zealand or anyone else to actually 40 

bear that cost.  You are not saying that to us, are you? 

 

MR BONISH:   No I do not and I do not think the words go to that.  They 

simply identify that there is a significant outlay with the 8 to 10 million 

for a GRE as identified in the evidence of Mr Copeland. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Right, just below there under 81 you consider that land use 

constraints associated with engine testing contours represent the most 

appropriate regulatory response.  Is that most appropriate for who? 

 

MR BONISH:   My understanding from looking at the evidence of Mr Day and 5 

relying on his consideration as to it is reasonable or it is not creating 

unreasonable noise and also the evidence of Mr Morgan as to the 

operational parameters around engine testing and the mitigation that is 

proposed to bring the constrained contours into being, that that does 

represent an appropriate regulatory response with both the compliance 10 

provisions with that as well. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you are relying on Mr Day and Mr Morgan’s evidence? 

 

MR BONISH:   Yes. 15 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Have you also heard and considered the evidence of Dr Chiles, 

Professor Clarke, and residents in the area? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   I have, and as I indicated in my summary whilst Dr Chiles and 

Dr Clarke identify different metrics and different alternatives they do 

not actually take the next step and identify what the associated planning 

consequences of that would be and then how do you then bring that 25 

back to sort of a Section 5 consideration as to what is the more 

appropriate or otherwise. 

 

 So the only complete package that I have in front of me is either that 

provided by the City Council or by the airport.  So I am saying, with a 30 

choice of those two options that are actually fully fleshed out, I prefer 

the option put forward by the airport. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Even on the basis that there is expert evidence before us that 

there are significant and substantial health effects on residents? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   Again it comes down to reliance on a particular witness and I 

guess the point again is all I have seen fully fleshed is the City Council 

and also the airport’s suite of provisions.  I haven’t seen from Dr Chiles 

where those effects are felt at that unreasonable level, what a metric 40 

would be to regular and manage those effects and then correspondingly 

and working backward what that may mean to the operational contours 

and whether or not that restricts of does things to the way that that 

operation can be undertaken. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   But you wouldn’t be adverse to actually looking at another 

metric in - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   No, not at all, no. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   - - - process? 

 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, okay, thank you.  I will try and keep the next - - - 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, I will try and answer the questions a bit more succinctly 

as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you are fine, Mr Bonis. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so we are moving to paragraph `128 and this is about the 

University submissions.  Now, are you, I am a bit confused with both 

yours and some of the other evidence, your relief the Panel would need 

to actually make some changes to proposal 21 rather than in these 20 

general provisions, is that the proposition? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is correct and my understanding is that the matters in 

relation to sensitive activities for both Clearwater, the University and 

also for the schools were set aside to this particular hearing so there 25 

was the ability to sort of revisit those provisions. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So I was on that Special Purpose School zone Panel and I think 

I can recall it being deferred but you haven’t given any evidence to that 

Panel, have you? 30 

 

MR BONIS:   No, my understanding from legal counsel was that this was the 

venue or forum by which those matters would be addressed. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And that decision hasn’t been released, has it? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   That is my understanding. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so this is one of these overlap issues where - - - 

 40 

MR BONIS:   I am afraid so. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, that is helpful, thank you.  In your 128 you talk about 

this “nuanced consideration”.  Now, again that is a strange term for a 

planner, can you just explain to me what that is all about? 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Using the Bonis dictionary is not allowed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is not that uncommon. 

 

MR BONIS:   I am not sure whether that was a subtle dig or not, your Honour. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It was. 

 

MR BONIS:   It probably was.  There is a couple of alternatives in front of the 

Panel; one is that there is a hurdle with 6.3.5.4 and the evidence that I 10 

have always provided to the Panel around the avoidance component of 

that policy for every other zone is that it relates to a non-complying 

activity status.  I simply see that as the way that the flow of logic goes 

between the objectives and policies in the rule. 

 15 

 The alternative is whether or not a less restrictive status can be afforded 

given, and I have identified this very clearly in my evidence, that the 

assets of the University are not transferable, you know, there is regional 

value, all those sort of things.  Can you balance sort of the old school 

planning of can you actually balance those provisions up and say, 20 

“Well, look from a consenting point of view we fall here”, it can’t be 

non-complying because, as we indicated before, it is prescriptive and 

what can you actually do about it in terms of consenting as it goes 

through. 

 25 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

 So is there a way where you can reconcile the conflicts between 

sensitive activity at the University, and how that is identified within the 

RPS and the proposed District Plan and the recognition of the airport as 30 

strategic infrastructure and the duty to avoid sensitive activities.  So it 

could be permitted or controlled with written approval by the airport, it 

could be as I have suggested sort of restricted discretionary.  There is 

an alternative which is, is there a nuanced proposition based on 

evidence, which I don’t think is before this Panel, as to of all the range 35 

of activities that are experienced at the University are there some 

particular specific ones that are more sensitive than others?   

 

 So, for example, would the Panel focus purely on preschools, the types 

of accommodation where it is not communal and it is sort of more of 40 

that living and amenity sort of nature but I don’t believe that evidence 

has been provided. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Do you know the Canterbury University campus, have you 

been there? 45 
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MR BONIS:   Not in an educational sense, but I have wandered around it. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And just looking at how it operates, and this is following a 

question from his Honour, does what you are trying to achieve here, the 

company, provide any useful resource management purpose? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   And again the answer remains the same, I think it would be at 

the margins if anything, it really is around those, you know, are there 

some particular nuanced activities, and I don’t believe that you have the 

evidence in front of you that distinguishes those in terms of are some 10 

activities more sensitive than others in terms of the range of sensitive 

activities as identified within the RPS and in the District Plan. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But we could look at those and we could take submissions and - 

- - 15 

 

MR BONIS:   Absolutely, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you would encourage us to do that to see if there is a way 

through this, if there is no or very marginal resource management 20 

purpose in play? 

 

MR BONIS:   That certainly would be my preference, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  Now, I think this is my last question, 25 

around bird strike, your paragraph 136, again I found this a bit 

intriguing; you say “I consider the 32AA evaluation and the 

precautionary principle associated with such”. 

 

 Now, are you aware that the precautionary principle, the precautionary 30 

approach has a certain legal meaning in our jurisdiction? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, and I probably extended that a little too far within this 

paragraph, and I acknowledge that. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   So would you like to change that, would you like to tell us what 

you really meant? 

 

MR BONIS:   I think I can just delete. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Delete the words in brackets? 

 

MR BONIS:   Delete the reference, yes. 
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MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  And look one last question, you also have this 

nuanced regulatory response under 141 but I presume it is in that same 

- - - 

 

MR BONIS:   It is in the dictionary of Bonis, I think we have referred to it as, 5 

yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, look I think I have exhausted my questions. 

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you, sir. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:    Thank you, Mr Bonis. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 15 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, sir.  Mr Daysh has nailed all my questions bar one.  

There has been reference made to “atypical weather”, is that defined 

anywhere? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, it is not, not in a planning context from what I understand. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson - - - 

 

MS HURIA:   Should it be?  Sorry, sir. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, you said one question. 

 

MS HURIA:   I was thinking.  Should it be, it feels a little vague to me? 

 

MR BONIS:   I think the term in itself probably is at face value.  It was 30 

included in the notified plan, it is also incorporated within my 

evidence. 

 

 The rationale for why I am not unhappy to put it forward is that there is 

still a monitoring and response requirement for the airport if they use 35 

that particular clause.  If there is an atypical weather event that results 

in a carve-out there is a monitoring requirement for the airport to 

actually say “Well, this was the atypical weather event, this is what 

happened as a result of that and here is the monitoring results in terms 

of the overuse of the engine testing or the operational noise contours as 40 

a consequence”. 

 

MS HURIA:   So that would depend on the circumstances put forward? 

 

MR BONIS:   It does, yes.  There is a regulatory response that helps it. 45 
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MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Bonis, I have some questions and they will 5 

hop all over the place I am afraid because I haven’t organised them.  

Just looking at the University the Special Purpose zone for the 

University, I wasn’t involved in that hearing, but as I understand it, the 

Special Purpose Zones have another zone that sits with them, in other 

words it is like a, it is not an overlay, it is a zone but you can also do a 10 

whole lot of other things in that zone that relates to another zone. 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct, that is how I see it. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   So for the University of Canterbury, what is that zone? 

 

MR BONIS:   Possibly a question better put to Mr Miller, but my 

understanding is, it is a residential suburban and a residential mixed 20 

density. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it is a residential zone? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it is as much a residential zone as the neighbouring 

residential zone, but it has the additional ability to have university 

activities, is that how you understand it?  I will ask Mr Miller this. 

 30 

MR BONIS:   Yes, that is the mechanics of how I think the plan is trying to 

provide for those particular things, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And, as I understand it, certainly in the operative Plan and to 

a certain extent in this plan, special purpose zoning and scheduling are 35 

alternative techniques, I think some churches are scheduled, some 

might be zone, guest accommodation we are going to hear that later, 

but in this hearing it could be one or the other. 

 

 If the scheduling technique had been used for schools say or 40 

universities and the activities were scheduled within a living zone, 

would exactly the same outcome be achieved for the activities that 

could happen at the university as having the two, the residential zone 

and the special purpose zone sitting alongside one another? 

 45 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it is certainly a possibility, yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   So it is sort of all in the name, I mean could you have called 

the university “living zone university” and achieve the same, like 

residential suburban, bespoke university if it - - -  

 5 

MR BONIS:   In terms of the notation, yes I guess. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And would that then have changed the way that zone was 

seen in terms of the RPS policy 6.3.5.4? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   Yes, that brings us back to the debate, and that has now been 

answered in terms of 6.3.5 in the Panel’s decision on that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But it is a matter of naming as opposed to – there are - - -  

 15 

MR BONIS:   Yes, that is a prospect, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  So just while we are talking about that policy then, 

in a different context – perhaps if we could have 6.3.5.4 up. 

 20 

 You have acknowledged to Mr Daysh that including by avoiding noise 

sensitive activities was in the 50 airport noise contour, only applies to 

operational noise and it, that part of that policy does not apply to engine 

testing, that is my understanding of your evidence. 

 25 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I suppose for as a planner, what is the relevance of that in 

terms of how one might plan for engine testing versus noise versus 

operational noises, do you read anything into that because of the 30 

different way the plan should approach those two different sorts of 

noise? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I do not think you can, I think you are instead the focus 

becomes the preceding component of clause 4 and also clause 5 in 35 

terms of the reverse sensitivity issues and amenity effects associated 

with those aspects of these policies. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But does it provide – but if you just look at the first part of 4 

and 5, does that provide in your view some more flexibility in the way 40 

noise sensitive activities that might be affected by engine testing noise 

could be treated in any particular context? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right. 
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 So I notice that and I am not sure whether this is – and you can tell me 

whether this is the way the City Council has chosen to suggest rules in 

the 4 March version or whether it is something that the airport has 

asked for or agreed with – but under the 50 dBA engine testing noise 5 

contour between 50 and 55, some zone seem to be treated differently 

than others, there does not seem to be, as I can see it, and I could be 

wrong, a land use control, controlling noise sensitive activities 

proposed in this 4 March version within the residential zones, but there 

is in the rural zone - - -  10 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and the closing position of the Council on the rural 

zones, there was the same land use controls on noise sensitive activities 

put in the engine testing as for the operational rules. 

 

 So what is your position on different zones and different way of sort of 20 

treating noise sensitive activities in that 50 dB engine testing contour? 

 

MR BONIS:   My view, and it again it comes down to reliance on Mr Day’s 

evidence, he sought to treat both the mechanics of the New Zealand 

Standard 6805 and apply that also to engine testing on the basis of what 25 

he sees is the appropriate metric but also - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no, I am talking about the controls over land use 

activities – on noise sensitive activities? 

 30 

MR BONIS:   I see them as the same, based on reliance of Mr Day’s evidence. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is it your view, and I do not know if you really address us 

on this, that there should be controls over noise sensitive activity in 

residential zones in the 50 dBA engine testing contour that apply within 35 

residential zones and Ms Dixon does not agree with that, is that a 

difference? 

 

MR BONIS:   That is my understanding, but it is kind of a moot - - -  

 40 

MS DAWSON:   No, I want your opinion. 

 

MR BONIS:   My view is that yes, the same standards should apply, but it is a 

moot point because within the 50 dBA - - -  

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   No, I am going to ask you about that next, just tell me about, 

if it was just engine testing – If it was only engine testing and it was a 

residential zone and we have a different policy context, would you be 

recommending applying controls on noise sensitive activities? 

 5 

MR BONIS:   I would think the policy basis for requiring that on its own 

would be diminished, so probably not, no. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No.  And what about rural zones, if we forgot about this 

overlapping issue and just said for engine testing in a rural zone - - -  10 

 

MR BONIS:   Between the 50 and 55? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, which is quite a bit? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   Probably the same, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The same, yes, so you do not think there is a strong enough 

policy to require controls on noise - - -  

 20 

MR BONIS:   In terms of nexus, no. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and I think that is consistent with Ms Dixon’s position, 

is it not, she cannot see that there is a strong basis for that? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So then we come to this overlapping question, where the two 

lots of contours have been brought now to the point where much of it, 

not all of them, but much of it overlaps between the operational 30 

contours and the engine testing contours, and the evidence for the 

airport mentions that quite a few times. 

 

 So what is the planning relevance of that?  I mean, why is that of any 

planning relevance to us that one contour overlaps so it does not matter 35 

what you are – that you get rules as a gross result of that? 

 

MR BONIS:   I guess from a regulatory imposition point of view, because 

there is not an increased regulatory burden, my view is that, it is 

appropriate to have consistent rules between the two, so that is the 40 

view. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if you have got one rule you may as well have another? 

 

MR BONIS:   Well, and it is the same rule, so there is no - - -  45 
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MS DAWSON:   But you have got a double whammy in terms of the noise that 

you are considering? 

 

MR BONIS:   In terms of what you are subject to, there is the two sources of 

noise, yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   And if by any chance you got the opportunity to make a 

resource consent, then the applicant would need to look at those two 

noise sources, even though you have just told me that you do not think 

one of them is justified? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you for that. 

 15 

 Now just a short question, just so that I know, I asked – I cannot 

remember who I asked this morning about the airport protection 

surfaces and what is – is it – am I right in thinking now that the airport 

protection surfaces have been rolled over in exactly the same way from 

the operative Plan to the proposed plan? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, as have the rules. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and so the starting points are exactly the same and the 

slopes as far as you are concerned are exactly the same? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  You also talk about bird – I think you mentioned to 

Ms Limmer, that the bird strike rules for waterbodies are the same as 30 

what is in the operative Plan, is that correct? 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   The storm water management ones, there is some inconsistency 35 

between a number of the provisions, but, for example, the business 5 

zone, the business 8 zone, Islington Park and also at Templeton, 

waterbody creation are restricted discretionary and new storm water 

facilities are permitted as subject to all sorts of standards that I will 

(INDISTINCT 0.34). 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   It was not all zones, it was just in the ones you have just 

mentioned, were they were recent zones that have come along with 

plan changes? 

 45 
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MR BONIS:   They were, they were and not only that, some of them were well 

outside the bird hazard management area 1 so some of them were some 

distance from the airport, that is sort of the three to eight kilometres 

which (INDISTINCT 0.52). 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Are they ones that the airport has had an influence over in 

more recent years? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Coming back to – I am a wee bit loathed to do this but I think 

I will. 

 

 Policy 6.1.1.1.4 and this word “limit”.  I know you think that, I think 

you have said that using the word “limit” in the context of “limit the 15 

noise generated by aircraft movements”, could be interpreted too 

specifically, too focused away. 

 

 But there is the rule that says the airport has got to keep the noise from 

aircraft movements within the 65 contour and calculate that over a 20 

three month period or something. 

 

 Is that not a limit that noise generated by aircraft movements have to be 

limited to? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   It is, but again it is the one – that is the discussion I was trying to 

have with Mr Day – I t is the way that that is expressed within the 

particular policy and the codified rule regime itself is around the 

management of operational noise and also the compliance components 

of it and the “carve-out”, for me it is management response limiting the 30 

noise that comes from aircraft operation, not necessarily just limiting 

noise from aircraft movements.  It is broader than that. 

 

 So it is a way of encapsulating that within the policy itself. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   But you are not saying there are no limits? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, not at all, and I am not suggesting that “limit” does not have 

a purpose in there somewhere, it is just perhaps not at the front end and 

expressed in the way that it is. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Nearly there? 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   I have got one more question. 
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 And it is the question over that – I think I asked Mr Boswell about it.  

For engine testing, for example, when it is to be measured over seven 

days and then reported on at the end of the year and the City Council 

might get a report for a while after that and it is reporting on a contour 5 

that is an amalgam of lots of seven day measurements at the 65, and yet 

people are worried about what happens nearer their houses. 

 

 Do you think that that regime – which I think you have just described 

to me as a management regime for noise – gives adequate certainty and 10 

clarity for residents as to whether their noise is being adequately 

managed or not? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, it simply does not, and from what I understand from Mr Day 

and it is a shame that that question was not put to him.  I understand 15 

that the predictive modelling that they used, can actually provide up to 

date identification of how close they are within those contours, and that 

can be done on a rolling basis.  And I think that was one of the options 

that were provided to the Council in terms of the mediation to provide 

quarterly monitoring rather than yearly, and back to the 12 months. 20 

 

 I understand that there is a system that allows for the provision of up to 

date information as it comes to hand. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The predictive is really for the airport to manage itself, so it 25 

does not exceed the noise levels, but the reporting on any exceedances 

is an amalgam type reporting that happens as an annual basis.  And so 

that the monitoring system is not going to help the residents who might 

think that they have an exceedance, but they do not know and will not 

know for quite some time, if ever. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bonis wait for the question. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So do you think that from a planner understanding this, sort 

of someone wanting to know are they receiving more noise than the 35 

airport is allowed to issue, that the mechanism set up in here would 

answer that question clearly and with certainty for a resident? 

 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 40 



 Page 662 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is the end of my questions, thank 

you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bonis, just a couple of matters that remain to be 

answered. 

 

 In regard to the Transpower line matter, first of all, if I am trying to 

conceive of the relevant parties who could contribute to a resource 10 

management outcome, and I want to run them past you, they would be 

the airport, Transpower and possibly Civil Aviation Authority together 

with the Council; would that be correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Related to that and the evidence of Mr Munro, beyond the 

interests that the airport is concerned about and Transpower would be 

concerned about, can you conceive of any other resource management 

issue other than that safety issue, that might be relevant to a resource 20 

management decision? 

 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Those two matters would combine in my mind to 25 

suggesting restricted discretionary activity with notification limited to 

those parties.  Why would I be wrong about that? 

 

MR BONIS:   The only hesitation that I have with agreeing with you, sir, is the 

policy which seeks to avoid obstruction, so it may be a case of 30 

providing that exemption within the policy itself – I will just find that 

for you - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but just thinking about that while you do, so with the 

restricted discretionary activity class, then there is every avenue to 35 

consider and give due weight to policies and what they express about 

resource management outcomes not withstanding it being non-

complying.  That is correct, isn’t it? 

 

MR BONIS:   Providing that the assessment matters are clear on that, then that 40 

is my understanding. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And was there something in the policy you think should 

be modified? 

 45 
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MR BONIS:   No, I think that either alternative is appropriate.  The approach 

that I have taken with non-complying is that policy 6.7.1.1.1, avoidance 

of physical obstructions, it starts with “avoid”, but the alternative that 

you have suggested is a very focused and specific way of dealing with 

that issue providing that the assessment matters extended to the matters 5 

that are identified within that policy. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Mr Munro informed us of the role that the 

aeronautical study plays in circumstances where a real world, if you 

like, scenario has to be applied that goes beyond the guidelines issued 10 

by Civil Aviation and described the role of the director. 

 

 Do you think it would be useful for the provisions, whether it be policy 

or elsewhere, give parties proper direction on that? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  I think you have been thoroughly tested on a 

range of things that I had beyond that. 

 20 

 You will recall the evidence of Mr Day and he gave it here as well, 

around the relationship between amenity effects and the protection of 

the strategic asset called the airport, and those two matters correlate to 

justify the direction around the 50 contour; do you recall that? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now we can get ourselves tied up with what reverse 

sensitivity means as a concept, but in behind that what really is of 

concern strategically is the proclivity of a community to find it so 30 

objectionable, say noise, that they wish to curtail the strategic operation 

of the airport; that is fair? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And therefore that is where I struggle with the logic 

because that logic would say to me that when we do that to an existing 

community, we bring forward that strategic risk, what is wrong with 

my thinking? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   For me it is around the cumulative and ongoing issues associated 

with that approach, so it’s - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So cumulatively it starts with ignoring a number of 

existing residents, so why does it not increase the strategic risk? 45 
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MR BONIS:   I think it is seeking to preclude the cumulative increase of that 

risk. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So why does it not increase the cumulative risk? 

 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, sir, could I get you to ask the – start the question again? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it obviously comes back to how we evaluate 10 

evidence but if you take the starting point, Dr Chiles’ evidence, and I 

think he answered a question that he thought it would be numbered in 

the thousands, the catchment of existing people that would be 

unreasonably affected by noise as a result of the proposal being put 

forward on behalf of the airport. 15 

 

 Now, that is a matter for us to test that evidence and evaluate it against 

Mr Day, but if he is right then does it not follow that that represents a 

strategic risk of objection to the airport’s activities? 

 20 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it does. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in terms of the Regional Policy Statement directions 

on integrated management, including 6.3.4, does not it cause us to 

consider whether or not it would test whether or not that policy would 25 

be given effect to? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on the bird strike issue – I think you have been done 30 

to death on this as Mr Shaw might have been.  Or hopefully not done to 

death, but certainly - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   It is feeling that way. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, hopefully not that, but it seems to me regardless or 

putting aside the precautionary principle which you have done in your 

evidence, here is one of my problems. 

 

 Your foundation for your provisions on this issue is Mr Shaw. 40 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Shaw’s theory of regulation is very strongly premised 

on his understanding of the precautionary principle; that is in his 45 

evidence.  He accepted that he would need to reconsider his 
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recommendations if he was wrong about whether the precautionary 

principle had the legal influence he thought it did in New Zealand.  Do 

you accept that? 

 

MR BONIS:   I accepted that is what he said, yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, if we calibrate the extent of additional regulation you 

propose – which he accepted as being appropriate even though it was 

less than what he recommended – but nevertheless on his premise, 

precautionary principle, he could live with your form of regulation but 10 

your form of regulation is more restrictive than other propositions and 

yet Mr Shaw does not provide you necessarily with a safe foundation. 

 

 So would that not suggest that if Mr Shaw thinks that his 

recommendations would need to be recalibrated if he is wrong about 15 

the precautionary principle, that you need to recalibrate yours? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, but I think if I slavishly applied what Mr Shaw was 

suggesting then I would agree with you entirely.  I have not sought to 

do that.  I have sought to look at a like regulatory response based on the 20 

fundamentals of the risk profiles provided by Mr Shaw and apply that 

under the context of the Statement of Expectations and also 3.3.2. 

 

 The resultant regulatory package, in my view, sits appropriately in 

dealing with an issue that I think Mr Shaw would prefer a far more 25 

heavy-handed regulatory approach but, in my view, is appropriate 

within the context of the statutory framework that we are looking at so 

no, I think it holds up in a robust sense given that my first step, and I 

made that clear in my summary, was to filter Mr Shaw’s evidence in 

that first step. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Well, that is where I have got a problem, you see, in 

terms of that filtering process which I hear what you are saying but, of 

course, we must do the same if he is wrong about that principle bearing 

in mind how strongly it underpins his own theory and bearing in mind 35 

his concession in questioning. 

 

 But never mind, if we just take the substance of his evidence – tell me 

if I am wrong about this – I think he said that ploughing up a field 

creates a significant risk of black-backed gulls gathering and eating up 40 

the worms.  Did you hear that one? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And yet your recommendation to us is not to impose 

restrictions on that activity, correct?  Just answer the question, do not 

explain it at this point. 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 5 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if he is right about that, if you were to grab the 

farmer’s field that was being ploughed and instead put in a large storm 10 

water pond; insofar as the black-backed gulls are concerned, the risk 

would be reduced, would it not? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just appreciating that you have tried to make the 

regulation proportionate, and I am interested in your permitted activity 

regime, what do you think about the proposition – did you hear the 

questioning I asked him about the concept of co-operative management 

with landowners?  About the proposition, for instance, of the off-airport 20 

management plan being something which could be developed in 

consultation with stakeholders and where stakeholders had entered into 

that management plan arrangement with the airport, that that would be 

something sufficient to give them permitted activity status? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   The concern that I have with that approach as an alternative to 

the permitted activity status is that in some instances it would require a 

management regime and uncertainty around that that extends beyond 

the permitted activity regime that I have recommended.  It actually 

would seek a greater level of control and uncertainty. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the difference between that and, say, your 

proposition to Isaac Conservation Management Trust about the 

desirability of an MoU for dealing with startling of wildlife from noise? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   The proposition of the MoU was on the basis that we are going 

through this process.  There is an issue that has been raised and it is a 

way of addressing that issue without a rule and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    So, please answer my question. 40 

 

MR BONIS:   Hopefully there are both parties in that particular instance that 

are keen to resolve that issue.  I am not - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Would you please answer my question. 45 
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MR BONIS:    I am not sure that the community and stakeholders would be 

interested in resolving the bird strike issue in the same way.  There is 

no regulatory - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And this is despite the fact that Mr Shaw makes very 5 

explicit reference to the importance of stakeholder engagement in his 

off-airport management plan, in his chapter 3? 

 

MR BONIS:    Yes, and I think in terms of liaison and in consultation I agree 

with him but if that extends to an imposition of control I am not sure 10 

that it would extend that far. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if you had a chance to become appraised of other 

Panels’ enquiries into the issue of – you may not have but ecological 

management issues and farmers and the need for a co-operative 15 

approach to some of these management issues between landowner and 

regulator? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, I have not, sorry. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But to round out your answer; your considered position is 

that it would not be sufficient for the management of the risk issue that 

you see based on the understanding that you have of the evidence of 

bird strike risk. 

 25 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, thank you very much, Mr Bonis, and we 

will just go back through everyone starting with Mr Beatson.  Any 

questions arising? 30 

 

MR BEATSON:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Limmer, any questions arising? 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Chapman? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing? 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Appleyard, any questions arising or re-

examination? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [2.49 pm] 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I have only got two. 

 

 Starting from the back and the first is a question that His Honour was 

asking you around – and I may be précising the question wrong – but 

the questions around strategic infrastructure dealing with the risk to it 10 

of having existing residential exposed to unreasonable noise.  Do you 

know what the level is that CIAL regards as unreasonable noise? 

 

MR BONIS:   I do not know the level that CIAL specifies but - - - 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   Or sorry, Mr Day. 

 

MR BONIS:   I do not know the level that Mr Day indicated.  Perhaps a 

starting point was 65 dBA. 

 20 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and what is your understanding of what the airport 

does or would do with regard to existing properties within the 65? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   My understanding is that the airport approaches those parties in 

terms of purchasing properties in the first instance that is what I 

understand it is. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And how many properties in that category at the 30 

moment? 

 

MR BONIS:   Within the 65 or their own body - - -  

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Actual 65. 35 

 

MR BONIS:   Two. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  And the second question related to some 

questions Ms Dawson put to you, and I think the conclusion of what 40 

she said, sorry, was that you had accepted that there was nothing to 

justify the 50 engine testing. 

 

 My understanding of your answer – I just want you to give you the 

opportunity – was that you were talking about, in a specific policy 45 

sense as opposed to an evidential sense? 
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MR BONIS:   Yes, the point that I was raising was, that there is no explicit 

policy identification and consequent actions within the RPS as to the 

engine testing contour at 50, whereas there is with the operational 

contours. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, I was left with the impression you had given the 

answer that there was no justification in terms of the overall case and I 

just wanted to give you the opportunity to clarify that. 

 10 

MR BONIS:   Well that perhaps becomes a matter for Mr Day’s evidence 

rather than mine. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, I have no further questions. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Appleyard.  Now, Mr Lawry, did you – 

you asked me earlier on – Mr Bonis, I am sorry, thank you very much 

for your assistance so far, it may well be that we call on parties for 

some further assistance but I will deal with that after the afternoon 

adjournment but you are free to go for the moment, thank you. 20 

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.51 pm] 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, you indicated earlier on that there were some 

matters that you had some additional material that you wanted to 

address on in regard to, I think was it Professor Clark, and I said, “Well 

if you were to check with other counsel about those and I will deal with 

you later in the day”, so what is the position? 30 

 

MR LAWRY:   My understanding his position that CIAL would not agree to 

that document going in and – is that the position? 

 

MR……….:   Yes, (INDISTINCT 2.18). 35 

 

MR LAWRY:   And Air New Zealand as well, my decision on that is that there 

is enough in the transcript, even though it is not as full as the other 

document prepared, then I am to step back from that and I cannot call 

the witness again and I am happy to go as what we are. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so what we will do – thank you very much – 

what we will do is, I will check with the Secretariat as to where the 

transcripts have got to – is it in front of counsel yet?  No. 

 45 
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 Okay, well I will see if that can be attended to quickly and we can deal 

with that. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Is that the two documents? I am not unclear if you are 

objecting to both documents – to both documents? 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Interesting, okay. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   I can just indicate - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   - - - it came in after Mr Day had come and gone and I 15 

have not had the opportunity to even look at them or cross-examine 

Professor Clark - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Absolutely fine.  In light of Mr Lawry’s acceptance of 

that too, there is no issue. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, no, give that back to me - - - 

 25 

DISCUSION 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, is that all? 

 

 I think it is just on the transcript of Mr Clark on noise, so I take it that 30 

is the bases covered – all right, well we will take the afternoon 

adjournment a little bit early because there is some matters I want to 

discuss with my Panel members. 

 

ADJOURNED [2.54 pm] 35 

 

RESUMED [3.11 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, I understand there is going to be a reorganisation of 

some witnesses with Ms McClelland (INDISTINCT 0.13) and Ms 40 

Thorpe (ph)? 

 

MR LAING:  Yes, I am very grateful to the Panel for accommodating that 

because she has a plane to catch. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   We are obviously running a little bit behind and obviously 

that is trying to accommodate people where we can, but before we do 

that, there is some other reason to delay people a little bit, and I want to 

make some observations on behalf of the Panel and this is to be 

followed by a Minute. 5 

 

 It relates specifically to the question of noise from engine testing 

insofar as it relates to humans and leaves aside the questions regarding 

the reliefs being sought, at this stage, by Isaac Conservation Trust in 

regard to wildlife.  10 

 

 So the Panel has heard the Airport’s, Air New Zealand’s, and Council’s 

witnesses on the matter of engine testing noise and appropriate 

planning responses to this that includes technical experts, Dr Chiles, 

Mr Day and Professor Clarke. On those matters we have also heard 15 

various submitters attest to their experiences of regular sleep 

disturbance. 

 

 A number of those residents are from the Bishopdale area.  As is proper 

for experts, Mr Day and Mr Bonis made some helpful concessions in 20 

cross-examination as did Dr Chiles and Professor Clarke, and in regard 

to Panel questioning. As a general observation, the sooner such 

concessions are able to be legitimately made the better. 

 

 The Panel is not satisfied that it has enough information before it to 25 

determine the most appropriate package of plan provisions.  It will 

issue a Minute making directions for further expert conferencing of 

noise experts and may extend that to include planning experts. 

 

 Following that, it can be expected that directions will be made for those 30 

witnesses to be recalled for cross-examination and questioning on the 

outcomes of that conferencing.  That will likely involve, what we call, 

hot-tubbing, whereby all relevant witnesses are called at the same time. 

 

 On the testing of evidence, we are not satisfied that we have before us 35 

all relevant planning options for addressing engine testing noise in 

order that we can complete our obligations under sections 32 and 

32AA.  

 

 Specifically we are not satisfied that the proposed provisions, including 40 

those proposed by the Council, the Airport and Air New Zealand, will 

firstly, ensure appropriate receiving environment outcomes for 

residents, and secondly, provide appropriately for the protection of the 

airport as a strategic asset for the interests of the greater community. 

 45 
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 The evidence indicates that the proposals before us have suffered from 

time pressures on preparation. For instance, that is revealed in the 

relatively late modifications proposed to engine testing regimes and 

related to that, modifications to noise contours proposed by the airport 

and supported by Air New Zealand. 5 

 

 Central to that is the question of whether or not that proposed regime 

will ensure unreasonable noise impacts do not occur in the receiving 

environment. 

 10 

 What is or is not unreasonable clearly is a question involving 

contextual judgement and the noise experts rightly acknowledge the 

role of the Panel in making that judgement. 

 

 The context includes both the nature of the receiving environment and 15 

its proximity to the airport as regionally, and indeed, nationally 

important strategic infrastructure. 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 20 

 It also includes consideration of what can be practicably achieved.  

While Section 16 of the Act provides an explicit legal duty concerning 

best practicable option, our primary obligation is to evaluate options 

under Sections 32 and 32AA.  However in a practical sense BPO 

provides potentially a useful reference point for testing the 25 

appropriateness of options for addressing environmental noise. 

 

 We acknowledge Mr Day’s opinion that the receiving environment 

noise is not unreasonable but note the important element of contextual 

judgement inherent in determining that.  We observe however 30 

Mr Day’s acknowledgement that what is reasonable is a matter of some 

debate in the range of 50 to 65 dBA.  We also note some synergy, at 

least on the matter of residential amenity with the position that the 

regional policy statement and the Panel’s earlier decisions take on the 

50 contour. 35 

 

 We acknowledge the difficulty Mr Day expressed as to what receiving 

environment noise standard Dr Chiles is recommending for.  As such 

while he expressed concern as to the implications that a 45 dBA 

receiving environment standard would have for the viability of engine 40 

testing at the airport, a matter that would be of concern were it to risk 

viability, he cannot at this point determine whether any number other 

than that could be achieved practicably, that is at a level below what he 

has recommended for. 

 45 
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 One impediment to us is the difference between Mr Day on the one 

hand and Professor Clarke and Dr Chiles on the other on the 

measurement approach that should be taken.  However, while Mr Day 

disagrees with Dr Chiles concerning the appropriateness of using 

NZS 6602:2008 and its measurement methodology, he acknowledges 5 

what the standard itself is, namely a relevant standard for engine noise 

testing.  Further Professor Clarke appears to recommend a middle 

ground approach for our consideration. 

 

 We record our preference is for the application of a measurement 10 

method that best corresponds to the actual noise experiences of 

residents and best ensures that nuisance issues can be addressed when 

they arise.  Otherwise residents are essentially left without a basis for 

confidence that impacts on them would be addressed, even if they 

complain, which not all members of the public do. 15 

 

 While we will of course reflect on all of the evidence, including 

Mr Day’s views about caution being applied in taking account of 

residents’ sleep disturbance experiences, nevertheless we have 

competing evidence before us including the direct factual experiences 20 

of residents.  So too other standards which we understand are reliably 

based on what Mr Day described to be proper scientific method. 

 

 Questions from Mr Daysh would show some Panel interest in the 

Auckland Unitary Plan approach particularly as it relates to noise 25 

management plans and the concept of a community liaison group.  We 

recognise that neither of these were recommendations in any of the 

evidence before us but invite consideration of those concepts in the 

process of witness caucusing. 

 30 

 The ultimate decision on what is an appropriate regimen for engine 

noise management involves a balance of competing considerations 

including as noted the true nature of the receiving environment, the 

relative proximity to other noise sources and the strategic importance of 

the airport.  Related to that it also occurs to us that any scenario where 35 

noise exposure of existing residents from engine testing is, such as to 

cause what Dr Chiles indicated was thousands of residents to be 

exposed to unreasonable noise, that represents a strategic risk to the 

airport. 

 40 

 We note that we recognise that a BPO type approach may need to 

involve a staged response to the evidence.  We record that the airport’s 

strategic importance relates to its role for the local community and its 

regional and wider economic and social importance, that is it is a 

concern going beyond the particular aspirations of the Airport 45 

Company itself. 
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 Mr Laing noted the availability of Dr Chiles should the Panel want 

assistance from further expert conferencing and that anticipates the 

need that we have determined we have. 

 5 

  [3.20 pm] 

 

 We note that these observations do not reflect any views of the Panel 

on other issues before us including in regard to the Isaac Conservation 

Trust submissions or any other noise or other topic. 10 

 

 Further, they are preliminary in the sense that they reflect our 

consideration to date of the tested evidence and are subject to not 

having heard any related party submissions on these matters other than 

those opening submissions that we have heard. 15 

 

 Thank you, that will be recorded on the transcript and the minute will 

issue tomorrow or as soon as we are able to get to it.  Yes, 

Ms Appleyard? 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sir, there is just one point I would like to raise in relation 

to this and this is specifically in relation to planners and noise experts 

and BPO.  I would have thought the equation (ph 1.00) is not going to 

be helpful unless we have some input from probably Air New Zealand 

on the practical side of anything that is come up with and whether that 25 

is just - and somehow we are going to have probably fit the airport on 

behalf of other operators and Air New Zealand into the mix somewhere 

because otherwise we have a disconnect between we have come up 

with something but the question about “Well, can we comply” is not 

answered. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And it can’t be answered by Mr Bonis or Mr Day. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you for that, Ms Appleyard, and that is 

understood.  I think we will make arrangements to ensure the proper 

technical and client advice is able to be received by those experts in the 

process of witness conferencing, such that the relevant experts would 

consider what joint statements they can issue as experts based on that 40 

information in that process, is that what you have in mind? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and I am just specifically I think Mr Morgan, I am 

not sure how far Mr Boswell’s, but just the practical implications of 

that is really what I am getting at, thank you. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Laing, I take it you would regard that as 

entirely appropriate? 

 

MR LAING:   I think it is inevitable, your Honour, just looking at the round as 

to where the noise source is coming from and what is practical.  I 5 

thoroughly agree about Air New Zealand’s involvement. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right.  Now, Mr Lawry, just to help you 

understand this, you will appreciate that the Panel’s need at this stage is 

for assistance from experts in regard to the various positions put by 10 

parties.  So the proposition that Ms Appleyard has put and Mr Laing 

has agreed to is proper in my view in the sense that it is simply there to 

provide an information service to assist the experts take an informed 

view on their opinions, all right?  It is not a form of mediation and it is 

not a form of multi-party participation but it is a form of expert 15 

conferencing as provided for under the Order in Council. 

 

MR LAWRY:   And will Mr Clarke be involved in that? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Mr Clarke would be if available, I have noted that.  I 20 

thought I had noted that in my notes and it may be on the transcript that 

I would anticipate all experts who are available in those areas.  So 

certainly Professor Clarke, if he is available, would be allowed to 

attend in some way.  He was an attendee at previous conferencing, 

wasn’t he? 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   Electronically he came in, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so obviously those are limits but we managed to live 

with them quite well yesterday I thought too.  All right, thank you. 30 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So is it Ms McClellan or Dr McClellan I should say. 

 35 

MR LAING:   Dr McClellan. 
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<RACHEL KATHERINE McCLELLAN, affirmed [3.24 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [3.24 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Good afternoon, Dr McClellan, your full name is Rachel 

Katherine McClellan? 

 5 

DR McCLELLAN:   It is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, doctor, I might just ask you to bring the microphone 

closer to you. 

 10 

MR LAING:   You have the qualifications and experience outlined in your 

evidence-in-chief? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I do. 

 15 

MR LAING:   And you have also prepared a statement of rebuttal evidence? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I have. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any corrections to either of the two 20 

statements? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   Would you now please confirm that they are true and correct? 25 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I confirm that. 

 

MR LAING:   Now could you please read your highlights package. 

 30 

DR McCLELLAN:   Certainly.  Bird strike is a serious issue for airport 

authorities potentially costing millions of dollars in damage to planes, 

delays and other indirect costs.  At worst bird strike can claim human 

lives.  Bird strikes can occur away from airports often involving birds 

travelling between habitats that are not necessarily associated with the 35 

airport. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

 No amount of on airport habitat and bird management will affect the 40 

rate of such bird strikes.  It is recognised that the land uses around 

airports have the potential to attract birds thereby bringing them into 

conflict with flight paths of planes during airport approach and 

departure. 

 45 
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 The International Civil Aviation Organisation recommends land use 

separation distances of three kilometres, eight kilometres and 

13 kilometres within which land uses that may comprise significant 

bird attractants are assessed and managed where possible.  These 

recommendations have been adopted in various forms in several 5 

countries including the United States and the UK.  This has occurred 

despite there being little evidence of their effect at reducing bird strike 

rates. 

 

 I do not support the adoption of Mr Shaw’s three, eight and 10 

13 kilometre land use distances and the extensive list of land uses that 

he recommends or Mr Bonis’ three and eight kilometre land use 

distances.  This is because international recommendations are based 

entirely on different bird communities to those present in New Zealand 

and their relevance to our bird fauna is unknown.  Habitats and 15 

landforms around Christchurch Airport are specific to Christchurch and 

bird movements will relate to those habitats. 

 

 Bird strike patterns at Christchurch Airport remain unknown, for 

example the proportions of off-airport versus onsite strikes and the 20 

height of strikes.  Objective relevant data that could inform decisions 

on minimum sizes of waterbodies and land use separation distances are 

not available.  Evidence that a more complex set of rules would 

mitigate bird strike risk is lacking. 

 25 

 Nevertheless, I recognise the seriousness of the issue and agree that 

some land uses are likely to increase the risk of bird strike at 

Christchurch International Airport, particularly those in close proximity 

to the airport.  For these reasons I suggest at this stage the use of a 

single land use distance of three kilometres and a limited number of 30 

land uses that require mitigation. 

 

 I accept that these suggestions also have in some cases little evidential 

basis.  I hope that this hearing process is a catalyst for further 

examination, analysis and study of this issue in Christchurch as there 35 

appears to be a vast amount of data that could be made available that 

has the potential to inform better decisions.  If such a collaborative 

assessment were to eventuate the results of the work should be used to 

modify, add to or simplify the rules that are established as part of this 

hearing process.  Thank you. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Actually Ms Hill is going to. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Ms Hill. 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS HILL [3.28 pm] 

 

MS HILL:   Good afternoon, Dr McClellan. 

 5 

DR McCLELLAN:   Good afternoon. 

 

MS HILL:   I just have a few short questions for you.  Firstly, you note in the 

introduction to your evidence-in-chief, paragraph 1.5, that you assisted 

the Rotorua District Council with an assessment of potential avifauna 10 

interactions with Rotorua International Airport? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Mm. 

 

MS HILL:   Did you suggest any mitigation of the proposed floating wetland in 15 

that scenario? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I strongly suggested that it wasn’t placed close to the 

international airport because I believed it would increase bird strike 

rates considerably, it has the potential to, sorry. 20 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you, that is helpful.  Can I quickly take you back and you 

discuss this in your summary as well as in your evidence-in-chief, to 

the statements about the US and the UK adopting the three kilometre 

and the eight kilometre land use controls and that is at paragraph 3.3 25 

and 9.12 of your evidence-in-chief.  And the basis for you 

recommending that an eight kilometre radius is not used in this context 

is that the bird populations, habitats and trends differ from those in the 

UK and the US to here, is that correct? 

 30 

DR McCLELLAN:   That is part of it, yes. 

 

MS HILL:   And so do you have any evidence though that there is a 

correspondingly less of a hazard in New Zealand than in the UK and 

the US? 35 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   No, I don’t. 

 

MS HILL:   Okay. 

 40 

DR McCLELLAN:    No, but I do, if I could extend on that a little more, those 

land separation distances have been in place in the United States for 

example since 2002 I believe, so 14 years ago, and approximately 

six/eight years after that, Richard Dolbeer who I have quoted 

extensively in my evidence, wrote a paper which talked of the fact, he 45 

re-analysed bird strike data for the US and he found that bird strike 
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rates on airports had dropped, whereas bird strike rates off airports 

were actually increasing. 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 5 

 And to me that is one piece of evidence that suggests that the land use 

separation distances do not appear to be working in the United States at 

least. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Doctor, just pause, just for the transcript, during that 10 

answer the microphone was moved and Dr McClellan said the words 

“it is okay”, those words related to the moving of the microphone and 

do not relate to her evidence. 

 

MS HILL:   Okay, thank you doctor, just staying on that though, can you 15 

confirm that you aside from that discussion of Dr Dolbeer’s articles, 

you have no justification for relaxing the internationally recommended 

standards in the Christchurch context? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I think I have covered in my evidence quite substantially 20 

the justifications for not adopting those standards. 

 

MS HILL:   Okay. That is not based on any knowledge you have about the 

Christchurch bird populations - - -  

 25 

DR McCLELLAN:   Well that is part of the problem - - -  

 

MS HILL:   - - - presenting less of a hazard - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a minute please, so just let the question be asked and 30 

then you will have the opportunity, so could you put the question again 

please? 

 

MS HILL:   Sorry yes, and I have read your evidence and I understand it, sorry 

doctor, but just you cannot say for certain though that the Christchurch 35 

or New Zealand bird populations pose any less of a risk than they do in 

say the UK or the USA? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   No, I cannot. 

 40 

MS HILL:   Thank you. Just finally, do you understand that section 32 of the 

Resource Management Act asks us to consider the risk of acting or not 

acting if there is uncertain or insufficient information about the subject 

matter of a proposed event? 

 45 

DR McCLELLAN:   I am not entirely familiar with that section, sorry. 
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MS HILL:   Okay, would you take it from me that that is what it says? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Certainly. 

 5 

MS HILL:   Thank you. And so and would you agree that here the risk of not 

acting, is the risk of allowing a bird strike event which while it might 

have a low probability could potentially have a very significant impact? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I agree that it could have a significant impact, but I do not 10 

believe that there is evidence that would suggest that this set of more 

complex rules will have any effects on reducing the risk or stabilising 

the risk at the airport. 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you, that is all I have, thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, three quick questions, 3.1 of your evidence, Dr McClellan, 

we heard yesterday from Mr Shaw that he thought the Canada goose 20 

numbers were actually increasing, have you analysed the data yourself 

to show that they are actually decreasing? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Yes, I have, it is attached in appendix A of my evidence-

in-chief. It was a difficult data set to deal with because it is not in very 25 

good format and it took me quite some time to tease out the data, and I 

had to reduce, as I have explained in my appendix, I had to reduce the 

number of sites that the City Council has been monitoring at, from 25 

to 8 because what is actually been happening since they began 

monitoring for the species, is they have been adding sites through the 30 

years. 

 

 So if you were to analyse the whole dataset you would have this, kind 

of almost a linear increase in the number of sites which will completely 

destroy the analyses at the end, so I had to take out all the sites which 35 

have been added in and just use the sites that have been from the 

beginning, but as you can see on page 23 there is a very statistically 

strong decline in Canada goose numbers. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you are very confident of your opinion with that? 40 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I am confident that with the data that I was given. 
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  [3.35 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you - - -  

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. Are you very confident of your finding with regard to 

Canada geese? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I am confident that using the data that I was given that 10 

that data shows that there is a strong significant decline. What I would 

really like to have been able to do is go back to the raw data and filter it 

and make sure that it has not lost some of its accuracy. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Why did you not do that? 15 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   It would have taken days and it is - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   Canada geese are very large birds are they not? 

 20 

DR McCLELLAN:   They are. 

 

MR DAYSH:   They hit, when ingested in the aircraft, would potentially be 

quite a catastrophic event would it not? 

 25 

DR McCLELLAN:   It would be, absolutely. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay. Your 3.5 where you advocate for an independent panel 

to have a role in the rule regime, have you had experience in such an 

independent panel? 30 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Not exactly in this kind of situation. In previous 

Environment Court hearings that I have been involved in, independent 

panels have been part of the conditions that have been arrived at 

through the decisions of the court. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, I asked you, have you been involved? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Personally, in a - - -  

 40 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   - - - panel, no I have not. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And given that there is such a wide divergence of opinion with 45 

this process, you think a group of ecologists would be useful in an 
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independent panel, it would actually work given the wide variety of 

opinions? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   That they could actually arrive at an agreement? 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Do you think that is realistic? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Yes, I think it is. We came to some agreements during our 

expert conferencing in quite rapid time I thought. Yes, there will 

always be differing opinions, but that is part and parcel of the process. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you. Your paragraph 8.2 and 8.3 where you talk 

about the radar technique - - -  

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Yes. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - are you referring – the wind farm you are referring to is 

that Contact’s Waikato wind farm? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Yes, that was one of them and there is also Taharoa, 20 

which I think pre-dated - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   Were you personally involved in that process? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   No, I was not. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Have you any idea of the – what was actually undertaken there? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I believe they used two to three radars positioned on the 

coast and associated had – they had observers in real time talking to 30 

people who were observing the birds coming in on the radar, it is quite 

some time ago now, I think that was 2008 that the decision came out so 

probably the field work probably even predates that and radar 

technology has come quite some way since then, so it - - -  

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, I do not think you are quite right on the dates, but you 

obviously were not involved, so you are using someone else’s 

knowledge of that process? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Wilding Consultants was involved in that work, the 40 

director of Wilding Consultants was involved in it as was one of my 

Wellington colleagues. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So where you say that this technique is a powerful real time 

method, how do you envisage that, would there be a radar operating 45 

fulltime, would pilots see the information on their screens, how - - -  
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DR McCLELLAN:   I do not – I - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - how do you explain that powerful real time method? 

 5 

DR McCLELLAN:   I do not claim to be an expert in avian radar firstly. I 

believe it – well I know that it is being used in some situations around 

the world, in South Africa for swallows and in the Netherlands for 

tracking migrating birds crossing a river and through the military and 

naval operations in the United States, which I believe is real time 10 

tracking. 

 

 And from what I understand, you have a radar that is detecting all the 

bird movements and the software puts that information in some form 

through to the control tower and the control tower can actually see that 15 

there are birds tracking towards potential flight paths of planes and 

hold planes down on the runway until the threat has passed. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Could you advise how many radar units you think might be 

needed given the scale of the issue around Christchurch Airport? 20 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   In Christchurch, I am not entirely sure but I would think, 

given the size of the airport just one. I know – I have read that in, for 

example in JFK, in New York, I think they talk of four being required, 

so Christchurch Airport must be considerably smaller, and so I would 25 

imagine it is just a single unit and I believe that a single unit can track 

out to somewhere in the realms of 11 kilometres which in a flat place 

like Christchurch would give very, very good coverage. 

 

  [3.40 pm] 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  That is all I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Huria, Ms Huria, I beg your pardon. 

 35 

MS HURIA:   Good afternoon, Dr McClellan.  In your experience do airports 

keep good records about bird movements? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I could not answer that question, I do not know. From 

what Mr Shaw says, Christchurch Airport has one of the best in the 40 

world as far as the data it has collected. 

 

MS HURIA:   So in terms of the difficulty in working with that data, are you 

able to comment on how hard it would be to get it into a perhaps more 

usable format? 45 
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DR McCLELLAN:   It depends what kind of format it is.  It depends what the 

data is first off and I believe that Christchurch Airport has collected all 

sorts of types of data off-airport and on-airport as well as the bird strike 

data itself so there is at least three sets of data that could be more fully 

analysed.  I understand from what I read in transcripts and the like that 5 

Dr Harper’s data is primarily in filing cabinets so it sounds like it is in a 

paper form and it sounds like it is about 30 years’ worth so it is a 

formidable amount of work. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay. 10 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   I would take a stab that it would be several months of 

work to get it into a format that could be readily analysed. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have no questions, thank you, Dr McClellan. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not have any either but thank you very much for your 

assistance.  Ms Hill, any questions arising? 

 

MS HILL:   May I please ask one more, sir? 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just from the Panel’s questions. 30 

 

MS HILL:   Yes, sir, just one from questions that Mr Daysh asked. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 35 

MS HILL:   Just back on the matter of your assessment of the Canada geese 

numbers in the city.  Am I correct that that is an analysis of the 

historical data of Canada geese numbers going back? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   That is correct. 40 

 

MS HILL:   And it indicates that those numbers have declined in recent years? 

 

DR McCLELLAN:   Off the top of my head I think it is from 2004 to 2015. 

 45 
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MS HILL:   Great, okay, thanks.  And so across the 10 year life of this Plan 

does that study give you any confidence that Canada geese numbers 

will continue to decrease or might suddenly increase again say in seven 

years’ time and what can that tell us about whether or not we provide 

the Canada geese interactions with aircraft? 5 

 

MS MCLENNAN:   It is a good question.  It was very unexpected finding that 

decline, given that some people who have been carrying out the surveys 

believe that they were increasing so I was not expecting that, and the 

reasons for that decline are not particularly clear but I presume that 10 

they will have something to do with the culling that has been carried 

out on Ellesmere and Forsyth and the like.  Whether that will continue 

remains to be seen.  The law covering the management of Canada 

geese has changed so now anybody can cull them so potentially we 

could be seeing a greater increase in numbers of Canada geese culled. 15 

Perhaps that may see a continuing decline. It is very difficult to predict 

just what will happen.  The long term populations in the South Island 

have been remarkably stable for 50-odd years which suggests, I mean I 

cannot quite see massive increases occurring, I cannot think of why that 

would happen but I would be prepared to be surprised. 20 

 

MS HILL:   Thank you, that is all, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Laing, any questions? 

 25 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Well thank you very much, Dr McClellan for 

your assistance which we will give some consideration to.  You are free 

to go. 30 

 

MS MCLENNAN:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.44 pm] 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Chapman, I think there is a witness that we 

might need to accommodate from Transpower, given a flight issue.  Is 

that also an issue for your witness? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, no flight issues with my witnesses, sir, no. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, given that we are on the topic of birds and 

flights.  All right, so Mr Beatson, did you want to call your witness 

through, the one that has difficulties? 

 45 
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MR BEATSON:  Sir, I understood we were going to proceed with 

Transpower’s case because I have also got a flight issue. 

 

  [3.45 pm] 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have also got a flight issue, all right. 

 

MR BEATSON:   I do not want to cause too much disruption. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well we have read your submissions so, and 10 

bearing in mind, you will know best how that works with your witness.  

I will just need to find - - - 

 

MR BEATSON:   There are two witnesses, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, there are two witnesses but I just, one local, one 

having to travel. 

 

MR BEATSON:   They both have to travel.  They are due in Queenstown in 

the morning, sir and they - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, I see, right we will do our best.  It is over to you as to 

- - - 

 

MR BEATSON:   But only one of them is here, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - whether, whatever you want to risk it is on your head 

if you take too much time or. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Well I have prepared submissions, you have read those. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I know.  We have thoroughly read them and 

obviously will need to consider the legal issues. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, do you want to hear from me more on those?  There are 35 

one or two sort of minor glosses that have arisen during the course but I 

do not think that they are particularly material to the extent that I need 

to change anything.  Apart from the reference to the position whether 

NSETA does prevail, what the advice note should provide and of 

course we are now in agreement on that. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And you have presented your analysis of the 

relevant Resource Management Act provisions on the Standard - - - 

 

MR BEATSON:   Following the NSETA.  45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - in the NSETA if you want to use that language. 

 

MR BEATSON:   On the Standard, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And analysed the differences between you and 5 

Ms Appleyard on that. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Those are matters obviously insofar as things remain 10 

contentious we will have to make determinations on. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes.  There is some discussion around the position if the 

Standard does not prevail, about what the Plan should provide. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   That starts at paragraph 36. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MR BEATSON:   We submit that the Standard does clearly prevail so it will be 

an error of law for the Panel to proceed on the basis it does not.  And 

then note that in the even the Panel determined it would be appropriate 

to include a rule and or advice note in the Replacement Plan 25 

notwithstanding that submission, the position of the Council, then 

Transpower has suggested, or Ms McLeod suggested a provision there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 30 

MR BEATSON:   I just want to highlight that this suggestion should not be 

taken in any way as an acceptance that proceeding down this path 

would be acceptable or lawful outcome.  Transpower is quite firm on 

its position that the Standard does prevail. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And then the other point I suppose that is worth mentioning 

is that it has come to our attention that for any intrusion into the runway 

protection surface as defined in the CAA rules the approval of the 40 

Director of Civil Aviation is actually required before that physical 

activity can take place.  Now I was not quite aware of that and perhaps 

should have been but - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I am not sure if anyone was. 45 
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MR BEATSON:   Well no, well it was news to me, sir, and I think the 

significance of that is that the potential justification for trying to contort 

the NSETA or the Standard to include that matter is because there may 

have been a lacuna with an RDA without that being one of the matters 

to consider but given that that separate approvals are required I do not 5 

think that that lacuna exists. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Except potentially, and I have not looked into this, that it 10 

may only relate to the existing runway, the CAA authority jurisdiction 

rather than the extended runway which has not been built which the 

plan provides for.  I am not sure of the significance of that but anyway I 

just wanted to make that point. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in other words if you think the lacuna might exist, if 

the approval has already been given on the basis of what might be 

planned for but has not yet been built? 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, I know that that approval has not been given but really 20 

- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   - - - if someone came along with something that did not 25 

require a CAA approval because of the runway having been extended.  

If some time in the future approval is obtained. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it sounds like you want to reflect on that a bit further in 

your closing.  Just in regard to Transpower’s preferences, obviously 30 

exploring first what Transpower prefers to do because we will look at 

both sides on this.  I have not got it in front of me but I think Mr Bonis 

and Ms McLeod have come forward with, in the event that say 

Transpower is correct on the legal position then a form of rule, and as I 

understand from reading it, that would effectively carve out NSETA? 35 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What would the consequences of that be for the question 

of notification certainty in regard to parties involved in any application 40 

under NSETA? 
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  [3.50 pm] 

 

MR BEATSON:   I have not given that any consideration sir, and I did note 

with interest your comments regarding, and the acceptance by Mr 

Bonis who might be interested.  So perhaps that is a matter I can also 5 

reflect on and come back to you on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in other words, if it would be useful to know whether 

Transpower’s preference on that was one of carve out on the basis that 

NSETA looked after things adequately. 10 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In regard to relevant party interests, or whether in fact 

greater certainty would be achieved for all by something that involved 15 

a combination of rules in the plan. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes. Thank you sir, I will reflect on that and take 

instructions. I think Transpower is particularly concerned that the ambit 

of any such rule does not extend beyond what the standard provides, 20 

for the reason that while it may not make much difference, and excuse 

me for using the term “in the real world” in this case, given that the 

CAA approval is required anyway. 

 

 It could lead to a steady erosion if people in other instances, say well 25 

this is not provided for in the NES under the restricted discretionary 

activity category would therefore want to include it.  And they look to 

this as an example. 

 

 So we are quite concerned to hold the line on the standard and are quite 30 

clear in our own way in our submission that it prevails. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If we compare Transpower’s position on this matter with 

Transpower’s position on setbacks on its lines, where it has sought non-

complying activity status for other land uses, do you think that there is 35 

an inconsistency in that approach? 

 

MR BEATSON:   I would have to discuss that and reflect on it sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So I will just test.  Is there anything further you 40 

wanted to address on? 

 

MR BEATSON:   No, I do not think so sir.  There is one other sort of 

housekeeping matter if you like.  Mr Renton has prepared an updated 

diagram that illustrates the take-off surfaces based on the existing 45 

runway and based on the Replacement Plan provisions.  It is really just 
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some more, some greater precision around what he presented in his 

evidence. 

 

 That was done at short notice.  And this is more accurate.  It does not 

change anything materially in terms of numbers of towers and where 5 

they sit in relation to the surface, but it does change some of the 

distances as outlined in his evidence. I have showed this to my friends, 

they do not have any difficulty with this. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it can just go in by way of, are we up to number 7?  So 10 

we will give that an exhibit number now and just put it in front of the 

Panel as Exhibit 7. 

 

EXHIBIT #7 – TRANSPOWER LINES PENETRATION OF EAST 

WEST THRESHOLD SURFACE (UPDATED) 15 

 

MR BEATSON:   Thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, I will just check if the Panel have any other 

questions of you before you call your witnesses through.  Mr Daysh? 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 25 

MS HURIA:   No questions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 30 

 

MR BEATSON:   All right, thank you. We might move to Ms McLeod, 

because I do not think Mr Renton has got any questions now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you want me to check with the Panel as to whether we 35 

have any questions of Mr Renton? 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, apart from the Panel’s questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do any Panel members have questions of Mr Renton? 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, but I just want to have a look at this diagram first. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no, we will hold on that. 

 45 

MR BEATSON:   All right, thank you.  Ms McLeod? 
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<AINSLEY McLEOD, sworn [3.54 pm] 
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MR BEATSON:   Now, Ms McLeod is well known to the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, there is another one like Mr Bonis who has probably 

got occupancy rights anyway, as a squatter. 

 5 

<EXAMINATION BY MR BEATSON [3.54 pm] 

 

MR BEATSON:   Ms McLeod, you have prepared a statement of evidence 

dated 17 February 2016? 

 10 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And can you confirm the contents of that are true and 

correct? 

 15 

MS McLEOD:   I have some minor corrections. 

 

MR BEATSON:   All right, could you take us through those please? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I have identified a minor typo in the relief set out in paragraph 20 

46 of my evidence. I do not think this needs to be specifically corrected 

today because it is superseded by Exhibit 6 that you were provided with 

this morning. 

 

 At paragraph 24 I refer to attachment E, in the fifth line from the 25 

bottom of the page.  Attachment E should be replaced with attachment 

C to Mr Renton’s evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a minute, fifth line from the bottom? That is at 

paragraph 24? 30 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

  [3.55 pm] 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it should be which number? 

 

MS McLEOD:   That should say attachment C to Mr Renton’s evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 40 

 

MS McLEOD:   Similarly, where I refer to attachment A and B in paragraph 

26, this should also be replaced with attachment C to Mr Renton’s 

evidence. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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MR BEATSON:   With those corrections, do you confirm it is true and correct? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 5 

MR BEATSON:   Thank you.  And you have prepared a summary? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I have. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Would you please read that and answer any questions. 10 

 

MS McLEOD:   My evidence addresses Transpower’s submission points in 

relation to proposal 6 as a whole, and records that with the exception of 

aircraft protection, the revised proposal achieves the relief sought by 

Transpower. My evidence confirms my support for the revised proposal 15 

and therefore I will confide my highlights today to the aircraft 

protection matter. 

 

 My evidence considers the relationship between the rules in 6.7 and the 

NES, and concludes that there is a conflict between rule PL1 and the 20 

NES on the basis that the rule is both more stringent and more lenient 

than the NES, depending on the scope of the work that may be 

undertaken in relation to any existing National Grid transmission tower. 

 

 It is my opinion that in order to comply with section 44 of the RMA an 25 

advice note similar to the advice note in proposal 11 should be included 

in the how to use the rules section of 6.7 to direct that the NES applies.  

This approach is consistent with the Ministry for the Environment’s 

guidance material on this matter. 

 30 

 Since evidence and rebuttal evidence was filed Mr Bonis, Ms Dixon 

and myself have discussed our respective positions and have agreed the 

content of an advice note, perhaps with the caveat that Mr Bonis holds 

an alternate view in relation to how the NES applies. 

 35 

 The agreed revised advice note is included in the exhibit provided 

today.  In this regard amendments have been made to ensure that the 

protection services apply to the existing National Grid so that 

regulation 14.3 of the NES is breached through any increase of height 

of towers within the protection services, that would trigger the need for 40 

resource consent as a restricted discretionary activity under regulation 

16. 

 

 It is also agreed that any requirement for an aeronautical study 

supported in Mr Bonis and my evidence could alternatively be 45 



 Page 695 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

addressed outside of the district plan by way of a memorandum of 

understanding between Transpower and the Airport. 

 

 In this regard you have heard a little bit recently about the fact that 

CAA rule 77 also makes provision for the requirement of an 5 

aeronautical study, in any case with the director-general having some 

discretion in terms of appropriateness of penetrations. 

 

 Another solution here might be, and bearing in mind the Judge’s recent 

questions, to add a direction as to notification of the advice note in 10 

regard to any breach of clause 14.3 where regulation 16 would apply. 

 

 While I remain of the view that the NES prevails I have had 

discussions with Mr Bonis in relation to the outcome of the Airport’s 

alternative scenario, whereby the NES does not prevail in relation to 15 

the protection surfaces. 

 

 You have heard earlier this afternoon from Mr Bonis in relation to non-

complying activities, and for the avoidance of doubt I just wish to state 

my opinion that I do not agree that a non-complying activity status is 20 

appropriate. I prefer a restricted discretionary activity rule for any 

alteration, relocation or replacement of an existing tower where the 

works penetrate the protection surface. 

 

 And I would suggest two matters of discretion. The first being the 25 

matters listed in regulation 16.  These would apply in any case I would 

suggest, and also the extent to which any adverse effects on the safety 

or regularity of aircraft operations are avoided or mitigated. 

 

 I prefer restricted discretionary activity status because there are a 30 

number of scenarios where works could be undertaken on the existing 

lines without an adverse effect on the safety of aircraft operations.  For 

instance an increase in the height of a tower that does not currently 

penetrate the surface to a height that is less than those currently 

penetrating, such that the protection surfaces are not compromised to a 35 

greater extent. 

 

 Another scenario would be the increase in the height of a tower that 

may penetrate the protection surface of the future runway, but not the 

CAA existing runway surface. 40 

 

 A restricted discretionary activity status is also consistent with the 

worst case activity status in the NES, and allows for a consent to be 

refused should unacceptable issues arise. 

45 
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  [4.00 pm] 

 

 I also consider that any potential adverse effects on aircraft safety can 

be appropriately addressed through the matters of discretion and having 

reviewed similar provisions in other district plans, it is my view that 5 

restricted discretionary activity and discretionary activity status is a 

relatively common approach to rules for activities of protection 

surfaces. 

 

 Further, it is my opinion that non-complying activity status indicates 10 

that an activity is generally not anticipated and in the case of the 

protection surfaces in Proposal 6, I consider that this has the effect of 

protecting the future upgrading or development of the airport in a 

manner that constrains the future upgrading or development of the 

national grid, given that the protection services anticipate the future 15 

runway extension. 

 

 I do not consider that such an approach best gives effect to the 

objectives and policies 1 and 2 of the National Policy Statement on 

Electricity Transmission.  Policy 2 requires decision makers to 20 

recognise and provide for the effective operation, maintenance, 

upgrading and development of the electricity transmission network. 

 

 Thank you. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard or Ms Hill.  Yes, thank you, Ms Appleyard. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just in terms of – we have travelled a long way, sir, if I 

can undertake the news from Mr Beatson about the part 77, I just have 

not had a chance to have a look – I will need to go and actually have a 30 

look at what it says and trying to look at it on my iPad is not.  It is news 

to me as well, so I am going to have a look at that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all Counsel’s position is reserved on its relevance, 

how it applies, we have not read it either, we have got no idea. 35 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [4.01 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  And I really only have a couple of questions 

for you. 40 

 

 The first part of your evidence and in particular, your discussion at 

paragraph 22 and 23 and your interpretation of the CAA’s circular.  

Have you read the rebuttal evidence of Mr Munro as to your 

interpretation? 45 
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MS McLEOD:   I am prepared to accept Mr Munro’s evidence. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, that was going to be my question so that issue 

is cleared up.  

 5 

 So as I read the remainder of your evidence, it is largely dealing with 

this issue as to conflict between NSETA and the rule and that is as 

much a matter of legal interpretation as it is for a planner, would you 

accept that? 

 10 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And has been covered in the submissions both of myself 

and Mr Beatson? 

 15 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, it has. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just in relation to the matters that have been raised in 

discussion with Mr Bonis, the cross-examination of Mr Bonis.  

Mr Bonis gave one of the rational for his preference for a 20 

non-complying rule as being the use of the word ‘avoid’ in the policy.  

 

 Are you familiar with the decision in King Salmon? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I am. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And would you share the same concerns about the use of 

‘avoid’ being used in the context of a restricted discretionary activity as 

Mr Bonis does? 

 30 

MS McLEOD:   I accept what he is saying but I have also – Mr Bonis 

conceded today he had not considered the Higher Order objective and 

policies of the National Policy Statement- - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just take it back, can we just deal with the avoid issue 35 

first, and your understanding of King Salmon and the word ‘avoid’ and 

it does not mean to say we cannot change the word ‘avoid’ but one of 

his problems was the rule and the policy, so would you accept his 

concern with a restricted discretionary activity being placed with a 

policy that used the word ‘avoid’. 40 

 

 Would you accept that as a planner as a general concept? 

 

MS McLEOD:   As a general concept. 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  The issue regarding restricted discretionary 

activity, would you be prepared to relook at the matters of discretion to 

add, for example, matters relating to airport efficiency as well? 

 

MS McLEOD:   My preference – I am open to considering how they could be 5 

drafted.  My preference has been for the words that I have mentioned 

today on the basis that they directly relate to the advisory circular in, I 

think, 4.12.3 or something.  Those are the words that were used by Mr 

Munro and are the words that are in the circular. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   I know, but apart from that and the evidence you have 

heard, would you be adverse to looking at the matters of discretion 

being amended to also look at matters of impacts on airport efficiency? 

 

MS McLEOD:   I think I have answered that and said yes, I am open-minded.      15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, I have no further questions, I will address the 

rest in legal submissions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, Ms Appleyard.  Mr Laing, I overlooked 20 

you, I think you are down- - - 

 

MR LAING:   I was down, I did advise the secretariat that the Council’s matter 

is resolved with Transpower, so there is no need to cross-examine her 

or Mr Renton. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so Panel questions then.  Mr Daysh. 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions, but thank you for the productive way you are 

looking at this issue and encouraging you to continue discussions 30 

around the matters we have just heard in cross-examination.  Thank 

you. 

 

  [4.05 pm] 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria. 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just I guess one in principle.  If we could, again, subject 

to what Mr Daysh has indicated which is we would welcome parties 45 
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continuing to progress discussions on things where it would seem that 

there is a desire to do that. 

 

 If we go to the Standard, the regulation I should say, and regulation 

16.4.  So I suppose just looking at that in principle, the first thing, 5 

would you agree with me, is that this is attempting to set in place 

matters for discretion on a generic basis national wide? 

 

MS McLEOD:   In clause 16.4? 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I agree. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if we look locally, would you agree that if we take 15 

the topic of landscape, for instance, the policy direction the plan is 

already proposing which is before the Panel, would not identify the 

airport as an outstanding natural landscape? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I accept that. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or even quite a good one.  And so the obvious point there, 

is if we look at those matters, that is one example, historic heritage is 

another and the vague concept of sensitive land use is another, isn’t it, 

which means none of those matters may be particularly helpful to the 25 

local contextual issues at the airport? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, and I have accepted that in my evidence.  I think the only 

matter that picks up the types of effects that Transpower’s works could 

have on the protection surfaces, are those temporary construction works 30 

on the basis from clause C. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, and I am not aware of anything but you may be able to 

remind me if there is something there involving a non-notification or 

limited notification regime through the Standard? 

 40 

MS McLEOD:   It is my understanding there isn’t which is why the advice note 

providing some direction around notification could be a potential 

solution. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, which is where I was just sort of heading in that area.  45 

Isn’t there a problem though in terms of how the Act works in regard to 
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notification, that you really need a rule rather than an advice note 

before you trigger anything relevant? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Well I think the regulations in place to establish that a consent 

is required and- - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, sorry, just in terms of dispensing with 

notification- - - 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and you would be familiar with section 94A, I think it 

is, or somewhere about there, which is, I think to the effect that the 

notification regime can be modified by a rule in a plan? 

 15 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I accept that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Not an advice note. 

 

MS McLEOD:   Mhm. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you think in principle, obviously subject to ultimately 

what the different clients would prefer to ultimately submit to us and I 

am not asking you to speak for your client, that in principle, it is worth 

exploring, these dynamics between the relative benefits of a ‘carve-out’ 25 

versus a rule or rules? 

 

MS McLEOD:   Yes, I think that it is certainly worth continuing the dialogue.  

My concern about the inclusion a rule is that it is where you get the 

conflict or duplication matter- - -  30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS McLEOD:   - - - and something that purely reflects the EDS becomes a 

duplication and my understanding of the MFE’s guidance is that that is 35 

not something that the plan should do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then of course, there are questions on what the 

Standard and the Act preclude or allow for. 

 40 

MS McLEOD:   That’s right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  So any questions arising, Ms Appleyard. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Beatson, re-examination. 

 

MR BEATSON:   No thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Ms McLeod, you are free to go. 5 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.09 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In due course, we encourage parties to keep us informed 

of what they are wanting to do and if they need any facilitation of 10 

further conferencing, you should let us know.  Clearly, it is in the 

interests of the process that we ensure that parties can work through 

their differences as much as possible before we ultimately have to 

make (INDISTINCT 4.53). 

 15 

MR BEATSON:   Thank you, sir.  So that just leaves us with the question of 

Mr Renton and whether the Panel has questions of him. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I have had time to look at the diagram, I think - - - 

 20 

  [4.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think – bring him forward and we will have him sworn 

in - - -  

 25 

MR BEATSON:    Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and we will just go from there. I mean in reality Mr 

Daysh is rightfully cautious that we have not really had a chance to 

look at this visual aid anyway and it might be worth helping us 30 

understand that. 
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<ANDREW CHARLES RENTON, sworn [4.10 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR BEATSON [4.10 pm] 

 

MR BEATSON:   Good afternoon, is your full name Andrew Charles Renton? 

 

MR RENTON:   It is. 5 

 

MR BEATSON:   And do you have the qualifications and experience you set 

out in your statement of evidence, dated 17 February 2016? 

 

MR RENTON:   I do. 10 

 

MR BEATSON:   Do you confirm that the contents of your statement of 

evidence-in-chief are true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR RENTON:   Yes, except for some small modifications to specific data - - -  15 

 

MR BEATSON:   And is that - - -  

 

MR RENTON:   - - - which is related to that diagram. 

 20 

MR BEATSON:   Is that – yes, I was going to ask that, is that modifications 

that arise is a result of the greater level of detail that is contained in, is 

it Exhibit 7? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Exhibit 7, yes. 25 

 

MR RENTON:   That is correct. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Sir, I wonder if you need him to correct his evidence or are 

you happy to rely on Exhibit 7 as an update of the specific figures he 30 

has provided in his evidence, there is really not much in it from - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, no that is – so we should just read his evidence 

on the basis that the diagram should be superseded by Exhibit 7. 

 35 

MR BEATSON:   The figures he has referred to, and yes and the figures in the 

diagrams are superseded by Exhibit 7. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 40 

MR BEATSON:   Mr Renton, are you able to just describe for us what Exhibit 

7 sets out to illustrate? 

 

MR RENTON:   Certainly, so the diagram is broken into two parts, there is a 

generic top section which shows a tower on the right hand side and the 45 
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related surfaces at two degrees and 1.6 degrees that everybody has 

referred to over the last couple of days. 

 

 The ones in blue are the lines that relate to those surface angles taken 

from the end of the existing runway as it is today, and the lines in black 5 

are from a date in point or a starting of the proposed plan. 

 

 If we start with the top blue line, the blue line called “two percent”, so 

that is from the end of the existing runway, you can see that no 

Transpower tower projects beyond that surface and that is reflected in 10 

the numbers on the bottom half of the drawing in the blue column on 

the right hand end, so that sets the distance that is above or below the 

existing runway 1.6 surface, undertaken from a CIAL survey in 2013, 

so you can see we range there from being minus 2.2 metres below that 

surface, to 7.8. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just to understand that, if I look at the first amount of 

blue text above the tower - - -  

 

MR RENTON:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and I can draw a line between that and the blue 

column? 

 

MR RENTON:   Correct. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Those relate to each other? 

 

MR RENTON:   Correct. 

 30 

MR BEATSON:   Can I just clarify that, sir, because my understanding from 

what Mr Renton just said is, that the column on the right relates to the 

1.6 percent surface. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is what I thought he said. 35 

 

MR RENTON:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And that is what it says at the top of that column - - -  

 40 

MR RENTON:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   - - - so it would relate to the third line - - -  

 

MR RENTON:   Yes. 45 
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MR BEATSON:   - - - down, is that correct, Mr Renton, rather than the top 

line? 

 

MR RENTON:   That is correct, 1.6. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the third one down, yes, not the top one – I initially 

marked the top, then I heard his answer and I thought - - -  

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - third one down. 

 

MR RENTON:   Yes. If we now look probably to the two black lines, the 2 

percent take off surface and the 1.6 percent take off surface and that is 

from the datum of the proposed runway extension, you can see at a 2 15 

percent gradient none of Transpower’s towers project above that 

surface, and that is in the first green column in from the right hand side 

- - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 20 

 

MR RENTON:   - - - and you can see in there that we are well below those 

surface levels. 

 

 And then the ones that are of most interest to the Panel and everybody 25 

here, is the 1.6 percent take off surface from the proposed runway 

extension, and you can see that we have some towers – four in total – 

those are the ones in red, that project above that surface. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 30 

 

MR RENTON:   Otherwise all other towers in the area are below the surface. 

 

MR BEATSON:   And that number four is consistent with the evidence, it is 

just the distances that have changed a wee bit with this further analysis. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, four towers. 

 

MR RENTON:   Yes. So in my evidence, the numbers that were in there which 

said, I think it is like 1.9 metres or something, are actually 2.2 metres. 40 
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  [4.20 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR RENTON:   I can give you the page references, its paragraph references 5 

and line references if it helps. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think it might help because I do not want to – with these 

sorts of things, if they come to be written up, we do not want to get it 

wrong forgetting about what you said, but if you look at the substantive 10 

parts of your evidence and I think we will just correct them now. 

 

MR RENTON:   Sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you go to your paragraphs I think. 15 

 

MR RENTON:   So page 7, paragraph 21 - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 20 

MR RENTON:   - - - line 7, about halfway down that paragraph, we need to 

change the numbers “3.7 to 9 metres” - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 25 

MR RENTON:   - - - and we need to change that to “2.2 metres to 7.8 metres”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR RENTON:   In line 11 and it is about the third one up from the bottom, we 30 

need to change “1.9 metres” to “2.3 metres”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR RENTON:   Page 8, the table 1, just needs to be replaced – it just refers 35 

directly to attachment C which is this - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just refer to Exhibit - - -  

 

MR RENTON:   Exhibit 7. 40 

 

MR BEATSON:   Exhibit 7. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Refer to Exhibit 7 and just take out the table - - -  

 45 

MR RENTON:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - is that right? 

 

MR RENTON:   Yes. And finally page 16, which was the attachment which 

was an earlier version of that drawing, just replace that exhibits 5 

attachment C - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR RENTON:   - - - with Exhibit 7. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we will just put a line through that and put “refer 

Exhibit 7” on there. 

 

MR RENTON:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Thank you, sir, now Mr Renton has prepared a brief 

summary but I am not sure it is - - -  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not know if it is warranted – I will just check first if 

there are any questions. 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, and I am certainly grateful for the diagram, it is very 25 

helpful too, thank you very much, no questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Daysh. Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No nothing and thank you also for the diagram it helps 

matters, thank you. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, likewise, I do not have any questions, so thank you 

very much. 

 

MR RENTON:   Thank you, sir. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.17 pm] 

 

MR BEATSON:   Subject to any further work that is undertaken or that is 

around these rules and - - -  45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR BEATSON:   - - - any matters that we raise in reply - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR BEATSON:   - - - that is our presentation on this topic. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks very much, Mr Beatson, that was efficiently 

done, and yes we look forward to hearing what may develop in the 10 

discussions between the parties on this. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Obviously the principle of “give and take” is one that both 15 

parties should remember. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Yes, we understand that, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, so I think we are back to Mr Chapman and was it 20 

your preference to have Dr Trevathan go ahead of Mr Millar? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, it is, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. 25 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Sir, I have circulated my legal submissions - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 30 

MR CHAPMAN:   - - - but there are just a couple of comments that I wish to 

make that - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes certainly, and I have had a chance to read them, 

although I cannot necessarily speak for everyone because we have been 35 

under the gun as it were significantly, so I have just got to find them – 

and I had a chance to read them briefly this morning. 

 

MR BEATSON:   Sir, I am unsure what the protocol is, but are we able to 

withdraw? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Certainly Mr Beatson, you do not have to seek leave to 

part, and in these processes obviously there may be further 

communication. You can probably anticipate that I will be seeking 

assistance from Mr Laing at some stage on a sensible timetable for 45 

further actions around different things that are going on, I have already 
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spoken to one of those, but there have been one or two other topics 

where there are indications of further work wanting to be done by 

different people, so we will probably want a timetable, some steps and 

work out a timetable between now and closings - - -  

 5 

MR BEATSON:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and it may well involve further engagement as I have 

indicated, it probably will by the Panel on some topics. 

 10 

MR BEATSON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So thank you very much Mr Chapman – just 

obviously we have got a general gist of the theory of your submissions 

from the questioning that has occurred. 15 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Sorry, did counsel here and another - - -  

 

MR HUDSPITH:   Sorry, your honour, I just wanted to raise a brief 

housekeeping matter myself, I think on Monday you requested that Mr 20 

Morgan provide some additional material - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR HUDSPITH:   - - - and you were going to come back to Mr Gardner-25 

Hopkins, as it then was for a timetable. 

 

 I want to propose that we come back to the Panel on Monday if that 

was okay? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 

 

MR HUDSPITH:   Great. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have not had a chance to go back to that, I do recall it 35 

broadly, and I think in reality if you could indicate at least on Monday 

when you can provide it and I suggest you do that by memorandum. 

 

MR HUDSPITH:   Yes, I understand there might be some matter as to some of 

it being proprietary, sir, or confidential but we can let you know. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. 

 

 Now, we are going to take, I am sorry to do this, we will just take a five 

minute recess. 45 
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ADJOURNED [4.20 pm] 

 

RESUMED [4.27 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Chapman, I don’t want to get biblical but you kind of 5 

remind me of that chap that was trying to get into the Pool of Siloam or 

whatever that keep getting told it was too late. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well, I do have a flight in about a month’s time, sir, so I 

wonder if I can claim priority now. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  I listened to the discourse earlier on today in relation to 

between Ms Dawson and Mr Bonis and I haven’t addressed one matter 15 

in my legal submission which I wish to touch on now.  I don’t agree 

legally with the position that I think that Mr Bonis got to that there was 

a dual zoning for the University site. 

 

 The University is a whole of campus in one zone, which is a Special 20 

Purpose zone.  That zone does have rules within it which allow a 

residence, for example, to be built but it does not have an underlying 

zoning as such.  Were it to have that I think we would out of here, we 

would have been out of here ages ago because we could have relied on 

the fact that there were an existing underlying residential zoning.  So it 25 

is because of that fact that the University has been reluctantly drawn 

into this debate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 30 

MR CHAPMAN:   However the practical effect I think that in the exchange 

between Ms Dawson and Mr Bonis was well drawn out that effectively 

a number of houses could be built on the University site if they decided 

that it was no longer required for University purposes and so the effect 

of that kind of development is already contemplated within the zone 35 

rules as they stand. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And presumably what do you think about a proposition 

that if there isn’t on the evidence a resource management issue does 

that have a colour on how we should read a policy statement intended 40 

to give effect to the purpose of the Act? 
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  [4.30 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  I think undoubtedly, I am just going to come to that in a 

moment there is one other point that I wish to elaborate on.  My 

submissions comprehensively go into whether the University should be 5 

regarded as a new development, clearly, just on the evidence from 

Mr Bonis this morning when I asked him the types of activities that he 

thought would be captured by a rule that the Airport is seeking, he 

indicated that a rebuild of a current build would in his view be a new 

development.  He indicated that relocation, and I put to him the café 10 

scenario of going out of one building and into another building would 

be a new development. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well he said a new activity I think, did he not? 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Or a new activity. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in fact he asked you whether you meant 

development, and you said you meant activity. 

 20 

MR CHAPMAN:   And thirdly, an activity that does not even require a build, 

such as I think I used the drama space as the example, would also fall 

to be considered under the rule on the basis that that would be a new 

activity as well. 

 25 

 So you can clearly see that the ambit of the rule affects the enabling 

provision of the zone-specific requirement for a University that is fully 

able to develop all of the ancillary activities associated with the 

University without requiring resource consents. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I recall the Airport’s position in regard to the Residential 

chapter was that it was not seeking to take away existing lawful rights 

to undertake for instance development of residential land.  Do you see 

any comparison? 

 35 

MR CHAPMAN:   Absolutely, somewhat unusually I flicked off a copy of the 

University title and I say that the whole of the University land is 

currently being used for University purposes whether by way of a 

transitory person walking across from one building to another or to a 

car park or if they are residing in a building.  The whole space is used 40 

currently for University purposes.  And given the fact that the 50 dBA 

zone dissects the University it is an anathema to the University when it 

does have a master plan to have different rules applying on one side of 

a line than another. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you cover in your submissions how one should 

read policy 6.3.5, sub-clause 4? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I do.  I commented on that quite comprehensively.  I have 

already been through it perhaps in questioning that I think there is the 5 

first part of the rule that there needs to be some effect and I think that is 

what we are all grappling with, it is the elephant in the room that we are 

not able to define a resource management effect. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So looking at it another way; if the evidence does not 10 

demonstrate – and of course it may well be argued the other way 

possibly, it is a matter of argument – but if the argument is available 

that the evidence before the Panel does not mean that you get past the 

first phrase in that policy, do you take issue with Mr Bonis’ reading 

that the words including by avoiding, added another constraint or do 15 

you see that as subordinate to that introductory phrase? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I see it as subordinate.  I think it is trying to further 

elaborate or clarify on the primary purpose set out in sub-clause 4.  So 

once we hear the evidence the relief that the University is seeking is 20 

clearly so that it continue to rebuild without requiring a complicated 

resource management process and I think that there are two ways of 

doing that, either that the Panel accepts that the University is not 

regarded as new development and therefore does not need to provide a 

rule. 25 

 

 The second alternative, which I think I somewhat less satisfactory, is to 

adopt the model that was adopted by Clearwater, to provide an 

exemption as was done for Clearwater. 

 30 

 And lastly I should say that the overriding desire of the University is to 

have a practical decision on whether there is a degree of guardianship 

required by the Airport over the University’s activities, and that is 

going to come down to the facts that you have heard about resource 

management implications arising from the application of a policy. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And presumably in that sense that evidence we are getting 

from planners on this, should be read in light of their foundation in 

particular the technical experts’ evidence and the relative differences, if 

any, between Mr Day and Dr Trevathan? 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  That is correct.  We are yet to hear Dr Trevathan’s evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 45 

MR CHAPMAN:   So we will call him now if that is appropriate. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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<JEREMY TREVATHAN, affirmed [4.35 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [4.35 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:  Dr Trevathan, your full name is Jeremy William Trevathan? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   You have prepared a brief of evidence dated the 17th of 

February 2016 for this hearing? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you have any changes you wish to make to that brief of 

evidence? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No I do not. 15 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would you just please confirm your evidence and answer 

any questions from counsel or the Panel – you may have a highlight 

package which you wish to read first, just briefly. 

 20 

DR TREVATHAN:   The University asked me to consider the addendum to the 

submission of the Christchurch International Airport, which is dated 

17 June 2015, which requests that new sensitive activities are non-

complying within the proportion of the Special Purpose Tertiary Zone 

which falls within the 50 dB LAdn airport noise contour for the 25 

Christchurch International Airport. 

 

 Having reviewed the situation it appears that a portion of the University 

site may at some point in the future be exposed to average noise levels 

of up to 53 dB Ldn during the three spring months of the year when 30 

runway 29 is use, so that is the cross-wind runway, that is the aircraft 

coming in and landing into the nor-west. 

 

 With this level of aircraft noise exposure buildings will need to provide 

a minimum outside to inside noise reduction of 13 decibels to achieve 35 

an internal noise level of 40 dB Ldn which is appropriate even for noise 

sensitive activities such as lecture theatres. 

 

 In my experience the location and inherent design of any noise 

sensitive spaces at the University will ensure that a reduction 40 

considerably higher than this will be achieved even without any 

specific acoustic design relating to aircraft noise ingress.  Even if 

spaces have opening windows, then acceptable internal noise levels 

will still be achieved. 

 45 
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 I note that noise sensitive uses such as outdoor teaching and outdoor 

areas associated with student accommodation or hospitality already 

occur on the University site, and as far as I am aware could be 

undertaken in new locations or intensified as of right.  I also consider 

that the expectation of students for individual acoustic amenity in larger 5 

communal outdoor spaces often provided as a part of student 

accommodation facilities may be lower than for typical detached 

residential situations. 

 

 It is therefore my conclusion that any future development on the 10 

University site is unlikely to realistically have any effect on the 

efficient operation, use, development and appropriate operating of the 

Airport as a result of noise reverse sensitivity effects. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is a model of simplicity and conciseness, Doctor. 15 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard? 

 20 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [4.38 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Good afternoon, Dr Trevathan.  In your evidence and in 

particular section 4, you talk about your long association with the 

University, the activities that occur there and then you give some 25 

assessment on noise effects on new buildings. 

 

 In order to prepare your evidence were you given a full range or list of 

the full range of the activities that the University wishes to carry out? 

 30 

DR TREVATHAN:   No. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So if I told you that CIAL have asked for and have not 

been able to obtain a list that can be produced, that would be consistent 

with the instructions given to you also? 35 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   I have not seen such a list, no. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you know the actual noise levels experienced at the 

University now? 40 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Associated with the aircraft noise? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   From Airport aircraft take-off and landings? 

 45 
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DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, the evidence of Mr Day has discussed the 2014 

levels and it also discussed a three month period in 2015 where there 

was maintenance being undertaken on the main runway, so for that 

three month period the cross-wind runway was the predominant 

runway and during that period levels in fact reached the 53 Ldn depicted 5 

by the contours. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And do you know what part of the University year that 

three months fell in? 

 10 

DR TREVATHAN:   No, I do not. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In section 5.1 of your evidence you say, “I specifically 

considered whether aircraft noise intrusion experienced within future 

UC buildings is likely to have an effect on the efficient operation 15 

et cetera of the Airport” – I take it when you refer to future UC 

buildings it is with the caveat that you have not been given a specific 

list of everything that would be included? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   That is right, yes. 20 

 

  [4.40 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   The words “likely to realistically have an effect on the 

efficient operation, use et cetera of the airport”, where did you get those 25 

words from? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   It is in reference to, so for example paragraph 2.5 of my 

evidence where I state that I understand that policy 6.3.5 of the regional 

policy statement is of relevance. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  So I am just wondering there, given that the words 

you have lifted are exactly from that policy, why you haven’t also 

considered the phrase “noise sensitive” and the definition of noise 

sensitive in the RPS? 35 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   I think the premise of my evidence or the starting point 

from my point of view is that there are noise sensitive activities 

undertaken on the University sites. 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   There are? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  There was a comment made about degree of 45 

difference between you and Mr Day, and Mr Day has asserted in his 
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evidence he agrees with most of what you say but in paragraphs 37, 38 

and 39 of his evidence he has sections where he disagrees with you 

regarding the levels of noise which would be received in the three 

months highest use and in other months of the year.  Are you able to 

explain to me why Mr Day wasn’t cross-examined on those matters? 5 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No, that is not a decision that I make. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Have you discussed paragraphs 37, 38 and 39 with the 

University or counsel for the University? 10 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And can you tell me why you didn’t respond to those 

paragraphs in the summary you have just given, is the reason for that 15 

that you agree with what Mr Day said here? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No, I understood the summary was to be of my evidence, 

not provision of rebuttal but I am happy to respond to those paragraphs 

if there is an opportunity. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So I will give you the opportunity of doing that and in 

particular Mr Day’s conclusion at paragraph 39 that, given his expertise 

and knowledge, “The future intermittent noise levels over the 

University on the days of full runway 29 operation could be as high as 25 

62 and that is a significant noise environment where Miedema research 

suggests 22 percent of the population are highly annoyed”.  So do you 

agree with his assessment that the noise levels on days of full runway 9  

operation can be as high as 62 dBA Ldn? 

 30 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that that is a significant noise environment? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, on those days. 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and that according to Miedema research 22 percent 

of the population are likely to be highly annoyed? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No. 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   You don’t agree with his assessment of the Miedema 

research, is he reading it wrong? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   I believe so, yes. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, well, I let your counsel refer to you on that.  Thank 

you, no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, Mr Daysh? 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, Dr Trevathan, I may have misunderstood your highlights 

package but I thought you said that when the cross-runway was in use 

that was likely to be in the summer months?  The nor’wester. 

 

DR TREVATHAN:  It is spring months I believe. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Spring months? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  So that would be, what, August, September, October? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And when the University would be in full operation given what 25 

you know about University calendars? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, it certainly includes term time at the University. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, and just one last question I have is at your 6.5 you 30 

differentiate expectations of students, wouldn’t students actually need 

quiet study environments to complete what they are there to do and 

given, or first do you agree with that? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   So what are the expectations where they would be different 

from a permanent resident in a detached dwelling? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   So in that paragraph I am discussing student 40 

accommodation, so communal accommodation facilities, and by their 

very nature those facilities have typically individual bedrooms and then 

shared other facilities and in terms of I guess the sound insulation 

inherently provided with that type of layout you are less protected from 

intrusion from other people than in detached dwellings. 45 
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  [4.45 pm] 

 

 So you have a room which you can retreat to and close the door but, as 

I was pointing out there, in terms of, for example the New Zealand 

Building Code, there is no particular level of sound insulation which 5 

you can rely on in terms of complete separation from others. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, so that is how you differentiate the expectations? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, I consider that to be an example of the different 10 

expectations in those settings. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you, that is all I have, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 15 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have got no questions either, thank you, Mr Trevathan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Am I right to understand, doctor, that your opinion is 

premised on your understanding of the frequency of usage of the north 

west runway? 25 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in the future, if technology allows for greater 

frequency of use of the north west runway, you would not necessarily 30 

hold to your conclusions? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, I would insofar as the current operational air noise 

contours depict a level of future use which is what I base my opinions 

on.  If there was a scenario which required those contours to be 35 

revisited that is certainly not something I have contemplated in my 

evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, for instance, if technology allowed for greater 

frequency of use of the north west so that it was no longer in use at 40 

times of just wind direction but say much more frequently used, your 

answer to that would be “Well, in the context of dealing with changing 

the contours the matter would be reconsidered”? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Paragraph 6.6 you refer to the Miedema study and the 

Oudshoorn but nowhere in your evidence do you explicitly set out a 

different opinion on that from Mr Day, that is correct, isn’t it? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   That is right. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Ms Appleyard, any questions 

arising? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Chapman? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [4.47 pm] 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Now, just one in relation to this Miedema study that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And be careful before you go any further. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Pardon me? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Be careful before you go any further that in the 

circumstance where a witness doesn’t lead evidence on this matter, I 

will let you put the question but I may well grant leave for rebuttal 

evidence. 25 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, look I won’t even go there, sir, I will just leave - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are welcome to go there but we also need to maintain 

fairness of process in a situation - - - 30 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I understand, sir.  No, I will leave it as it is, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, it is up to you.  All right, well, thank you very 

much, doctor. 35 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.48 am] 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Millar. 
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<DARYL KENNETH MILLAR, affirmed [4.48 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [4.49 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Your full name is Daryl Kenneth Millar? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   You have prepared a brief of evidence dated 17 February 

2016 for this hearing? 

 

MR MILLAR:   I did. 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you wish to make any changes to that evidence? 

 

MR MILLAR:   No, I do not. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you confirm your evidence? 

 

MR MILLAR:   I do. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Please start by giving your highlights package to the Panel 20 

and then answer any questions? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Thank you.  The University of Canterbury lodged a 

submission opposing the relief sought in the submission of the 

Christchurch International Airport Limited to make noise sensitive 25 

activities a non-complying activity within that part of the Special 

Purpose Tertiary Education zone covered by the 50 dBA contour.  The 

contour passes over the northern half of the east of Ilam campus and a 

small part of the west of Ilam campus as shown in the aerial 

photograph that is attached as appendix 1 to my evidence. 30 

 

  [4.50 pm] 

 

 These areas of the campus contain the most developed parts of the 

University and include the University halls of residence, which is 35 

located on the western part of the campus. 

 

 The Airport Company proposed to insert the additional provision into 

chapter 21.7 despite there not being a policy support for such a rule.  

Given the definition of sensitive activity contained in the proposed 40 

Replacement Plan the suggested provisions would capture almost all of 

the activities permitted within the Special Purpose Zone. 

 

 In my evidence I outlined the permissive and enabling planning 

regimes that have been in place for the University for the last 40 years.  45 

I highlight concerns regarding the implications of the rule in terms of 
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development uncertainty, increased transaction costs and potential 

project delays relating to resource consent processes, and the 

engagement requirements with the Airport Company. 

 

 I highlight concerns about the interpretation and application of the 5 

proposed rule.  I raise concerns as to how this may impact on the 

University and its ability to deliver on its fundamental recovery 

programme.  I reference the evidence of Dr Carr and Ms Hamblin from 

earlier hearings, noting the significance of the earthquake rebuild and 

recovery programme the University will be engaged in over the next 10 10 

years, and the significant effect the earthquake sequence has had on 

student numbers and the University as a whole. 

 

 In referencing the same evidence I note the significant investment in 

infrastructure that the University represents.  In the context of the 15 

above I discuss my view on the lack of alignment with the Canterbury 

earthquake Order in Council, and particularly of objectives 3.3.1 of the 

order enabling recovery, and 3.3.2, clarity of language. 

 

 While my evidence includes an analysis of the relevant aspects of the 20 

Canterbury Regional Policy Statement I focus my discussion on policy 

6.2.5.4.  It is clear that the policy does not provide an automatic 

exemption for the University, and that is accepted.  Whether this is 

intentional is uncertain, although I have provided a commentary around 

that issue. 25 

 

 The policy is intended to only capture new development.  Within this 

context I have considered whether further development, which includes 

facilities and buildings associated with earthquake recovery constitutes 

new development. 30 

 

 In summary, I do not consider that it does for reasons that are 

associated with the lengthy history of the University’s occupation of 

the site, the largely developed nature of the site, albeit recognising the 

recovery programme in place, the nature of past, present and proposed 35 

enabling planning tools, the focus of the planning provisions, which 

effectively represent a site specific boutique zoning regime that can be 

differentiated from the generality of other zones, such as the 

Commercial, Industrial or Rural zones. 

 40 

 Given the above I do not find support in the Regional Policy Statement 

for the Airport proposal.  My evidence also considers the Strategic 

Directions chapter of the plan.  I have outlined my views on objective 

3.3.5, which deals with business and economic prosperity.  Objective 

3.3.11, community facilities and education activities, and have 45 

highlighted an issue with objective 3.3.12. 
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 In short, objective 3.3.12 as currently worded largely reflects policy 

6.3.5.4 of the RPS, noting two key differences.  First, the lack of 

reference to new development, and secondly the inclusion of an 

additional exemption for Clearwater, that does not exist in the RPS. 5 

 

 In my opinion the current wording of the objective lends some support 

for the Airport Company’s position.  Overall, however, given my 

opinion on the RPS interpretation it would be appropriate to amend the 

objective to include a specific exemption for the Special Purpose 10 

Tertiary Education zone at the University, and I have outlined that 

proposal in paragraph 69 of my evidence. 

 

 I note for completeness that my suggested wording only covers the 

University of Canterbury site, and does not include other education 15 

sites that are covered in the Airport Company submission. 

 

  [4.55 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Millar.  Ms Appleyard? 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Good afternoon Mr Millar.  I am just wanting to start with 

paragraph 12 of your evidence, which comes after a discussion of the 

existing campus.  And you state there, “given the definition of 

education activity contained in the proposed Replacement Plan the vast 25 

majority of activity is undertaken under the contour will require 

resource consent as a non-complying activity if CIAL is successful”. 

 

 Is that intended to be evidence that existing activities would become 

non-complying? 30 

 

MR MILLAR:   No, it is not.  It is intended to apply the new activities.  But I 

have gone in my evidence to comment that I think there is some 

difficulty with the wording of the rule as it is currently drafted, in the 

sense that it may be uncertain, if for example, an activity moves from 35 

one location to another location on the campus under the contour, 

whether that constitutes a new activity under the rule. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, I am just wanting to clear up in case there is any 

misunderstanding.  So is there anything at the moment that is 40 

authorised that has not been built? 

 

MR MILLAR:   By authorised, you mean? 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Has a resource consent or any other form of authorisation 

that is in the process of being built.  We have got the existing 

structures.  Is there anything in train at the moment? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Certainly.  There is construction underway for the Regional 5 

Science and Innovation Centre.  The RSIC 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

MR MILLAR:   And also for the Canterbury Engineering the Future Project. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So you referred to the Clearwater exception.  The 

Clearwater exception relates to existing buildings and buildings which 

are authorised but not yet built.  So if I tell you it is not CIAL’s 

intention to turn back the clock on existing activity or existing 15 

authorised activity could we re-word the rule to clear that matter up.  Is 

that something that could be dealt with as a first step? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Are you suggesting - - - 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   I am not suggesting us to deal with whatever your 

submission, I am just dealing with existing uses and things that are in 

train.  Can we clear that matter up?  It is not the Airport’s intention, as 

with Clearwater, to turn back the clock on existing activity or existing 

authorised activity. 25 

 

MR MILLAR:   Authorised by plan rules or authorised by - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Either.  The Clearwater case was plan rules. 

 30 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is the answer?  Would it be a good first step? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Well, the Clearwater example as I understand, it provided for 35 

an additional exemption inserted in 3.3.12 by the Panel’s decision.  

And that provided for permitted activities within the Open Space 3D 

zone - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Ms Appleyard’s reference to permitted under the 40 

Plan. 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes, permitted under the Christchurch City Plan, or activities 

authorised by resource consent. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The second aspect.  Is it a good first step? 
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MR MILLAR:   It is a good first step, however, it does not provide - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, I understand that, I am just trying to deal with putting 

you on the same canvas as the Clearwater exception.  Is that a good 5 

first step? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes it is. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now, you have been involved in a number of 10 

discussions with CIAL representatives and/or Mr Bonis over this issue, 

trying to resolve it, have you not? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes I have. 

 15 

MS APPLEYARD:   And you would accept this Airport at face value, that it 

does not intend at a practical sense to stand in the way of the 

University’s recovery and development, and expedited recovery? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Well, that is the message that we have received, yes. 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  And you are aware that CIAL is prepared to enter 

into a detailed agreement for the University to agree in advance the 

types of activities that would agree/occur on the University?  It has 

indicated it is prepared to do that, has it not? 25 

 

MR MILLAR:   It has, and I have put forward to the Airport Company some 

suggestions around those activities that could be authorised by the 

CIAL - - - 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, now that was my question.  The CIAL would tell us 

that it has difficulty in obtaining from the University a list of the 

activities it wishes to undertake, so that the Airport could say in 

advance whether it would have a problem or not.  Can such a list be 

produced? 35 

 

MR MILLAR:   Well, my discussions with Mr Bonis, and to be fair I thought 

these were occurring on a without prejudice basis, but I will continue - 

- - 

 40 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, I am asking you now, can you produce a list of 

what it is what the University wishes to do so that the Airport can look 

at that? 

 

MR MILLAR:   My discussions with Mr Bonis have been around – well the 45 

proposal I put to Mr Bonis has been around the activities that are 
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authorised by the definition contained within the proposed City Plan.  

Mainly the definition of tertiary education and research activity.  And I 

have specifically given him an example of those kinds of activities. 

 

  [5.00 pm] 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I understand as an example, but is there the ability to 

produce a wish list of what it is that the University wishes to do so that 

CIAL can consider that, because that seems to be the roadblock at the 

moment? 10 

 

MR MILLAR:   I am not sure that I can be more specific than saying teaching 

spaces and all the things that run within that definition. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, what about student accommodation, what about 15 

cafes, what about crèches- - - 

 

MR MILLAR:   I have included the student accommodation in the list that I 

have given to Mr Bonis. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   So was the list that Mr Bonis has complete, is my 

question? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Insofar as it references the definition, yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is the development of such a list a good second step? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Well, sir, I must admit I am confused by what the purpose of 

that would be in the sense that- - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it isn’t? 

 

MR MILLAR:   I was going to go on to say that if the purpose of that list is for 

the Airport Company to come back and say, “Yes, we would agree- - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you are before Panel.  The Airport Company is a 

party, your client is a party and we are the Panel.  So is it a good 

second step for us to see such a list? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes, it would, sir. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Just a practical question: has the University got a 

development plan, has it got a proposal that the Airport can consider? 

 

MR MILLAR:   There is a master plan that is in – it is a work in progress, and 45 

like all master plans it is an iterative process.  I have seen a high level 
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presentation of the master plan that has been presented to the 

University Council but I am not – I have not participated in the 

preparation of that plan. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Is there any reason why that cannot be provided to the 5 

airport so that they can understand what your exception relates to? 

 

MR MILLAR:   I am not sure I can answer that question because I am not in a 

position to authorise that. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   And would a good third step be an agreement from the 

airport to look at proposals and turn them round within a defined 

timeframe that would not impact on a recovery programme? 

 

MR MILLAR:   In the absence of granting the relief that I have recommended 15 

in my evidence, then the answer to that is yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that would not necessarily need to be dealt with on a 

project by project, building by building basis, would it? 

 20 

MR MILLAR:   A global approval from the Airport Company would be 

helpful. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   It is your understanding isn’t it, that the reason the airport 

is concerned is not about preventing recovery of the University, it is 25 

about consistency with the policy and how that might be interpreted by 

other parties with development aspirations? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes, I do understand that. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   Were you here the other day where there was cross-

examination, I think it was of Ms Dixon and Mr Lawry got up very 

quickly and said if that interpretation is correct, it applies to me also? 

 

MR MILLAR:   I am not sure that I was present for that - - - 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   But the argument around the interpretation of the first 

part of the policy, he could see no differentiation between the 

University and himself? 

 40 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So given that the policy refers to noise sensitive activities 

and education activities and you are able to say you can bring evidence 

to show why that one development would not cause impacts on the 45 

airport in terms of its efficiency; why would not a single house or a 
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single preschool run by Mr Lawry, be able to come up with the same 

evidence and fulfil the same test on a resource consent application? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Well, it is difficult for me to consider the circumstances on 

any particular case outside of the University campus because I am only 5 

familiar with the detail of the University operations.  But there is a 

possibility that someone might try and run the same argument, yes, I 

agree. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, well one additional preschool or one additional 10 

dwelling is not going to cause the airport to have a curfew, is it? 

 

MR MILLAR:   That is unlikely, I suspect. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I just want to ask you about your interpretation of the 15 

policy and if we could just bring it up. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is 6.3.5. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   We have had some discussion around this today.  Would 20 

you agree with me that the first part of the clause is not airport specific? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Clause 4? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 25 

 

MR MILLAR:   Correct. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And the words that begin including “specific”; specific to 

the airport? 30 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 

 

  [5.05 pm] 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you agree with Mr Chapman’s submissions, that the 

phrase including is subordinate or as a better way to put it, that the 

including phrase is specific in terms of the general? 

 

MR MILLAR:   I can see two interpretations with this policy, the first being 40 

that the phrase “including by” is a mandatory requirement that applies 

no matter whether or not you can demonstrate that there is not an 

impact on the efficient use and operation. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And it is very specifically related to an airport? 45 
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MR MILLAR:   Yes.  The second interpretation is one where effectively you 

put a full stop after the word “infrastructure”, if you can demonstrate 

that there is not an adverse effect. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, but there is no full stop after that? 5 

 

MR MILLAR:   There is no full stop and that is why I say I can see two 

interpretations. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And the word “including” is there? 10 

 

MR MILLAR:   The phrase “including by” is troublesome. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, I have no further questions. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Appleyard.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Can we look at your appendix 1 please, on the screen, and the 

reason for doing this is that the figure at the back of your evidence is a 

bit hazy. 20 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, so is it the area – see the blue line which is the 50 dB 

line? 25 

 

MR MILLAR:   Correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So it is the area at the top of the campus that is affected, is that 

right? 30 

 

MR MILLAR:   That is correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And the balance of the campus, there is about the same amount 

of land underneath that contour? 35 

 

MR MILLAR:   That is correct, there is land to the south of the contour that is 

zoned Special Purpose Tertiary Education - - - 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 40 

 

MR MILLAR:   - - -and then to the west of Ilam Road we have Ilam Fields, the 

Staff Club then accommodation and then the Dovedale Campus which 

is the former Teachers College campus is further to the west. 

 45 

MR DAYSH:   Outside of this? 
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MR MILLAR:   Correct, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And that is not within the contour? 

 5 

MR MILLAR:   No. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, that really helps me.  I just have two questions for 

you, the first one is about your policy interpretation of the new 

development, I am looking at paragraph 40. 10 

 

 If I understand your thesis, you are suggesting that new development, 

that term does not really apply to what is currently going on at the 

campus or might go on in the future.  Is that correct? 

 15 

MR MILLAR:   I considered that there are two matters that need to be 

considered to answer the question as to whether what occurs at the 

University is new development in the context of that policy, and the 

first set of issues is around whether there is a specific set of 

circumstances that are present here that are not present in other zones 20 

that are covered by the contour. 

 

 And so in considering that, I have identified that looking at the Special 

Purpose Tertiary Education Zone; it is spatially confined, it is purpose 

designed and it has got a set of enabling rules and that in that context, it 25 

is targeted at a specific land use activity, it is there for a single purpose 

contained within the urban area of Christchurch. 

 

 And I think that separates it from the balance of other zones, and by 

that I mean, for example, the Commercial, Industrial, Residential zones 30 

and the Residential zones they provide for a range of residential 

activities, but also provide for a broad range of non-residential 

activities.  And I have made a list, for example, including education, 

preschool activities, healthcare facilities, vets, places of assembly, 

corrections and welfare facilities and emergency services, in other 35 

words, there is a broad range of these activities. 

 

 The other part of it is that the University campus is largely developed, 

yes, there will be new buildings and new facilities that will develop 

over time, but for the most part, the next five to 10 years, will see 40 

buildings and activities involved with earthquake recovery. 
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  [5.10 pm] 

 

 Thirdly, there has been a history of planning provisions that affect the 

site that have remained largely unchanged over time.  So for example if 

we go back to the second review of the City Plan and it was notified in 5 

94 or 95, those provisions, the cultural 4 zone provisions affecting this 

site, are largely replicated in the Special Purpose Tertiary Education 

provisions that exist in the proposed plan provisions.  So there is a 

lengthy history of this development occurring on this site. 

 10 

 The other way that I have looked at this issue is, just what is the 

purpose of policy 6.3.5.4? And I must admit I have stared at this policy 

for quite some time, but my - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Maybe you have to look for longer. 15 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes, my high level sort of view of what this policy is about, is 

that if you take a step backwards and look at this particular policy, it is 

interesting that this is the only policy in Chapter 6 as far as I can see 

that uses the phrase “new development”, it does not appear in any other 20 

particular policy or objective within Chapter 6. 

 

 So within that context, a high level sort of examination of what this 

policy is about, suggests to me that it is about achieving outcomes that 

ensure new development is appropriately located, that it is serviced by 25 

infrastructure in the right sequence and that it does not have adverse or 

reverse sensitivity effects on the strategic infrastructure. 

 

 Now when you mash those two things together, what this suggests to 

me is that, the policy is not really targeted at the university, which has 30 

been there for such a long time under an enabling planning regime and 

it is confined to a discreet set of land uses. 

 

 Now the wording does not reflect that I have to say, and that is the 

problem. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Millar, just try to be a bit more economical in your 

answers please. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so just following on from that, the second example, you 40 

see the ongoing development within the life of this plan, five or 10 

years, be more in the realm of earthquake recovery, rebuilds, upgrades, 

sort of encompass enhancement, is that - - -  

 

MR MILLAR:   That is correct and - - -  45 
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MR DAYSH:   - - - the thesis of what you are - - -  

 

MR MILLAR:   - - - and that is the evidence of both Dr Carr and 

Ms Alex Hanlon that was given in earlier hearings. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Right.  My last question is about this exception that you think 

could be applied, and you talk about that in your paragraph 69 I think, 

the Clearwater exception? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   Would not that, if there was an exception appropriately crafted, 

would that not be clearer for everyone using the plan rather than not 

having the exception and having the contour on the plan? 

 15 

MR MILLAR:   Sorry, could you repeat that question? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Would a clear exception not be clearer for everyone concerned 

rather than having the contour on the plan, the policy and the RPS – 

would you prefer to see that rather than not see it, an exception for the 20 

university in a similar way? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Are you suggesting an alternate approach is not to have the 

contour - - -  

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you rephrase it please, Mr Daysh, I do not know what 

you mean. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Sorry.  So my understanding is that there is a proposition that 

you could add another exception to the strategic directions - - -  30 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - chapter for the university, would you prefer to see that 

exception or not? 35 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes, I would prefer to see the exception, but I am still 

somewhat – are you suggesting alternate approach is not to have the 

contour? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, he is not suggesting anything he just wants your 

answer. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 45 

MR MILLAR:   Thank you. 
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MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you that is all I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Daysh.  Ms Huria? 

 5 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question Mr Millar, in the cultural 5 zone or 10 

whatever zone it is that is in the operative Plan; other permitted 

activities provided for in that zone much the same, if not exactly the 

same, as the permitted activities in the Special Purpose zone? 

 

MR MILLAR:   The one exception to that would be that in the specific Purpose 15 

Tertiary Education zone provisions there is a permitted activity rule 

allowing community uses of existing facilities, that does not exist in 

cultural 4 zone provisions. 

 

  [5.15 pm] 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, but otherwise the range for - - -  

 

MR MILLAR:   Definitions the same. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   - - - permitted activities - - -  

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes, there are some variations on rules around development 

standards, site coverage, height, setback, there have been some 

manipulation of those, but they are roughly the same. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but the range of activities for go ahead on the zone, as a 

right, apart from the community activities. 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, thank you very much, that is all. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Millar, just one set of question I think, 

and obviously subject to what your client and Ms Appleyard’s client 40 

may think on this as well – and in principle, do you think it would be of 

assistance for working through these issues, to do a few things, number 

one, take account of the evidence on the transcript and the written 

statements of both foundation, noise experts, your clients and the 

airports clients, in accordance with the code of conduct and witness 45 

conferencing with Mr Bonis and Ms Dixon? 
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MR MILLAR:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Number two, in that process, attempt to elicit a common 

position amongst the planners on what types of university activity 5 

could be undertaken safely within the parameters of those experts 

opinions? 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Any questions arising, 

Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising, Mr Chapman or re-examination? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you very much, Mr Millar, that was 20 

very helpful, just on that last matter, it just seems to me that it is an 

obvious area which would warrant some further discussion, do parties 

agree? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 25 

 

MR MILLAR:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, but - - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   But the practical problem is we just need to understand 

what is, that is really the nub of the problem. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   That is really the nub of the problem, and if there are 

some plans we can deal with confidentiality, we just need to actually 

see what is proposed - - -  40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   - - - that is really the stumbling block. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Chapman? 
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MR CHAPMAN:   I am less certain of the position - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MR CHAPMAN:   - - - we have discussions since we have put this out in the 

room this afternoon about the discussions that have gone on.  The 

question is about, for example student accommodation and we say yes 

it is on - - -  

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   - - - the list, and the question comes back, “Well we want a 

limit on it”, and it is those sort of issues that become highly - - -  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, can I say this to you – all right. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   - - - problematic from the university’s perspective for a - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just if I can unlock this a bit further perhaps for you – 20 

thanks very much Mr Millar, you are free to go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.18 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The construct I am putting is not the same as the construct 25 

you have been under.  In other words, the construct here is not one in 

which two parties are attempting to negotiate a commercial position 

with some difficulty and for the reasons you have described and the 

other reason that have come out in evidence. 

 30 

 It is purely to ensure that we are well informed, for instance, the 

propositions that I have been floating do not necessarily represent my 

view at all, they just simply to test the different propositions that the 

parties and ourselves should think on, and one is this; if the expert 

evidence informs and assists the planners to determine that different 35 

activities are completely non-contentious and non-issues, if you like, no 

resource management issue here based on the evidence, that that may 

be of assistance, in other words, there has been discussions around an 

activity class that might be akin to the Clearwater one – we will leave 

that for the parties to consider. 40 

 

 There is another discussion around activities that the Airport might 

have no difficulty in principle with, presumably if we say, “Well on the 

expert evidence do the parties have a common position that at least a 

number of activities there are no problems with”, you may or may not 45 
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be able to assist us in submissions on whether or not there is a resource 

management issue that is alive. 

 

 And so it is not the same thing as trying to do a deal, it is an order to 

inform us through an expert statement that we would hope to come 5 

back on a joint basis as to whether there has been any further 

movement by the experts, under the code of conduct, on those matters. 

 

 So my view would be that, that they would have a sufficient basis for 

doing that on the basis of the evidence before the Panel, including the 10 

transcript evidence on this topic – I do not imagine there is too much by 

way of technical or other assistance required by those experts in order 

to fulfil their role, unlike the position on the engine noise issue, do you 

take issue with that? 

 15 

  [5.20 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, I do not take any position on that - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And obviously your position would be - - -  20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   - - - and not identification. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and just to be clear and fully so that you understand, 

it would be on the basis that we received the best evidence in order for 25 

us to evaluate and rely on submissions from parties and obviously 

questions of how one interprets Regional Policy Statements are a mixed 

question of law and planning but clearly it is in everyone’s interest to 

try and work through their differences before they leave their cases 

based on legal interpretation. 30 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I simply say, sir, also that the university is in a very 

dynamic state at the moment and trying to articulate precisely the range 

of activities over the 10 years inherently has problems in it. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well let’s see how we go.  I mean clearly an exercise 

of working through what are non-issues to the best of the witnesses’ 

ability may have some qualifiers about those sorts of things in it, but 

that is a matter for them, isn’t it, based on what they know? 

 40 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I would welcome that and we would fully participate in 45 

that and can I say to Mr Chapman is we would not want the University 
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to feel constrained, I used the word “wish list” and if we could see the 

wish list we would be happy to consider it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right.  Mr Laing, is there anything on that? 

 5 

MR LAING:   I do not think I can add very much at this stage, certainly 

Ms Dixon’s available and we will certainly cooperate and just see how 

that process proceeds. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right.  Well we will try to record everything in 10 

one set of directions in the minute, Mr Chapman, you look very 

worried, you do not need to be.  In all honesty we are just simply trying 

to get through a process where it seems parties have tried on their own.  

We can sometimes be of some help.  You can put whatever riders 

around what we receive by way of a joint conferencing statement that 15 

you wish including on all of the evidence that we have got before us.  

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Very good, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  So we have got to Ms Dixon, I think.  I just 20 

might take another five minute recess while that is happening. 

 

ADJOURNED [5.22 pm] 

 

RESUMED [5.33 pm] 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, we are almost at the end of the day. 
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<GLENDA MARGARET DIXON, sworn [5.34 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [5.34 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Last, but not least Ms Dixon.  Your full name is Glenda 

Margaret Dixon? 

 5 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   You have previously provided your qualifications and 

experience. 

 10 

MS DIXON:   I have. 

 

MR LAING:   You have prepared two statements of evidence, your statement 

of evidence-in-chief and rebuttal statement and I would just like you 

now just to ask you to identify the pages that are relevant to this 15 

particular hearing.  I believe it is pages 35 to 50 in one of your 

evidences-in-chief. 

 

MS DIXON:   That is correct. 

 20 

MR LAING:   And also pages nine to 15 of your rebuttal evidence. 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right. 

 

MR LAING:   Are there any corrections that you need to make to those parts of 25 

your evidence? 

 

MS DIXON:   No. 

 

  [5.35 pm] 30 

 

MR LAING:   Can you now confirm that the evidence is true and correct?  Or 

is there something you wanted to raise? 

 

MS DIXON:   I did want to note that I had actually made a correction to 35 

paragraph 11.1 on Friday. 

 

MR LAING:   Right, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just having a little bit of difficulty.  40 

 

 I was getting a bit tripped up on paragraphs versus pages, so 35 to 51. 

 

MR LAING:   So subject to that, do you confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct? 45 
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MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Can you now proceed to your highlights package, please. 

 

MS DIXON:   Thank you.  I believe at this point at this point that there are no 5 

outstanding issues between the Council, the Airport Company and the 

Airways Corporation in regard to runway and protection areas which 

are the obstacle limitation areas on the ground at the end of the airport 

runways. 

 10 

 With regard to airport protection services which are the obstacle 

limitation services in the air protecting the trajectory of aircraft during 

approach to and take off from the airport, I believe that there are no 

longer any issues outstanding between the Council and Transpower as a 

result with further discussion I have had with Transpower. 15 

 

 Ms McLeod and Mr Renton for Transpower have raised an issue with 

an existing intrusion of power pylons into the protection services at the 

runway at 11.29 or far end of the cross runway and you have heard a lot 

about that this afternoon.  It appears that this is only an intrusion into 20 

the Proposed District Plan surfaces by virtue of the fact that these begin 

about 300 metres from the actual threshold of the north west end of the 

cross runway ie from the point of which the runway threshold would be 

if the runway was extended in the future, in other words, this intrusion 

does not create a safety issue at present. 25 

 

 It appears that there could be a real issue with protection surface 

intrusion in the future, however, if the height of the pylons on the 

Transpower 66 kV line heading north from Islington toward the 

Waimakariri River and closest to the western side of the airport has to 30 

be increased, that is the height has to be increased to allow for passing 

over the secondary or remote stop bank for the Waimakariri River and 

that has led to the issue that Ms McLeod has raised about the primacy 

of the National Environmental Standards for Electricity Transmission 

Activities over the District Plan in terms of existing transmission lines. 35 

 

 As Ms McLeod has noted, she, Mr Bonis and myself have now agreed 

the wording of an advice note to be inserted into the District Plan to 

point out that the NSETA prevails over prohibited activity status in this 

situation if that is what is agreed.  40 

 

 I believe that this is all that is necessary to insert into the District Plan 

and any further discussion between Transpower and CIAL in regard to 

matters such as whether or not aeronautical studies are required if there 

is an intrusion of the surfaces is between those two submitters. 45 
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 The third and last issue covered in proposal 6.7 is bird strike risk, the 

Council and CIAL’s proposed rules are now much closer together than 

they have been previously.  The central differences are that Mr Bonis is 

proposing permitted activity status for any storm water management 

systems and other water bodies between 500 square metres and 5 

1,000 square metres within 3K of the airport with associated design 

standards in each case whereas the revised rules attached to my 

evidence only include rules relating to water bodies of any kind over 

1,000 square metres within 3K of the airport since there does not 

appear to be any robust evidence to prove that very small water bodies 10 

increase bird strike risk to a level that would justify a consent regime. 

 

 Mr Bonis is still proposing that bird strike rules cover ponding of over 

100 square metres in excavated areas including quarries which I have 

deleted from the Council’s proposed rules because of enforcement 15 

difficulties amongst other matters and that has not been discussed 

today. 

 

 Thirdly, Mr Bonis has included a restricted discretionary activity rule 

for water bodies over 1,000 square metres out to 8K from the airport 20 

rather from in the 3K which the Council has used. 

 

  [5.40 pm] 

 

 In the absence of clear justification an eight kilometre distance I cannot 25 

support this rule because of the likely costs for developers.  I therefore 

favour the simpler approach of a standard three kilometre rule except 

for landfills.  The use of the closer distance to the Airport is based on 

Dr McClellan’s evidence and therefore I think it is better justified. 

 30 

 Despite these current differences I would be willing to continue 

discussions with the Airport Company to see if an agreed position can 

be reached. 

 

 Lastly, Kim Seaton for the Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust has 35 

now proposed a new set of site-specific rules for the Peacock Springs 

Conservation Area in her rebuttal evidence.  As a general rule I do not 

favour site-specific rules because they bulk up and add complexity to 

the Plan. 

 40 

 The Trust proposes controlled activity status for Peacock Springs only, 

rather than restricted discretionary status as the Council proposes for 

waterbodies exceeding 1,000 square metres and the Trust’s proposal is 

on the basis that they have an existing bird hazard management plan 

and they are a responsible land owner.  I have no doubt that this is the 45 

case but there is still considerable opportunity for the creation of new 
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waterbodies even in the 73 hectare area of the Peacock Springs 

Conservation Area and I was advised by Dr McClellan that there may 

be instances where bird strike risk or an increment in that risk cannot 

be adequately mitigated even with conditions. 

 5 

 Therefore I do not favour controlled activity status for Peacock Springs 

as sought even on a site-specific basis.  I also note that the existing bird 

hazard management plan and the Trust’s existing track record would be 

taken into account when processing any consent applications at 

Peacock Springs. 10 

 

 I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  So Transpower presumably, I think 

Transpower must have notified they did not want to cross-examine.  I 15 

just have not got it off my list here. 

 

 So are you up first, Mr Lawry? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR LAWRY [5.42 pm] 20 

 

MR LAWRY:  Ms Dixon, CIAL are a major development company earning 

more from the role than in its aviation role.  Do you agree that by 

allowing CIAL to dictate to developers, either private or commercial, 

over in this case bird strike plan consents, that CIAL is placed in a 25 

position of power and control over impending development, that is 

inappropriate? 

 

MS DIXON:   The Council’s proposed rules do not place CIAL in a position of 

control. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I suppose, put it another way, if the rules did that, 

would you consider it inappropriate? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I would. 35 

 

MR LAWRY:  Thank you.  The experts conferencing group proposed a 

standing committee be set up that has the Council, CIAL and 

independent experts on it to not only carry out research but to ensure 

independence of consent decisions.  Do you agree that would be a 40 

positive move and if so that it should be funded by CIAL? 

 

MS DIXON:   I think I have explained in my evidence somewhere that I do not 

actually think that that is necessary.  It would also add significant delay 

to any consent process. 45 

 



 Page 745 

  

Ch6: General Rules and Procedures Commenced 11.03.16 

MR LAWRY:   Just going back to the other question, I was indicating that it 

was inappropriate for CIAL to be controlling the consents for the bird 

strike and rather than them be controlling those so they can tell the 

developer no you cannot have it, thereby affecting the development, 

that a more consultative approach with a group set up with independent 5 

individuals and the Council and CIAL, thereby reducing the power for 

them to control the development and make decisions that are 

independent, would that be a better process? 

 

MS DIXON:   I would not put it in quite those words, but Dr McClellan has 10 

said that she thinks that it would be useful to have experts get together 

to provide at least a better set of data on which those consent decisions 

could be based. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  So just getting back to my first question, did you 15 

then think it has actually got value to have a committee paid for by 

CIAL that can do the research, can do the actual on – it is 

understanding the problem, they clearly do not understand at the 

moment – and then if there were consent issues, to be involved in 

creating independency around those issues.  Do you think there is a 20 

value there? 

 

MS DIXON:   There are quite a few questions in there. 

 

  [5.45 pm] 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   So I will go slowly, I am not trying to be tricky here.  I will try 

and explain it to you.  What I am saying is I think you have agreed that 

CIAL should not be making those decisions alone 

 30 

 I think I am trying to say that during the expert conferencing of which 

there has been no talk about this, the expert conferencing, that in fact 

there was an agreement between the parties or that there would be an 

independent group, and the group would consist of CIAL, Council, 

independent bird experts, and the idea of that was to first of all do 35 

research. 

 

 That research would let CIAL understand their problem which they 

clearly do not at the moment, also consenting was the – at that stage of 

the debate there was a huge amount of consents coming in – but now it 40 

has been shrunk down, but if there is consents to be approved, rather 

than CIAL being the sole approver of it thereby controlling 

development, the body that could do those consent approvals and make 

sure there is objectivity in that area, would include the Council, CIAL 

and the group of experts that are involved in that committee. 45 
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 Don’t you think it is a more collaborative, consultative type approach? 

 

MS DIXON:   In principle, the idea of experts providing assistance is a good 

one, but the Council’s proposed rules do not actually provide for that 

sort of pre application stage.  What we are trying to do is simplify the 5 

process and if someone needs to put an application in for the activities 

that we are considering we should be concerned about, then they need 

to provide a bird strike risk assessment with that in the same way as 

you would normally do for an assessment of environmental effects for 

any consent proposal. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry, were you interested in knowing from 

Ms Dixon what she thought about if a resource consent process was 

involved, whether or not it should be notified or non-notified? 

 15 

MR LAWRY:   No, I am talking about the actual bird risk consenting 

documents that have to go in. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, it is just I am trying to help you, because I 

appreciate that you are a lay person and the difficulty I saw with 20 

question, and I am sure Ms Dixon has done her very best to answer, is 

the paradigm, so your paradigm of the joint committee does not fit with 

the resource consent paradigm where the Council makes a decision. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Okay. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   See what I mean, so the airport does not make a decision, 

the Council would make a decision on resource consent.  The question 

might come up as to whether or not parties should be notified of an 

application or whether the Council deals with it without notification.   30 

 

 I do not know whether you are interested in Ms Dixon’s opinion on 

that. 

 

MR LAWRY:   No, I think I might move on, I am feeling out of my depth on 35 

that one. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am just helping. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you.  My point really is, I thought there would be a 40 

value in the collaborative committee, the experts had it, it doesn’t seem 

to be appearing anywhere and no-one is progressing it.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Maybe it is the paradigm problem that I have just 

mentioned. 45 
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MR LAWRY:   I think you are right, I will move on.  Okay, I will move on, sir, 

thank you for your assistance on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 5 

MR LAWRY:    Even though the original proposal has altered, do you agree 

that CIAL cannot provide any quantitative data that links their proposal 

consents to actual reduction of risk? 

 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure that I am the expert; I think that was a question 10 

that perhaps Dr McClellan was better qualified to answer.  On the face 

of it not being a bird strike expert – I am beginning to forget your 

question – I do not think that I have enough information in front of me 

as perhaps, for example, in the role of a consent planner, to understand 

that risk and to know what a proposal might or might not do to increase 15 

that risk. 

 

MR LAWRY:   You are the author of the section 32 report - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but she is not the expert you see that relates to that 20 

risk and she has done her best in saying, I do not have enough 

understanding of that risk to be able to make that judgement which is 

really probably fair enough on that basis. 

 

 Just proceed. 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   If the evidence was that the actual risk had significantly 

reduced, and given the actual lack of evidence that has been presented, 

is there any reason why the actual proposal itself needs to be 

progressed now? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   Can you repeat that question please? 

 

MR LAWRY:   If the evidence was that the actual risk had significantly 

reduced, and you would have heard that this morning that is has, and 35 

given all the lack of evidence that is actually supporting this proposal, 

the complete lack of evidence, is there any – there is no causational link 

as to if you do what you are proposing to do it will reduce any of the 

risk. 

 40 

 Is there any reason why this needs to be progressed now? 
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  [5.50 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon, think about that question in terms of the 

requirements of section 32 benefits, costs, risks. 

 5 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure that we have a full range of evidence that the risk 

is decreased.  I think what Dr McClellan was talking about related 

specifically to the populations of Canada geese, she didn’t go so far as 

to say that the risk has decreased because the population has decreased 

but even if she had of that is only one specific species.  So I don’t know 10 

that we can say what has happened with the risk, I think as you 

mentioned previously we just don’t have enough data on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So given that is your understanding of the risk evidence 

what is your answer to the question about whether the proposal, ie the 15 

rules on bird strike management are appropriate to go ahead into the 

plan or should be rejected, which is effectively I think Mr Lawry’s 

question? 

 

MS DIXON:   I did consider whether or not it was justified under section 32 to 20 

have any rules and at one point I was of the view that perhaps we 

shouldn’t but I think on reflection, and particularly in terms of the, you 

know, high consequences of even a low probability event, I considered 

that it probably was justified so long as we could found the rules that 

we were going to propose on the best evidence we could get at this 25 

point, which obviously was Dr McClellan’s evidence. 

 

MR LAWRY:   So when you reached that decision, bearing in mind the OIC 

requirements to reduce land planning controls, rules and resource 

consents, did you take that into consideration in balancing that out, 30 

basing on the fact that this proposal has virtually no quantitative data at 

all and you have got the OIC - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, so that is your judgement on it.  

 35 

MR LAWRY:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon has applied her own judgement to the same 

material and given you her previous answer. 

 40 

MR LAWRY:   And I am asking - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, stop.  Which was she thought initially no rules were 

justified.  On reflection, having considered that material, the evidence 

that you have formed a judgement on and she has, she has decided on 45 
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balance it is appropriate to have some control in the way she has 

answered that last question.  So bearing that in mind ask a question. 

 

MR LAWRY:   So bearing all your consideration, did you take a consideration 

the OIC requirements? 5 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I did and we have done that throughout the plan.  In this 

particular situation we have also tried to, particularly through the 

Council’s version and the revision, produce quite simple rules. 

 10 

MR LAWRY:   So given that the fact that the or the information that there has 

been a reduction in the risk and given the importance of the OIC rules, 

do you think that is fair, there is a case to reconsider if this needs to go 

forward now? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, she has answered that question, move to the next one. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Okay - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because she has given you the answer on this. 20 

 

MR LAWRY:   That is fine. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And on policy and on her considered view, all of those 

matters you have covered. 25 

 

MR LAWRY:   Okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Lawry.  Ms Limmer? 

 30 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [5.53 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Good evening, Ms Dixon.  I just have one 

general question first to ask you just to help me understand how to 

reconcile the airport rules with your rules in the full marsh proposal and 35 

particularly the airport’s P2 which relates to storm water systems.  And 

what I am trying to understand is whether a storm water system that is 

greater than a thousand square metres is permitted under the airport 

rules but not under the Council ones? 

 40 

MS DIXON:   I am just trying to find the airport rules, sorry, I will be a 

second.   

 

MS LIMMER:   So that is page 61 of Mr Bonis’ evidence.   

 45 

MS DIXON:   So the question was about? 
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MS LIMMER:   So I am trying to understand whether a storm water system of 

more than a thousand square metres would be permitted under the 

Council’s proposal and under the airport’s proposal, or have I got that 

wrong?  I am just trying to understand which is the more restrictive in 5 

that sense? 

 

MS DIXON:   Okay.  The Council’s proposal talks only about new waterbodies 

so that includes both waterbodies such as ponds and storm water basins 

and if they are more than a thousand square metres we have suggested 10 

they be a restricted discretionary activity within three K of the airport. 

 

  [5.55 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  And what I am trying to understand is do you discern a 15 

difference in approach between the Council and the Airport, because 

Mr Bonis’ P2 allows storm water systems, as I understand it, of any 

size, subject to the permitted activity standards? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, subject to those standards. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   So in that respect your proposal for storm water is more 

restrictive than the Airport’s? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, in that respect. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   And the evidence you rely on for that more restrictive position 

is Dr McClellan’s?  

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   And that is despite in your rebuttal evidence taking a quite a 

hard line on Mr Shaw’s evidence being effectively overly 

precautionary and not having sufficient regard to reducing on reliance 

on consent processes? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   I had concerns about drafting a permitted activity rule - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon, you can pause for a minute – and now the 

question. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   The question is, you have relied on Dr McClellans evidence 

despite your rebuttal evidence, and correct me if I am wrong, I 

understood the tenor of that to be critical - - -  

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no that is a premise for the question, but what is the 

question Ms Limmer?  Otherwise Ms Dixon will just say something 

that she is trying to answer but she does not know the question. 

 

MS LIMMER:   The question is despite you considering Mr Shaw’s approach 5 

to be overly precautionary, in light of the requirements of, for example, 

the Statement of Expectations to reduce reliance. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But what is the question?  What is the question?  That is 

the premise, are you asking for her to explain the rationale for that? 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Did you consider Mr Shaw’s approach to be overly 

precautionary and lack consideration for reducing reliance on consent 

processes? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I did. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Turning to the rules in Ms Seaton’s evidence, and just 

focusing on the exception, therefore water covered by aviaries, do you 

accept that is a reasonable exception? 20 

 

MS DIXON:   In the context of a site specific rule, yes.  And even potentially 

in a generic rule.   

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, so for example, if the restricted discretionary rule that 25 

you have about the 1000 square metre threshold, or any rule with a 

threshold size in it, you would agree that an exception for water 

covered by aviaries, would be appropriate? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes.  That is one of the features of Ms Seaton’s rules that I do 30 

agree with.   

 

MS LIMMER:   With respect to the controlled activity rule included in 

Ms Seaton’s evidence you agree that as it is drafted it would only apply 

if a bird hazard management plan were in place? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right, yes.   

 

MS LIMMER:   And would you agree that as a matter of general principle 

where there is confidence adverse effects can be managed by way of 40 

conditions of consent, controlled statuses and more efficient approach 

than restricted discretionary? 

 

MS DIXON:   Where there is confidence that adverse effects can be managed 

by conditions.  That is where I was not necessarily able to make a 45 
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judgement that that would always be the case, based on Dr McClellan’s 

evidence? 

 

MS LIMMER:   You would agree that controlled status, the last conditions, 

which may alter a proposal? 5 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And in this context for example, the size of the new water 

body might be altered? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   I think it would be difficult to actually suggest that the size be 

amended if the applicant did not want to do that, basically have to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was that the question you were asking? 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   The question I was asking - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You did not ask a question. 

 20 

MS LIMMER:   Is whether the size could be altered - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you need to frame the question Ms Limmer 

otherwise, again, we just get a long answer, trying to answer a 

supposed question.  You have to ask a question. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sorry sir, the question that I intended to ask is whether you 

would agree that the size of a water body could be addressed by 

conditions of consent as an example? 

 30 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure that it could be in terms of a proposal put to the 

Council.  Potentially we might be able to suggest that but basically we 

had to approve or not approve based on the proposal put. 

 

  [6.00 pm] 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   So your understanding of what a controlled status allows you 

to do is confined to what an application would propose, for the size of a 

waterbody? 

 40 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I mean generally speaking you would be, in the case of a 

controlled activity, needing to approve it.  You could suggest 

conditions, but generally I am not sure that they would extend to 

substantially changing the proposal. 

 45 
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MS LIMMER:   That is fine, Ms Dixon, I just wanted to understand the basis 

upon which you considered there was control over matters in 

application.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, the question? 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, sorry, sir - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You want to understand the basis as so the question you 

are asking is what? 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   That, that had answered my questions in terms of Ms Dixon’s 

understanding about the ability to impose conditions on a controlled 

activity consent.   

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Ms Dixon, in your summary you have stated that the Trust’s 

controlled activities rule is proposed because there is a bird hazard plan 

in place and because it is a responsible landowner.  You have read the 20 

evidence of Dr Dowding? 

 

MS DIXON:   Quickly, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would accept that the status of Peacock Springs in 25 

terms of the current risk it poses is also a key reason for the suggested 

site-specific rule? 

 

MS DIXON:   The status in terms of the risk that is being suggested to us – I 

did hear Mr Shaw say yesterday that he was not sure that the risk was 30 

as low as was being suggested. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, so perhaps if I can go back to the question first.  You 

would agree from the evidence that you have read from the Trust 

witnesses, Ms Seaton, Dr Dowding particularly, that the status of risk 35 

posed by Peacock Springs right now is a factor they have considered 

and relied on in putting forward the controlled status? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, that is their belief, that the risk is adequately mitigated or 

low enough at this stage. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and you referred to Mr Shaw’s evidence in reliance of the 

fact that is perhaps not the case? 

 

MS DIXON:   I did not intend to imply that.  I meant to state that there would 45 

potentially be different views of what the risk level is. 
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MS LIMMER:   Yes.  And you are aware that Mr Shaw has not been to the 

site? 

 

MS DIXON:   He did say that yesterday, yes. 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you know if Dr McClellan has been to Peacock Springs? 

 

MS DIXON:   I did not actually ask her that directly.  I suspect she has not 

either. 10 

 

MS LIMMER:   Those are all my questions, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Limmer.  Now I may be getting a bit testy 

later in the day but I am just mindful of, and everyone is tired as well 15 

but, yes, just to make sure we keep things efficient, thank you. 

 

 Now, Ms Appleyard? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [6.03 pm] 20 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  I was going to say good afternoon, I think it 

is good evening. 

 

 I just want to pick up on some questions that Ms Limmer just asked 25 

you, Ms Dixon; I take it, it was put to you that the CIAL suggested 

provisions were provisions by Mr Shaw but I take it you would confirm 

that there is a difference between Mr Shaw’s recommendations and the 

provisions put forward by CIAL after application of Mr Bonis’ 

planning judgement? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Is it fair as a summary to say that within three kilometres 

your provisions are actually more restrictive than Mr Bonis’? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   It depends on the activity that you are talking about. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well the example that Ms Limmer gave you that there are 

examples where you have controlled activity status, and Mr Bonis has 40 

striven to come up with a list of permitted activities subject to meeting 

conditions. 

 

MS DIXON:   Where we have controlled activity status for activities such as 

piggeries, or poultry farms et cetera, at C1, he does have permitted 45 

activity status. 
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MS APPLEYARD:   And in those cases of - - -  

 

MR LAING:   I think she should answer the question. 

 5 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry. 

 

MS DIXON:   Within a wider area but only if the standard is met. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and in terms of the Order in Council, there have 10 

been earlier pleas from the Panel for permitted activity status with 

requirements where possible.  Do you accept that it adds certainty to 

have permitted activity status with standards to be met? 

 

  [6.05 pm] 15 

 

MS DIXON:   It would if the standards were sufficiently certain.  I am not sure 

that Mr Bonis’ are, or that they are perhaps a complete set of what 

could be specified as activity standards. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well have you turned your mind to whether they could be 

improved? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   In terms of remaining permitted activities. 

 

MS DIXON:   I am not sure that I could actually guarantee that as I have said 

previously that there would not be an ornithologist’s mind some 

remaining risk that needed to be assessed so that as a permitted activity, 30 

there may be other issues that were not addressed. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   In relation to Peacock Springs, it has been asserted that 

there is an existing management plan.  Have you reviewed that 

management plan? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I have not.  I have just had a quick look at it. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You are aware that it relates to a quarry application, that 

was the genesis of it? 40 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And it relates to 1,100-odd hectares.  Have you seen 

anything specific in it relating to Peacock Springs and bird 45 

management at Peacock Springs, that 73-odd hectares? 
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MS DIXON:   I am not completely familiar with the content of that bird hazard 

management plan but I was party to discussions with Ms Seaton who 

was much more specific about the situation at Peacock Springs and she 

also provided aerial photos of what is there within the 73 hectares. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, here is a lot of specific information come forward at 

this Hearing about Peacock Springs but none of that is reflected in the 

management plan, is it? 

 10 

MS DIXON:   I cannot answer that question because I have not got sufficiently 

familiar with what the management plan covers. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well, I will not ask you.  I will ask Ms Seaton about that.   

 15 

 I am just going to ask you two general questions relating to the RMA 

so, and this first question is the issue of where costs are borne are born, 

so this is at a theoretical level, so we have an existing environment with 

some strategic infrastructure in it? 

 20 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And let’s assume we have a new proponent for a resource 

consent application or a plan change.  It is bread and butter, RMA, is it 

not, that the new proponent takes the existing environment as it finds it 25 

and assesses the change, effectively the effect of its new activity? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Are you aware of any situation where the cost of 30 

assessing effect falls on the existing environment and existing 

infrastructure, in the context of a second-in-time application? 

 

MS DIXON:   You mean the application after the activity that has the issue 

with has reverse sensitivity situation? 35 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   I cannot think of an example off the top of my head.  A slightly 

different situation not about reverse sensitivity would be the situation 40 

with Council’s flood management rules where the Council has actually 

taken on the burden of providing the information to people from its 

flood modelling exercises to provide them with what levels are 

considered appropriate - - - 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   I am not talking about that, I am talking about an existing 

consented activity and a new proponent.  Are you aware of any 

situation where that has occurred? 

 

MS DIXON:   Not that I can think of. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And that may be different from existing strategic 

infrastructure, responsibly dealing with an existing risk where there is, 

existing water bodies for example, where it may be expected the costs 

may fall on the existing strategic infrastructure? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   Are you talking about water bodies that were part of the airport - 

- - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard, just see if I can cut through this, the 

Panel’s assistance on these legal questions will be from counsel. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, okay.  Do you accept that we are – I think you just 20 

said that we are dealing with a risk of low probability and high 

potential impact and we have also got a situation of scientific 

uncertainty? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 25 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   You would accept that one of the roles in what you have 

assessed is the risk of acting and not acting? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I understand your conclusion to be that in the face of 

scientific uncertainty that you err on the side of not acting? 

 

  [6.10 pm] 35 

 

MS DIXON:   I do not think that we are not acting, we are proposing some 

rules. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, beyond the three kilometres. 40 

 

MS DIXON:   Except for the land fill rule. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well - - -  

 45 

MS APPLEYARD:   I can address this in legal submissions as well. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I think so. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Now I understand your evidence, you only support rules 

out to the three kilometres, and so whose evidence are you relying on in 5 

respect of risk beyond eight kilometres and – sorry, at 8 and 13 not 

needing regulation? 

 

MS DIXON:   Dr McClellan’s, I did do some initial research myself about the 

distances in order to be able to consider what our notified provisions 10 

should be, but since then she has provided much more detail about the 

genesis of those distances and whether or not she thinks they were 

robustly supported. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   By data. 15 

 

MS DIXON:   By data and whether or not there is any evidence that they have 

actually decreased risk. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I think I will deal with the rest in legal submission. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks Ms Appleyard. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, all my questions have been asked in cross-examination so 

no questions. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, sir, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thanks, Ms Dixon, have you given any consideration to 

whether there are any activities provided for in the zones, where bird 

strike could be added as an additional matter in the matters of 

assessment for things that would otherwise require a resource consent? 40 

 

MS DIXON:  I think that is actually potentially the effect of some of the 

controlled activity listings anyway, because some of those activities 

already require other consents. 

 45 

 Are you meaning to add them into the zone or else - - -  
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, well I mean putting aside the mechanism for doing that, 

as an alternative that applications that might be made under other 

chapters for a range of other reasons, could also have consideration of 

bird strike risk added to those assessment matters, say if it is a 5 

restricted discretionary for example. 

 

MS DIXON:  Yes, it could, again that sort of comes to what are the activities 

that are, you know considered to be of sufficient risk to justify that. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   But you have not gone back and looked at the zone rules and 

said, “Well these activities are actually already restricted discretionary 

or full discretionary - - -  

 

MS DIXON:   Not in any detail, we did try and focus a controlled activity rule 15 

on obviously activities of concern, some of those activities such as say 

the processing or packing might actually be permitted activities say in 

industrial zones, so yes I was a little bit conscious of what might be in 

those zones but I did not go through them exhaustively as to which 

ones needed to have additional assessment matters attached. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:  So it could be a bit hit and miss where some of them are 

permitted anyway and others might not be, it might not be a 

comprehensive way of addressing that. 

 25 

MS DIXON:   Well, I am reasonably sure that intensive farming already has 

consent requirements and obviously abattoirs and freezing works and 

such like are going to need some sort of consents, so I am not sure that 

- - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Depending on the zoning? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Depending on the zone. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, depending on the zone. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, no I understand that. 

 

MS DIXON:   So essentially the activities that we are talking about probably 

do need other consents. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   There is just one other matter I was going to ask you about, 

and I just want to make sure that I understand where your evidence lies, 

you say that all agreements has been reached about the reaper controls, 

now in your evidence you either say or imply that the reaper controls 45 

extend to the, I think it is the east side of Russley Road onto the mail 
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site, but when I look at the diagram for the reaper controls they seem to 

me to cut off at the actual rules under the reaper provisions, in Chapter 

6 seem to cut off at Russley Road as I anticipated they would. 

 

MS DIXON:   Okay, so there would be some in the diagram in Chapter 6 - - -  5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   - - - as reflective of the existing operative plan as opposed to 

your decision on the designation. 10 

 

  [6.15 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, this is not the designation, this is the reaper rules, 

because as you say there are reaper rules in the mail – well there is a 15 

proposal to have REPA rules in the Industrial Park zone, Memorial 

Avenue, which has been in a separate hearing, it is not this hearing, it is 

not this chapter. 

 

MS DIXON:   Right. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So what is your understanding of the REPA, the runway end 

protection rules that apply in Chapter 6, in accordance with the Plan? 

 

MS DIXON:   I have to check the diagrams in the appendices on that.  I had 25 

assumed that unless, they may not have been amended actually, since - 

- - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well perhaps, could you check that?   

 30 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could you come back maybe through Mr Laing, because I 

would like it to be confirmed that there is no misunderstanding about it, 

because it is in different chapters and different decisions. 35 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  That is all thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  I think for the moment everything I have got 

has been covered off, other than I suppose one broad question, if you 

have the energy for it, Ms Dixon, at this time of the night. 

 

 Leaving aside this, perhaps an exercise that may need to be done on 45 

going through activities and determining whether or not assessment 
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criteria are there for bird strike and so forth, which is an exercise that 

may need to be done.   

 

 But, and we heard a lot about the precautionary principle, which I do 

not tend to traverse with you, from Mr Shaw’s evidence.  But if we 5 

look at something like the activity of new subdivisions putting in storm 

water retention and other things, other arrangements, I wonder whether 

in fact given all the uncertainties associated with the risk we are dealing 

with here, in terms of both cause and effect, that actually it is one of 

those situations where rather than the precautionary approach, a plan 10 

that recognises the capacity to adapt and increase regulation if justified 

later, works; what do you think? 

 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I think there is always the opportunity for, dare I say it, 15 

plan changes in the future and additions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And so if we look at say a subdivision development now, 

and we look at the nature of those designs and the ephemeral nature of 

storm water detention; the fact that one is not designed as optimally 20 

now as it might be in the future, given more information, is not such a 

bad resource management problem, is it? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I do not think it is too bad, I think we have kind of done 

what is perhaps justified well at this point, and if we get further 25 

information that demonstrates that something is else needed to be 

added then we act on that.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am just really interested in those things at the more 

minor end, perhaps leaving aside some of the bigger issues – anyway, 30 

thank you. 

 

 So any questions arising Ms Limmer? 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, thank you sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Lawry? 

 

MR LAWRY:  No. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing? 45 
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MR LAING:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  Well you are free to go. 

 

MS DIXON:   Thank you. 5 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [6.18 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you very much everyone, I know that it has 

imposed on everyone’s ability to cope, and thank you all for your 10 

endurance – Ms Limmer? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Can I just raise one matter, quickly? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes? 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:  I am back in the morning, and I do start the Central City – 

sorry, it is the Sale of Alcohol Act at one o’clock.  The chances of me 

getting my further submissions to the Panel for that chapter by 8.30 in 

the morning, given that I have got to be here by 8.30 in the morning is 20 

– so I know that you are not the Chair of that Panel, but, yeah-. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But what leave are you seeking? 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Well what I was going to aim to do was have my legal 25 

submissions here by the time we start at one o’clock tomorrow rather 

than at- - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you would be in a position to speak to your key points 

at one o’clock? 30 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, and I have actually taken, you will see there is some 

witnesses come out from Pacific Park, so there is only Mr Bonis and 

Mr Giddens to be cross-examined, so I think there is probably more 

room in that timetable tomorrow than looks on the face. 35 

 

 There has also been some progress made on drafting between Pacific 

Park and the Council, so that may deal to some of the cross-

examination time as well.  So I am confident there is more time there 

than appears on the face of it. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well, if we were to grant you leave to simply file 

them in time for the Panel to read them by the next morning following 

that would be okay? 

 45 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, sir. 
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  [6.20 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  So that, I did say by 5.00 pm.  Thank you.  

Sorry, sit down again. Just a reminder for those that have an interest in 5 

that we start, not – I don’t think it is you, Ms Appleyard, it’s- - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   8.30 tomorrow. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I think I’m here for there Issac, that was my problem, I’m 

here for the cross-examination. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, we will have Ms Hill, yes. 15 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   No, I will be here for the- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, I see. 

 20 

MS APPLEYARD:   So that was problem about trying to do two hearings 

tomorrow. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it is pretty horrendous, but we start at 8.30. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 6.20 PM UNTIL 30 

THURSDAY, 17 MARCH 2016 


